

## **Bangor University**

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Trihalomethane Formation in Drinking Water; Impact of Drought, Treatment Wetlands and Methods of Analysis

Ehbair, Abdassalam

Award date: 2017

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

#### General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

## Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

# Trihalomethane Formation in Drinking Water; Impact of Drought, Treatment Wetlands and Methods of Analysis

A thesis submitted to the University of Bangor by:

## Abdassalam Ehbair

In candidature for the degree of:

## PHILOSOPHIAE DOCTOR

**June 2017** 

School of Chemistry University of Bangor Bangor Wales

#### Abstract

In England and Wales, two-thirds of drinking water comes from surface water. Rising dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations in surface waters have been reported in the past few decades, commonly attributed to climate and land use change. Peatlands have historically been drained to create new grazing land and this has been suggested as one of the causes of the rising DOC trend.

The experimental work in this thesis was undertaken in North and West Wales catchments and primarily examines the variations in DOC concentrations and how these are linked with trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) in different field and laboratory settings.

Chapter 2. From July 2012 – Feb 2013 water samples were collected from three contrasting sites in North Wales: Llyn Conwy ("lake") a natural oligotrophic drinking water reservoir, Nant-y-Brwyn ("stream") a natural Stream outside the catchment of the reservoir but analogous to other upland streams within the area and four man-made drainage ditches ("ditches") within the predominately peat catchment of Llyn Conwy. The results of this study demonstrate that the drainage ditches have the potential to contribute more carbon per unit volume of water to the oligotrophic Llyn Conwy than the natural stream feeding into Llyn Conwy (equivalent to Nant-y-Brwyn). Mean DOC values were 6.32 mg/L higher in the drainage ditches when compared to Llyn Conwy. However, there were no statistically significant differences in the propensity to form trihalomethanes between the sites (p>0.05).

Chapter 3: From March 2014 until September 2014 monthly water sampling was performed to compare the effect of drought on a discontinuous peat-accumulating wetland experimental site in mid-Wales, UK. Porewater samplers were installed at both the droughted and control sites. The results demonstrated that peatland exhibited reduced porewater DOC and phenolics concentrations and a shift in quality to lower molecular weight and less aromaticity. The mean DOC concentration of the control being  $14.1 \pm 0.77$  mg/L and the drought being  $11.9 \pm 0.45$  mg/L (F=4.93, p<0.05). Despite this, a significant change in the mean standardised trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) values were not observed (p>0.05).

Chapter 4: Twenty peat cores were collected from two locations in North Wales in June 2013; 10 each from Migneint bog and Cors Erddreiniog fen. The Mignent is the largest blanket bog in North Wales and Cors Erddreiniog is the largest area of fen on the island

ii

of Anglesey. These peat cores were transferred to the laboratory and kept under controlled temperature and levels of water table over a period of 160 days.

The results indicated is that artificially exposing peat cores to a drought treatment reduced DOC concentrations compared to control cores (DOC: mean of all controls (71.68  $\pm$  53.30 mg/L), mean of all droughts (39.69  $\pm$  38.66 mg/L)). The values determined for the correlated THMFP values were mean drought 57.75  $\pm$  20.33 µg CHCl<sub>3</sub>/mg DOC and mean control 54.59  $\pm$  23.63 µg CHCl<sub>3</sub>/mg DOC, but these differences were not significant

Chapter 5: The effect of constructed wetlands on DOC characteristics and THMFP of water sample from Llyn Cefni were measured twice a month from 2014 until March 2015. It was concluded that in the wintertime the constructed wetland is having a positive impact on water quality of the reservoir because it is still sequestering some nitrate and phosphate, but also reducing the DOC concentration of the water flowing into the reservoir by 18% on average.

Chapter 6: In order to investigate the effect of storage of water samples that contain THMs after disinfection treatment, samples were collected from two selected surface waters; Nant-y-Brwyn stream (oligotrophic) and Cefni reservoir (eutrophic) in North Wales, subject to experimental chlorination in the laboratory and then stored at 4°C and at room temperature for an 11 week period. The majority of the weekly measurements of the concentrations of key DBPs showed no statistical differences from the initial week 0 values, regardless of water source types or storage temperatures (p<0.05).

# **Declaration and Consent**

## Details of the Work

I hereby agree to deposit the following item in the digital repository maintained by Bangor University and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University.

Author Name:
Title:
Supervisor/Department:
Funding body (if any):
Qualification /Degree obtained:

This item is a product of my own research endeavours and is covered by the agreement below in which the item is referred to as "the Work". It is identical in content to that deposited in the Library, subject to point 4 below.

## **Non-exclusive Rights**

Rights granted to the digital repository through this agreement are entirely nonexclusive. I am free to publish the Work in its present version or future versions elsewhere.

I agree that Bangor University may electronically store, copy or translate the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. Bangor University is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

## **Bangor University Digital Repository**

I understand that work deposited in the digital repository will be accessible to a wide variety of people and institutions, including automated agents and search engines via the World Wide Web.

I understand that once the Work is deposited, the item and its metadata may be incorporated into public access catalogues or services, national databases of electronic theses and dissertations such as the British Library's EThOS or any service provided by the National

Library of Wales.

I understand that the Work may be made available via the National Library of Wales Online Electronic Theses Service under the declared terms and conditions of use (http://www.llgc.org.uk/index.php?id=4676). I agree that as part of this service the National Library of Wales may electronically store, copy or convert the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. The National Library of Wales is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

## Statement 1:

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless as agreed by the University for approved dual awards.

Signed ..... (candidate)

Date .....

## Statement 2:

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s).

All other sources are acknowledged by footnotes and/or a bibliography.

Signed ..... (candidate)

Date .....

## Statement 3:

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying, for inter-library loan and for electronic storage (subject to any constraints as defined in statement 4), and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed ..... (candidate)

Date .....

**NB:** Candidates on whose behalf a bar on access has been approved by the Academic Registry should use the following version of **Statement 3**:

## Statement 3 (bar):

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying, for inter-library loans and for electronic storage (subject to any constraints as defined in statement 4), after expiry of a bar on access.

Signed ..... (candidate)
Date .....

## Statement 4:

Choose **one** of the following options

- a) I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University and where necessary have gained the required permissions for the use of third party material.
- b) I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University when the approved **bar on access** has been lifted.
- c) I agree to submit my thesis (the Work) electronically via Bangor University's e-submission system, however I **opt-out** of the electronic deposit to the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University, due to lack of permissions for use of third party material.

Options B should only be used if a bar on access has been approved by the University.

## In addition to the above I also agree to the following:

- 1. That I am the author or have the authority of the author(s) to make this agreement and do hereby give Bangor University the right to make available the Work in the way described above.
- 2. That the electronic copy of the Work deposited in the digital repository and covered by this agreement, is identical in content to the paper copy of the Work deposited in the Bangor University Library, subject to point 4 below.
- 3. That I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the Work is original and, to the best of my knowledge, does not breach any laws including those relating to defamation, libel and copyright.
- 4. That I have, in instances where the intellectual property of other authors or copyright holders is included in the Work, and where appropriate, gained explicit permission for the inclusion of that material in the Work, and in the electronic form of the Work as accessed through the open access digital repository, *or* that I have identified and removed that material for which adequate and appropriate permission has not been obtained and which will be inaccessible via the digital repository.
- 5. That Bangor University does not hold any obligation to take legal action on behalf of the Depositor, or other rights holders, in the event of a breach of intellectual property rights, or any other right, in the material deposited.
- 6. That I will indemnify and keep indemnified Bangor University and the National Library of Wales from and against any loss, liability, claim or damage, including without limitation any related legal fees and court costs (on a full indemnity bases), related to any breach by myself of any term of this agreement.

Signature: ..... Date : .....

#### Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank Prof **Chris Freeman** for his support, attention, encouragement and guidance throughout the study period. Thanks to Dr **Loretta Murphy** for all her help and support. Also thanks to Dr **Timothy Jones**, Dr **Rachel Gough**, Dr **David Hughes** and Dr **Christian Dunn**.

Thanks to Chemistry lab technicians **Glynne Evans**, **Gwynfor Davies**, **Nick Welsby**, **Gwynfor** and **Enlli Harper** who have provided, the technical support and training needed for successful scientific research. My special appreciation goes to the Chemistry Department general office for their kind and regular services, thanks go to Dr **Martina Lahmann** as course facilitator and huge thanks goes to Bangor University for accepting me as an MSc and PhD student.

Also thanks to Dr, Juma Al-Dulayymi, School of Chemistry, for his role as personal tutor. Thanks and unlimited appreciation to the members of the committee supervising me in this program (Prof Mike Beckett School of the Chemistry and Dr Nathalie Fenner of the School of Biological Sciences).

Thanks go to the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research and Management of scholarships for giving me a chance to get my PhD degree.

Thanks also to my supervisor Dr **Mahmoud Hwessa** in the Libyan embassy, London for his support and help during the course of my PhD study.

In addition, special thanks to my work place (Higher Institute of Science and Technology, Chemical Engineering Department, Yefren, Libya).

Finally, I would like to express all my gratitude to my parents, my wife, my sons (**Mohammed** & **Mumin**), brothers, sisters, and friends who have helped me during my study time.

## List of Abbreviations

AOM	Algogenic Organic Matter
CW	Constructed Wetland
DBPFP	Disinfection By-products Formation Potential
DBPs	Disinfection By-products
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
DOM	Dissolved Organic Matter
ECD	Electron Capture Detector
ESRI	Environmental Systems Research Institute
GC	Gas Chromatography
GIS	Geographic Information System
НАА	Haloacetic Acid
HSD	Honest Significant Difference
MM	Molecular Mass
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NOM	Natural Organic Matter
NW	North West
NYB	Nant-y-Brwyn
РОМ	Particular Organic Matter
RSW	Raw Surface Water
SE	South East
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SPME	Solid-phase Microextraction
STHMFP <sub>7d</sub>	Standard Trihalomethane Formation Potential 7 days
SUVA	Specific Ultra-Violet Absorbance
тс	Total Carbon

TN	Total Nitrogen
THMFP	Trihalomethane Formation Potential
THMs	Trihalomethanes
тос	Total Organic Matter
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
UV	Ultra-Violet Absorbance
WHO	World Health Organization
WTWs	Water Treatment Works

### Table of contents

Chapter 1: Introduction1
1. Natural Organic Matter1
1.1 Overview1
1.2 Humic and non-humic compounds1
1.3 Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)
1.3.1 Character and structure
1.3.2 Changing Trends in DOC
1.3.3 Allochthonous vs. autochthonous sources5
1.3.4 Phenolic Compounds in DOC
1.4 Carbon Balance
1.4.1 Peatlands
1.4.1.1 Bogs7
1.4.1.2 Fens
1.4.2 Wetlands as carbon reserves7
1.4.3 Decomposition
1.4.4 Human disturbance of peatlands8
1.4.5 Drought and carbon fluxes9
1.5 Potable water treatment9
1.5.1 Potable water treatment and NOM removal9
1.5.2 Trihalomethanes (THMs)10
1.5.3 THM amelioration11
1.5.4 Coagulation and Flocculation Process Fundamentals11
1.5.5 Factors affecting THM formation11
1.5.6 The health risk posed by DBPs12
1.6 Constructed Wetland (CW)13
1.6.1 Eutrophic and oligotrophic waters13
1.7 Scope of study14

1.8 References
Chapter 2: Characteristics of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) exported from drained peat with
respect to disinfection by-product formation24
2.1. Abstract
2.2. Introduction25
2.3. Methods
2.3.1. Study Site
2.3.2. Sampling regime
2.3.3. Laboratory Analyses
2.3.3.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)29
2.3.3.2. Phenolic compounds29
2.3.3.3. UV/visible absorption
2.3.3.4. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)29
2.3.4. Statistical Analysis
2.4. Results
2.5. Discussion
2.6. Conclusions
2.7. References
Chapter 3: Field experiment investigating effects of peatland drought on dissolved organic
carbon (DOC) release and implications for trihalomethane (THM) formation
3.1. Abstract
3.2. Introduction
3.3. Methods
3.3. Methods513.3.1. Study site and experimental treatment51
3.3. Methods513.3.1. Study site and experimental treatment513.3.2. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)51
3.3. Methods513.3.1. Study site and experimental treatment513.3.2. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)513.3.3. Phenolic compounds51
3.3. Methods513.3.1. Study site and experimental treatment513.3.2. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)513.3.3. Phenolic compounds513.3.4. UV/visible absorption52

3.3.6. Statistical analyses	53
3.4. Results	53
3.5. Discussion	56
3.6. Conclusion	58
3.7. References	59
Chapter 4: Laboratory experiment investigating the effects of Peatland Drought on Dis	ssolved
Organic Carbon (DOC) and Trihalomethane (THM) Formation	65
4.1. Abstract	65
4.2. Introduction	66
4.3. Methods	67
4.3.1. Experimental design and study sites	67
4.3.2. Treatment regime	68
4.3.3. Analytical techniques	68
4.3.4. Laboratory Analyses	68
4.3.4.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)	68
4.3.4.2. Phenolic compounds	69
4.3.4.3. UV/visible absorption	69
4.3.4.4. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)	69
4.3.4.5. Statistical analysis	70
4.4. Results	71
4.5. Discussion	80
4.6. Conclusions	81
4.7. References	82
Chapter 5: Impact of constructed wetlands on DOC characteristics and THMFP	84
5.1. Abstract	84
5.2. Introduction	85
5.3. Methods	87
5.3.1. Study site	87

5.3.2. Land use analysis	.88
5.3.3. Sampling regime	.89
5.3.4. Laboratory Analyses	.89
5.3.4.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)	.89
5.3.1.2. Phenolic compounds	.89
5.3.1.3. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)	.89
5.3.5. Statistical analyses	.90
5.4. Results	.90
5.4.1. Land use	.90
5.4.2. Water quality	.92
5.5. Discussion	100
5.6. Conclusion1	100
5.7. References1	102
Chapter 6: Simultaneous analysis of water quality and temperature on t	the
stability of trihalomethanes in water samples during prolonged storage1	104
6.1. Abstract	104
6.2. Introduction	105
6.3. Methods	106
6.3.1. Study site and sampling	106
6.3.2. Laboratory analyses	106
6.3.4. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)	106
6.3.5. Statistical Analysis	107
6.4. Results1	107
6.5. Discussion1	110
6.5.1. Storage effects1	110
6.5.2. Oligotrophic v Eutrophic THMFP1	111
6.6. Conclusions1	112
6.7. References	113

Chapter 7: Final Discussion	116
7.1. Effect of drought conditions on DOC	116
7.1.1. General water chemistry	116
7.1.2. Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) concentrations	117
7.1.3. Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) quality	120
7.1.4. Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP)	121
7.2. Effect of nutrient status on DOC	122
7.3. Impact of thesis findings	125
7.4. Suggestions for future work	125
7.5 FinalConclussion	126
7.6. References:	128

## List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1. Proposed a humic acid building block (adapted from McDonald <i>et al.,</i> 2004)2
Figure 1.2. Structure of glucose (left) and tannic acid (right), examples of simple and complex
organic compounds that exist as dissolved NOM
Figure 1.3. Trends in DOC concentration (mg/L, year) observed in Europe (a) and North America (b) for the period 1990-2004 (Monteith <i>et al.</i> , 2007)5
Figure 1.4: Global peatland distribution (Riccardo Pravettoni, UNEPGRID-Arendal)6
Figure 1.5. The carbon cycle within a wetland (Kayranli et al.,2010)
Figure 1.6. Structure of the example trihalomethane compounds10
Figure 2.1. The location of Llyn Conwy in south eastern Snowdonia. White markers show locations of the six sampling sites28
Figure 2.2 a) time series and b) mean pH of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 2.3 a) time series and b) mean conductivity of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 2.4a) time series and b) mean DOC concentration mg/L of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 2.5a) time series and b) mean SUVA L-mg/mg all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 2.6a) time series and b) mean phenolics concentration mg/L all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are
median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles
Figure 2.7. Mean Trihalomethane Formation Potential for the three contrasting site types for the entire study period
Figure 2.8. DOC v Phenolics for all sampled time points for all six sampling sites

Figure 2.9. DOC v SUVA for all sampled time points for all six sampling sites
Figure 3.1 (left) – Boxplot for pH (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for pH (Error bars are presented as ±SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a * (p<0.05)
Figure.3. 2 (left) – Boxplot for conductivity (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right)– Time series graph for conductivity (Error bars are presented as $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a * (p<0.05)54
Figure 3.3 (left) – Boxplot for DOC (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for DOC (Error bars are presented as ±SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a * (p<0.05)
Figure 3.4 (left) – Boxplot for phenolics (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) –Time series graph for phenolics (Error bars are presented as ±SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a * (p<0.05)
Figure 3.5 (left) – Boxplot for SUVA (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for SUVA (Error bars are presented as $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a * (p<0.05)
Figure 3.6 (left) – Boxplot for CHCl₃ (Diamond symbols indicate mean values)55 Figure 3.7 (right) – Boxplot for % DOC as Phenolics (Diamond symbols indicate mean values)
Figure 3.8 – Boxplot for Soil % water (Diamond symbols indicate mean values)55
Figure 4.1 – Soil water content (%) at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (* = $p$ <0.05, ** = $p$ <0.01, *** = $p$ <0.001)
Figure 4.2 – Soil porewater Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) concentrations at 5 and 20 cm

Figure 4.3 – Soil porewater pH at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced

Figure 5.7 a) time series for nitrate (±SEM) and b) mean nitrate (±SEM) of all study sites for
the period September 2014 to March 201598
Figure 5.8 a) time series for phosphate (±SEM) and b) mean phosphate (±SEM) of all study
sites for the period September 2014 to March 201599
Figure 5.9a) time series for bromide (±SEM) and b) mean bromide (±SEM) of all study
sites for the period September 2014 to March 201599
Figure 5.10a) time series for Chloroform (±SEM) and b) mean Chloroform (±SEM) of all
study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015100
Figure 5.11a) time series for dichlorobromomethane (±SEM) and b) mean
dichlorobromomethane (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March
2015
Figure 5.12a) time series for dibromochloromethane (±SEM) and b) mean
dibromochloromethane (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March
two contrasting water types stored at two different temperatures for a total period of 11
weeks
Figure 6.2. Dichlorobromomethane concentrations following THMFP procedure during
sample storage for two contrasting water types stored at two different temperatures for a
total period of 11 weeks112
Figure 7.1. mean pH of all drought/drainage experimental sites
Figure 7.2. Mean specific conductivity117
Figure 7.3. Mean DOC concentrations of all drought/drainage experimental sites
Figure 7.4. Mean phenolic concentrations of all drought/drainage experimental sites119
Figure 7.5. Mean Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA) concentrations L mg m <sup>-1</sup> of all sites
during study period. Errror bars represent variance in data
Figure 7.6. Mean total THM formation potential concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) of all sites. Error bars
represent variance between data
Figure 7.7. mean pH of all Conwy stream and Cefni site
Figure 7.8. Mean specific conductivity for Conwy stream and Cefni site
Figure 7.9. Mean phenolics concentrations of stream and Cefni experimental sites

Figure 7.10. Mean DOC concentrations of stream and Cefni experimental sites1	24
Figure 7.11. Mean total THM formation potential concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) of stream s	ite
compared to Cefni site. Error bars represent variance between data1	24

Table 2.1. Site identity (ID), type and grid reference location.       28
Table 2.2. Results of one-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measured      parameters.      32
Table 2.3. Results of Tukey HSD post-hoc tests for each level of the Site factor
Table 2.4. Results of Pearson correlation analysis run on all dependent variables
Table 2.S1 – Field sampling dates vs locations for this study – Part 1: July 2012 – Feb 2013,
Part 2 - May 2013 to May 2014 (• indicate samples collected)42
Table 4.1. Result of 4-way ANOVA to determine the effect of Soil type, Treatment, Depth and
Date on several measured parameters77
Table 5.1: Catchment area (km²) of sampled streams at the Cefni Reservoir
Table 5.2. Results of two-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measured
parameters
Table 5.3. Results of Tukey HSD post-hoc tests for each level of the Site factor95
Table 5.4. Results of Pearson correlation analysis run on all dependent variables97
Table 6.1. Water quality of sampling sites.    103
Table 6.2. Average THM concentration over 11 weeks of sample storage for two contrasting
water types and at two storage temperatures
Table 6.3. Results of one-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measuredparameters

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1. Natural Organic Matter

#### 1.1. Overview

Natural organic matter (NOM) is contained within all freshwater ecosystems. It is a mixture of heterogeneous chemicals originating from decaying animal and plant products and its size, composition and characteristics are influenced principally by the Earth's hydrological and carbon cycles (Schnitzer and Khan, 1972; Thurman, 1985; Murray *et al.*, 2004). NOM is mostly in a continual state of decomposition, because heterotrophic microorganisms slowly break it down, altering its chemical properties (Pusch *et al.*, 1998). NOM consists of a diverse pool of organic material, with compounds including low molecular weight short chain carbon compounds, carbohydrates and larger and more complex humic acids. The specific compounds that make up NOM are numerous and its precise nature is poorly understood. NOM is often separated into humic and non-humic compounds.

#### 1.2. Humic and non-humic compounds

Humic compounds are a heterogeneous mix of compounds that together form humus, which is poorly soluble in water due to its overall hydrophobicity, even many of its constituents contain some polar functional groups (Figure 1.1). In addition humic substances are aromatic, high-molecular weight and black-brown in colour. They make up approximately 25–50% of freshwater NOM (Thurman, 1985; Zherebker et al., 2016). The solubility properties of humic compounds at different pH's are not uniform, but there are trends in behaviour which allow sub-division into three sub-classes; humic acids, fulvic acids and humins (McDonald et al., 2004). Humic acid components are not soluble at pH 2 or less but increase in solubility as pH increases. In general, the molecular weight of humic acids in stream water is between 1,500 and 5,000 Da, and between 50,000 and 500,000 in soils, whereas the molecular weights of fulvic acids are lower, ranging between 600 and 1000 Da in stream water and 1000 and 5000 Da in soils (McDonald et al., 2004). Fulvic acids have higher oxygen content than humic acids and exhibit various colours from light yellow to yellow-brown (Kononova et al., 2013; Hope et al., 1994). The fulvic acid component is fully soluble between pH 1 to 14 whereas humins are insoluble in water at all pHs. Both humic and fulvic acids are described as hydrophilic in their natural state due to the strong hydrogen bonding between the molecular structures and water molecules. The major source of humic and fulvic acids is decaying plant material (Fukushima et al., 1996; Kelleher and Andre 2006). The non-humic fraction is primarily consists of polysaccharides, non-polar proteins, and lowmolecular weight, hydrophilic organic acids (Schnitzer and Khan, 1972; Grasso et al., 1990).



Figure 1.1. Proposed a humic acid building block (adapted from McDonald et al., 2004)

A common and basic method to characterise NOM is to filter the freshwater solution through a 0.45  $\mu$ M filter; the NOM retained on the filter is classed as particulate organic matter (POM), the NOM that passes through the filter and remains in solution is dissolved organic matter (DOM) (Thurman, 1985). Several analytical techniques can be employed to characterise NOM, including UV/Visible and fluorescence spectroscopies, resin fractionation, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and time of flight mass spectrometry. Figure 1.2 shows the structure of a complex DOM molecule. Algogenic organic matter (AOM) may be an important non-humic DOC source, arising from passive and active exudation of extracellular organic matter from live algal cells and by intracellular organic matter released by algal cells breakage (Wetzel, 2001).



Figure 1.2. Structure of tannic acid (example of a complex organic compounds that exists as dissolved NOM).

#### 1.3. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

#### 1.3.1. Character and structure

Carbon is the key constituent of NOM; therefore, NOM may frequently categorised as either dissolved or particulate organic carbon (DOC/POC). The analytical techniques used to quantify and characterise organic matter in freshwaters and usually based on measuring the carbon in NOM. DOC is the main form of organic carbon in freshwaters (Jones and Mulholland, 1998), usually making up 90% of total organic carbon. It is derived from the cycling of carbon between the upper lithosphere and the atmosphere. Carbon dioxide gas is taken up from the atmosphere by vegetation during photosynthesis, used to form plant structures during the growing season, transferred to the soil during the autumn as vegetation dies and partly returned to the atmosphere as the organic matter is decomposed. As organic carbon resides in soil it can be transferred to freshwaters during rainfall (allochthonous source) and globally this is generally the dominant source of DOC in rivers, streams and lakes (Wetzel, 2001). It is common to observe strong correlations between lake DOC concentrations and the size of the lake's catchment (Schindler, 1971). DOC is also produced within freshwaters by algae and microorganisms (autochthonous sources). Freshwaters with a high concentration of DOC will usually be coloured brown due to the presence of humic substances, which strongly absorb ultraviolet and visible light.

#### 1.3.2. Changing Trends in DOC

In the United Kingdom, between 1988 and 2000, DOC was reported to have increased by an average of 65% across 22 streams and lakes (Freeman *et al.*, 2001a; Worrall *et al.*, 2003a). A similar rising trend has been measured in Central and Northern Europe and North America (Stoddard *et al.*, 2003; Skjelkvåle *et al.*, 2005; Monteith *et al.*, 2007; Evans *et al.*, 2006; Figure 1.3). The rising DOC trend has been linked to several factors, but the scientific community have yet to reach a consensus on the causes.

Freeman et al. (2001b) linked the trend to the rise in global temperatures between 1970 to 2000, stating the mechanism as being increased microbial activity and labile DOC export from peat soils. During simulations in the laboratory, the extracellular enzyme phenol oxidase activity increased by 36% for every 10°C rise in temperature (Freeman et al., 2004b). Higher temperatures increase microbial and invertebrate decomposition processes in soils, resulting in increased DOC formation (Freeman et al., 2001b; Cole et al., 2002). Changes in hydrological flow regimes and precipitation patterns have also been suggested to cause rising DOC (Hejzlar et al., 2003; Hongve et al., 2004) Drought conditions can also lead to rapid increase in DOC from the catchment transferring into surface waters when rainfall occurs (Evans et al., 2005). In addition, increased DOC production has been associated with a stimulation of plant production due to increased  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere (Freeman et al. 2004a) and a soil microbial response to atmospheric nitrogen deposition (Pregitzer et al., 2004; Findlay, 2005). Increased organic matter solubility is reported to be linked to decreased acidity and ionic strength of soil water (Evans et al., 2006; Monteith et al., 2007). Evans et al. (2012) demonstrated that pH is a key factor controlling the concentration of DOC in soils, and hypothesised that the decline in SO<sub>2</sub> dry deposition observed in many regions of the northern hemisphere over the last two decades is principally responsible for the DOC trend. Thus, these changes may lead to increased DOC export in late summer and autumn (Ritson et al., 2014).





Figure 1.3. Trends in DOC concentration (mg/L, year) observed in Europe (a) and North America (b) for the period 1990-2004 (Monteith *et al.*, 2007).

### **1.3.3.** Allochthonous vs. autochthonous sources

The contribution of DOC to freshwaters from different sources is highly variable on a seasonal basis. Allochthonous DOC inputs are greatest during the late summer/autumn period, at the end of the growing season when vegetation starts to die back and decompose (Holden & Adamson, 2002). Autochthonous DOC production peaks in the summer months, when temperatures and light levels are highest (Manny and Wetzel, 1973). Therefore, freshwater DOC concentrations tend to peak in autumn when the contribution from both sources are high (Royer and David, 2005). Globally, allochthonous sources tend to dominate DOC inputs over autochthonous sources (Manny and Wetzel, 1973). DOC from allochthonous sources is generally in higher molecular weight, more aromatic and absorbs more light than DOC from autochthonous sources (Hedges *et al.*, 1994; Gergel *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.3.4. Phenolic Compounds in DOC

Phenolic compounds are a specific group of organic chemicals common in nature (Ribéreau, 1972). They are characterised by the presence of at least one aromatic ring carrying one or more hydroxyls (Appel, 1993). Phenolic compounds comprise a significant part of freshwater DOC, especially in areas which drain organic soils. Phenolic compound concentrations in water samples can be determined using a colorimetric technique described by Box (1983).

#### 1.4. Carbon Balance

#### 1.4.1. Peatlands

Peatland soils are one of the most important sources of DOC to freshwaters. Peat soils are known to export high concentrations of DOC, because the soil is carbon rich and precipitation tends to be high in areas where peat is found, so there is a continual flush of DOC-rich waters. Figure 1.4 shows the distribution of peatlands globally, with approximately 400 million hectares throughout the world. Peatlands form when the climate and topography result in a high water table; this causes anaerobic conditions in the soil and supresses the decomposition of organic matter. The suppression of decomposition has been attributed to significant lowering of activity of the enzyme phenol oxidase (Freeman *et al.*, 2004b), which requires oxygen to function but this is virtually absent from peat. This leads to a build-up of inhibitory phenolic compounds, such as tannic acid, and these compounds are known to inhibit hydrolase enzymes, the main decomposers of organic matterial in soils. Therefore, organic matter builds up slowly over time such that peatlands may be many metres deep.



Figure 1.4. Global peatland distribution (Riccardo Pravettoni, UNEPGRID-Arendal).

Previous studies have demonstrated the influence peatlands have on DOC concentrations in freshwaters. Dillon and Molot (1997) described how DOC export rates are best modelled by a simple linear function based on the percentage of peat coverage in the catchment. Aitkenhead *et al.* (1999) observed that Scottish rivers with the highest DOC concentrations have extensive peatlands in their catchments. Research by Urban *et al.* (1989) highlighted that the most important variable controlling the DOC yield from a catchment is the proportion of the area occupied by peatlands. The role of peatlands in influencing the DOC concentration of freshwaters is therefore critical, particularly in the temperate regions of the northern hemisphere where most peatlands exist.

There are two contrasting types of peatland; bogs and fens, as defined below:

#### 1.4.1.1. Bogs

Ombrotrophic (entirely rain-fed) or oligotrophic (nutrient-poor) bogs are acidic peatlands with a pH of 4.0 to 4.8, with no significant inflow or outflow of surface water or groundwater, which support acidophilic vegetation, particularly mosses. Bogs are dependent on rainfall for their water and nutrition inputs. They are often dominated by *Sphagnum*, with acidity boosted by the organic acids that form as a result of their decomposition (Warner and Rubec, 1997).

#### 1.4.1.2. Fens

A fen is a minerotrophic, meso- or eutrophic open peatland system that generally receives some drainage from surrounding mineral soils and is often covered by grasses, sedges or reeds (Mitsch and Gosselink, 2000).

#### 1.4.2. Wetlands as carbon reserves

Wetlands store a large proportion of the world's organic carbon. Bridgham *et al.* (2008) estimated that peatlands contain between 329 and 525 x  $10^{15}$  Tg of C. There are a number of carbon reservoirs within wetlands, such as plant biomass carbon, microbial biomass carbon, particulate organic carbon, dissolved organic carbon, carbon dioxide and methane. Figure 1.5 illustrates the carbon cycle within a wetland. Worrall *et al.* (2009) calculated the carbon budget of a 11.4 km<sup>2</sup> peatland catchment in northern England. The study included both fluvial and gaseous carbon fluxes and net ecosystem respiration of CO<sub>2</sub>. During the 13-year period of data collection, the carbon balance averaged 56 g C/km<sup>2</sup>/yr. Scaling up to the whole of the UK; this equates to a national peatland carbon balance of approximately 1.2 Tg ± 0.4 Pg C/year.



Figure 1.5. The carbon cycle within a wetland (Kayranli *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.4.3. Decomposition

Decomposing plant materials are the main source of DOC in surface waters (Thurman, 1985). Peatlands provide a large pool of carbon due to the accumulation of deep layers of peat in wetland environments as a result of low decomposition rates (Mitsch and Gosselink, 2000; Davidson and Janssens, 2006). During the summer DOC accumulates in the peat matrix due to higher rates of decomposition and increased plant production and senescence (Tegen and Dorr, 1996). This DOC is then leached out later during rainfall events. Scott *et al.* (1998) and Clymo (1965) reported that microbial processes are predominantly responsible for decomposition within wetlands. Highest rates of decomposition of organic matter occur in at or near the surface of the wetland where fresh litter is present and there may be more oxygen. The anaerobic conditions lower in the peat profile result in the inhibition of microbial decomposition and the accumulation of organic matter (Gorham, 1991).

#### 1.4.4. Human disturbance of peatlands

Peatlands store huge amounts of carbon but anthropogenic activities are releasing that carbon (Holden *et al.*, 2004; Charman *et al.*, 2013; Swindles *et al.*, 2015). There is growing evidence that the peatlands of North Western Europe, South East Asia and North America are being damaged during drainage and harvesting of peat (Holden *et al.*, 2004; Hooijer *et al.*, 2010, 2012). It also appears that

climate change is a particular risk to UK Peatlands (Gallego-Sala *et al.*, 2010; Li *et al.*, 2016) and these areas are damaged by atmospheric pollution (Smart *et al.*, 2010), peat extraction, drainage for agriculture, over-grazing, wild-fire and construction of buildings (Holden et al.,2006; Davies *et al.*, 2010; Wellock *et al.*, 2011). During the 1940s, vast areas of peat were drained by excavation of ditches that aimed to reduce the water table level and in order to increase the proportion of land suitable for agricultural use (Holden *et al.*, 2006). The excavation of ditches in peatlands leads to changes in ecosystem-level biodiversity, hydrology and carbon sequestration, with some studies reporting an increase in the flux of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (Ramchunder *et al.*, 2012; Parryet *et al.*, 2014). To attempt to reverse these effects, ditch blocking with dams has been widely employed, with the aim to raise the water table and have a positive effect on carbon sequestration (Beadle *et al.*, 2015; Swindles *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.4.5. Drought and carbon fluxes

Climate change is reported to be resulting in an increased risk of drought, which may influence peat carbon stores. Laboratory simulations indicate that drought and the resultant lowering of the water table is likely to increase the release of CO<sub>2</sub> from peat (Fenner and Freeman, 2011; Chen *et al.*, 2012). In some cases, an increase in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions is observed during rewetting (Fenner and Freeman 2011). During drought, oxygen ingress increases the enzymic activity of phenol oxidase leading to a correlated increase in degradation of phenolic compounds. This in turn stimulates hydrolase enzymes which break down organic matter, thereby releasing carbon (Freeman et al., 2001a). As such phenolic compounds are considered key to the storage and release of carbon in peatlands (Freeman *et al.*, 2001a). Climate change may also lead to an increased export of carbon from peatland ecosystems to freshwaters and increased drought events may explain why DOC concentration have been increasing in many northern hemisphere freshwater systems (Worrall, *et al.* 2004b; Evans, *et al.* 2005).

#### 1.5. Potable water treatment

#### 1.5.1. Potable water treatment and NOM removal

The production of clean safe drinking water involves two main stages: reducing the concentration of DOC and adding a disinfectant. DOC is removed to improve the taste, colour and odour of the water (Lambert and Graham, 1995) and to minimise the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs) (Rook, 1974). DOC itself is not harmful to humans, however DBPs resulting from the reaction between DOC and the disinfectant may have several negative effects on human health (Bull *et al.*, 1995; Sketchell *et al.*, 1995; Nieuwenhuijsen *et al.*, 2000; Palacios *et al.*, 2000). In the UK, reservoirs used as sources of drinking water are often located in upland environments, where the catchment soils are

predominantly organic and may leach high concentrations of DOC to surface waters (Tang *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, treatment works in the UK often have to employ several DOC removal processes to ensure the water is sufficiently clean for disinfection. This is commonly the most expensive stage of water treatment (Matilainen *et al.*, 2010). Coagulation is the most frequently used process to remove DOC. It involves the addition of a positively charged Al<sup>3+</sup> (from aluminium sulphate) or Fe<sup>3+</sup> (from ferric chloride) bonds to negatively charged organic matter to form large 'flocs' of material which can be scraped off the water's surface (Matilainen *et al.*, 2010). DOC compounds which are more negatively charged form flocs most easily. See section 1.5.4 for further discussion of coagulation. Other types of DOC removal include rapid gravity filtration and dissolved air flotation. Chlorine is the most frequently used disinfectant globally (Richardson, 2003), however its addition to water containing DOC can result in the formation of a class of DBPs called trihalomethanes (THMs), which are generally the most commonly occurring DBP in chlorinated waters.

#### 1.5.2. Trihalomethanes (THMs)

The most common type of DBPs are trihalomethanes (Figure 1.6). They are simple derivatives of methane formed when three of the hydrogen atoms are replaced by a halogen (Peterson *et al.*, 1993) and include chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) bromodichloromethane (CHCl<sub>2</sub>Br), dibromochloromethane (CHClBr<sub>2</sub>) and bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>).



Figure 1.6. Structure of (left to right) chloroform, bromodichloromethane, dibromochloromethane and bromoform.

These are formed during the reaction between the chlorine the aqueous organic matter (Sketchell *et al.*, 1995). These compounds are collectively termed trihalomethanes and abbreviated as THM or TTHM (for total trihalomethanes). Chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) is the most common of these compounds and the most abundant organohalide in the environment. The formation of THMs that containing bromine are usually lower than chloroform during water treatment. The discovery that chlorinating drinking water produced THMs was made in the 1970s, the higher molecular weight organic compounds such as humic acids, are generally most reactive with chlorine (Oliver and Visser, 1980; Uyguner *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.5.3. THM amelioration

WHO (2005) reported that THMs are carcinogenic. Therefore, water treatment companies work to minimise THM concentration in the water supply. THMs can be controlled using a number of methods including removal of precursors prior to disinfection, removal of THMs themselves prior to water supply to the public, or by reducing their formation using alternative chemical disinfectants or non-chemical disinfection processes (WHO, 2011). The most widely used method, because of cost effectiveness and efficiency is removal of the precursors prior to chlorination (US EPA, 1999). This is discussed in more detail in section 1.5.4. Ozone is an example of alternative chemical disinfectants. Chloramination has also been used to minimise THM formation and is normally used as secondary disinfection stage (DWI, 2010). It is technically possible to remove THMs before disinfected water is part of the general supply, however it is not generally the preferred method. Other techniques for removing THMs include activated UV radiation and carbon filtration-adsorption (WHO, 2011).

#### **1.5.4.** Coagulation and Flocculation Process Fundamentals

Coagulation and flocculation are used principally to remove organic compounds in raw surface waters. These compounds are kept suspended and stabilised in the water column due to their surface charge. There are three mechanisms involved in coagulation: charge neutralization, sweeping and bridging (Li *et al.*, 2006). Charge neutralization refers to the destabilisation of particulates by adding a hydrolysable metal salt, for example aluminium sulphate Al<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>, this then hydrolyses to form cationic species which adsorbed onto the surface of negatively charged compounds. The coagulant is dispersed by mixing the solution. Collision between organic compounds and the coagulant result in the formation of micro-flocs. Further mixing results in the aggregation of micro-flocs to form larger flocs which can be easily removed by sedimentation. Sweep flocculation refers to the use of high concentrations of an amorphous metal hydroxide which precipitates as it falls through the water column, capturing the suspended particles. Particle bridging occurs when a colloidal particle acts as a chemical bridge between two or more coagulant molecules.

#### 1.5.5. Factors affecting THM formation

Final THM concentrations depend on concentration of DOC and chlorine, reaction time, water temperature and pH (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). THM formation is reported to have a positive correlation with temperature (Peters *et al.*, 1980), as evidenced the summer months when higher THM concentrations are observed. There is a demonstrated pH effect on the reaction kinetics of THM

formation (Adin *et al.*, 1991). For a related DBP haloacetic acid (HAA)there is inverse correllation between pH and HAA formation potential (Kim *et al.*, 2003). In addition, there is a positive relationship between contact time and THM concentration. In the UK the minimum period of contact with chlorine is 30 min at pH < 8.0 and residual chlorine must be > 0.5 mg/ L is after that time is required before distribution (WHO, 2011). The reaction between chlorine and DOC also depends on the length of time of water spends in the distribution system. Also greater DOC concentrations in the raw water will lead to greater amounts of DBPs being formed. In addition, DOC type influences THM formation (Liang and Singer, 2003), with humic and fulvic acids generally considered to be the principal precursor to THM formation (Bond *et al.*, 2009). DBPs form either by the oxidation across carbon-carbon double bonds or by substitution reactions (Westerhoff *et al.*, 2004). Derivatives of chloro-bromo DBPs are formed when the bromide ion is present (e.g. bromoform) (Pourmoghaddas *et al.*, 1995). Algogenic organic matter is a particular problem during the treatment of water as it is very difficult to remove increase the level of total organic carbon and hence THM formation (Gough *et al.*, 2015). (Gough *et al.*, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, with DOC concentrations of freshwaters increasing, it will be harder for water companies to minimise the formation of DBPs.

#### 1.5.6. The health risk posed by DBPs

Studies have reported that DBPs pose only a low-magnitude risk in treated water, although these risks must be considered in the context of a lifetime of exposure (Singer, 2006). Humans can be exposed to these compounds either through drinking water (Nazir and Khan, 2006) and bathing (Xu, *et al.*, 2002; Chu and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2002). Exposure to these compounds has been associated with increased risk of cancer (Peterson, *et al.*, 1993; Bull, *et al.*, 1995; Singer, 1999). In 1974, chloroform was identified in chlorinated water supplies (IARC, 1991). Since then a strong relationship has been found between bladder cancer and exposure to THMs. THMs and HAAs have a carcinogenic effect on humans. (Chu and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2002). There is evidence that many of the DBPs found in chlorinated drinking water supplies are toxic to laboratory animals (Nieuwenhuijsen *et al.*, 2000). Women who drank water containing more than 75  $\mu$ g/L THMs had a miscarriage rate of 15.7%, compared to 9.5% for women that drink water containing low THM concentrations (Capece, 1998). The level of DBPs in drinking water (generally between 10 to 100 of  $\mu$ g/L) is considered to pose a carcinogenic risk (Waller, *et al.*, 1998). As a result of such research, guideline maximum THM levels have been set; in USA the maximum limit for THMs in drinking water is 80  $\mu$ g/L (Yoon *et al.*, 2003). In the UK is 100  $\mu$ g/L in UK (DWI, 1998) and in Denmark is just 10-15  $\mu$ g/L (DWI, 2010).

#### 1.6. Constructed Wetland (CW)

A constructed wetland (CW) is an artificial wetland created to clean a source of water. The system uses the natural functions of vegetation, soil, and organisms to remove contaminants from water. Constructed wetlands also work like filtration systems to remove sediments and pollutants such as heavy metals from the water. There are two types of constructed wetlands; free water surface wetlands and subsurface flow wetlands (reference). Free water surface flow wetlands have the water surface exposed to the atmosphere throughout the year and this type of constructed wetlands is anoxic, which inhibits nitrification, while the water close to the surface is where oxygen may be available, in addition to microsites on living plants such as roots and rhizomes. The second type of constructed wetland below the soil surface flow wetland, which is where the water level is completely contained below the soil surface (Díaz *et al.*, 2009).

Wetlands tend to increase the concentrations and change characteristics of DOC (Rostad *et al.*, 2001). Consequently, the impact of constructed wetlands on the potential formation of DBPs an important issue relating to human health, environmental hazards and wetland treatment technology. A relatively small number of studies have examined the impact of constructed wetlands on DOC characteristics and propensity to form DBPs. One of the most comprehensive was that of Rostad *et al.* (2000) who reported significantly higher DBP formation potential (DBPFP) at the outlet of a constructed wetland system compared to the inlet. The reason for this was an increase in the aromatic content of the DOC as it moved through the wetland.

#### 1.6.1. Eutrophic and oligotrophic waters

In the UK, 66% of drinking water comes from surface water such as reservoirs and lakes and 34% comes from groundwater. In lowland reservoirs, eutrophication is a major problem, and can increase the DOC concentration of the water (Nixon, 1995). Eutrophication is characterized by excessive plant and algal growth, which can be due to a stimulation of the factors controlling the rate of photosynthesis (Schindler, 2006), such as sunlight, carbon dioxide concentration, and nutrient fertilizers. Over centuries, eutrophication naturally occurs when lakes fill in with sediments (Carpenter, 1981; Scholz *et al.*, 2016). Human activities such as farming have increased the rate of eutrophication through discharges of nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorus (Carpenter *et al.*, 1998; Marcos *et al.*, 2013). Eutrophication is associated with harmful algal blooms that cause water pollution in aquatic ecosystems (Smith and Schindler, 2009). This can increase the input of autochthonous DOC and increase DBP formation in treated water (Pierson *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.7. Scope of study

The experimental work in this thesis was undertaken in North and West Wales catchments that linked to their WTWs, where DOC concentrations have been increasing. This increasing trend is a concern for WTWs, because of the associated increase in THM levels in the finished water. This research examines the variations in DOC concentration and how these are linked with THMFP in different places and times. The main aims of this thesis are summarised below:

**Chapter 2:** To assess whether man-made drainage ditches are contributing more DOC to Llyn Conwy than natural streams.

**Chapter 3:** To determine whether peatland drought conditions, simulated in the field, change the characteristics of the DOC to make it more or less likely to form DBPs in a water treatment plant.

**Chapter 4:** To determine whether peatland drought conditions, simulated in the laboratory, change the characteristics of the DOC to make it more or less likely to form DBPs in a water treatment plant.

**Chapter 5:** To understand whether a constructed wetland used to remove nutrients from a stream flowing into a eutrophic reservoir affects the quantity and quality of DOC in the stream.

**Chapter 6:** To assess long term stability of trihalomethane compounds in water samples and to test for differences in storage temperature (4°C vs. 25°C) and water type (nutrient poor vs. nutrient rich).

#### **Thesis structure**

Chapter 1: Literature review

**Chapter** 2: Characteristics of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) exported from drained peat with respect to disinfection by-product formation.

**Chapter** 3: Field experiment investigating effects of peatland drought on dissolved organic carbon (DOC) release and implications for trihalomethane (THM) formation.

**Chapter** 4: Laboratory experiment investigating the effects of Peatland Drought on Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) and Trihalomethane (THM) Formation (submitted to 'Scientific Reports').

Chapter 5: Impact of constructed wetlands on DOC characteristics and THMFP.

Chapter 6: Simultaneous analysis of water quality and temperature on the

stability of trihalomethanes in water samples during prolonged storage.

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

Each of the above chapters 2-6 has been prepared in the style of a paper that is suitable for submission to a peer reviewed journal.

#### 1.8. References

Adin, A., Katzhendler, J., Alkaslassy, D. & Rav-Acha, C. 1991, "Trihalomethane formation in chlorinated drinking water: a kinetic model", *Water research*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 797-805.

Aitkenhead, J., Hope, D. & Billett, M. 1999, "The relationship between dissolved organic carbon in stream water and soil organic carbon pools at different spatial scales", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 1289-1302.

Alarcon-Herrera, M., Bewtra, J. & Biswas, N. 1994, "Seasonal variations in humic substances and their reduction through water treatment processes", *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 173-179.

Appel, H.M. 1993, "Phenolics in ecological interactions: the importance of oxidation", *Journal of chemical ecology*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1521-1552.

Beadle, J.M., Brown, L.E. & Holden, J. 2015, "Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in natural bog pools and those created by rewetting schemes", *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 65-84.

Bond, T., Henriet, O., Goslan, E., Parsons, S. & Jefferson, B. 2009, "Disinfection byproduct formation and fractionation behavior of natural organic matter surrogates", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 43, no. 15, pp. 5982-5989.

Box, J. 1983, "Investigation of the Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters", *Water research*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 511-525.

Bridgham, S.D., Pastor, J., Dewey, B., Weltzin, J.F. & Updegraff, K. 2008, "Rapid carbon response of peatlands to climate change", *Ecology*, vol. 89, no. 11, pp. 3041-3048.

Bull, R.J., birnbaum, L., Cantor, K.P., Rose, J.B., Butterworth, B.E., Pegram, R. & Tuomisto, J. 1995, "Water chlorination: essential process or cancer hazard?", *Toxicological Sciences*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 155-166.

Canada Committee on Ecological (Biophysical) Land Classification. National Wetlands Working Group, Warner, B.G. & Rubec, C. 1997, *The Canadian wetland classification system*, Wetlands Research Branch, University of Waterloo.

Capece, J. 2001, "Trihalomethanes and our water supply", *Southern Data Systems*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 35.

Carpenter, S.R. 1981, "Submersed vegetation: an internal factor in lake ecosystem succession", *The American Naturalist*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 372-383.

Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N. & Smith, V.H. 1998, "Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen", *Ecological Applications*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 559-568.

Charman, D., Beilman, D., Blaauw, M., Booth, R., Brewer, S., Chambers, F., Christen, J., Gallego-Sala, A., Harrison, S. & Hughes, P. 2013, *Climate-related changes in peatland carbon accumulation during the last millennium.Biogeosciences 10, 929e944,* .

Chen, Y., Borken, W., Stange, C.F. & Matzner, E. 2012, "Dynamics of nitrogen and carbon mineralization in a fen soil following water table fluctuations", *Wetlands*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 579-587.

Chimner, R.A. & Cooper, D.J. 2003, "Influence of water table levels on CO 2 emissions in a Colorado subalpine fen: an in situ microcosm study", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 345-351.

Chu, H. & Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J. 2002, "Distribution and determinants of trihalomethane concentrations in indoor swimming pools", *Occupational and environmental medicine*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 243-247.

Clymo, R. 1965, "Experiments on breakdown of Sphagnum in two bogs", *The Journal of Ecology*, , pp. 747-758.

Cole, L., Bardgett, R.D., Ineson, P. & Adamson, J.K. 2002, "Relationships between enchytraeid worms (Oligochaeta), climate change, and the release of dissolved organic carbon from blanket peat in northern England", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 599-607.

Collins, M.R., Amy, G.L. & Steelink, C. 1986, "Molecular weight distribution, carboxylic acidity, and humic substances content of aquatic organic matter: implications for removal during water treatment", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 1028-1032.

Davidson, E.A. & Janssens, I.A. 2006, "Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change", *Nature*, vol. 440, no. 7081, pp. 165-173.

Davies, M.G., Gray, A., Hamilton, A. & Legg, C.J. 2008, "The future of fire management in the British uplands", *The International Journal of Biodiversity Science and Management*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 127-147.

Díaz, F.J., Chow, A.T., O'Geen, A.T., Dahlgren, R.A. & Wong, P. 2009, "Effect of constructed wetlands receiving agricultural return flows on disinfection byproduct precursors", *Water research*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2750-2760.

Dillon, P.J. & Molot, L.A. 1997, "Dissolved organic and inorganic carbon mass balances in central Ontario lakes", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 29-42.

Edition, F. 2011, "Guidelines for drinking-water quality", WHO chronicle, vol. 38, pp. 104-108.

EPA, U. 1999, "Enhanced coagulation and enhanced precipitative softening guidance manual", *Disinfectants and disinfection byproducts rule (DBPR)*.

Evans, C., Monteith, D. & Cooper, D. 2005, "Long-term increases in surface water dissolved organic carbon: observations, possible causes and environmental impacts", *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 55-71.

Evans, C.D., Jones, T.G., Burden, A., Ostle, N., Zieliński, P., Cooper, M.D., Peacock, M., Clark, J.M., Oulehle, F. & Cooper, D. 2012, "Acidity controls on dissolved organic carbon mobility in organic soils", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 3317-3331.

Evans, C.D., Chapman, P.J., Clark, J.M., Monteith, D.T. & Cresser, M.S. 2006, "Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 2044-2053.
Fenner, N. & Freeman, C. 2011, "Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands", *Nature geoscience*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 895-900.

Findlay, S.E. 2005, "Increased carbon transport in the Hudson River: unexpected consequence of nitrogen deposition?", *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 133-137.

Freeman, C., Evans, C., Monteith, D., Reynolds, B. & Fenner, N. 2001, "Export of organic carbon from peat soils", *Nature*, vol. 412, no. 6849, pp. 785-785.

Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Ostle, N., Kang, H., Dowrick, D., Reynolds, B., Lock, M., Sleep, D., Hughes, S. & Hudson, J. 2004a, "Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels", *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 6996, pp. 195-198.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N., Fenner, N. & Kang, H. 2004, "A regulatory role for phenol oxidase during decomposition in peatlands", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1663-1667.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N. & Kang, H. 2001, "An enzymic'latch'on a global carbon store", *Nature*, vol. 409, no. 6817, pp. 149-149.

Fukushima, T., Park, J., Imai, A. & Matsushige, K. 1996, "Dissolved organic carbon in a eutrophic lake; dynamics, biodegradability and origin", *Aquatic Sciences*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 139-157.

Gallego-Sala, A.V., Clark, J.M., House, J.I., Orr, H.G., Prentice, I.C., Smith, P., Farewell, T. & Chapman, S.J. 2010, "Bioclimatic envelope model of climate change impacts on blanket peatland distribution in Great Britain", .

Gergel, S.E., Turner, M.G. & Kratz, T.K. 1999, "Dissolved organic carbon as an indicator of the scale of watershed influence on lakes and rivers", *Ecological Applications*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 1377-1390.

Gorham, E. 1991, "Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming", *Ecological Applications*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 182-195.

Goslan, E.H., Fearing, D.A., Banks, J., Wilson, D., Hills, P., Campbell, A.T. & Parsons, S.A. 2002, "Seasonal variations in the disinfection by-product precursor profile of a reservoir water", *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 475-482.

Gough, R., Holliman, P.J., Cooke, G.M. & Freeman, C. 2015, "Characterisation of algogenic organic matter during an algal bloom and its implications for trihalomethane formation", *Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology*, vol. 6, pp. 11-19.

Grasso, D., Chin, Y. & Weber, W.J. 1990, "Structural and behavioral characteristics of a commercial humic acid and natural dissolved aquatic organic matter", *Chemosphere*, vol. 21, no. 10-11, pp. 1181-1197.

Hedges, J.I., Cowie, G.L., Richey, J.E., Quay, P.D., Benner, R., Strom, M. & Forsberg, B.R. 1994, "Origins and processing of organic matter in the Amazon River as indicated by carbohydrates and amino acids", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 743-761.

Holden, J., Chapman, P. & Labadz, J. 2004, "Artificial drainage of peatlands: hydrological and hydrochemical process and wetland restoration", *Progress in Physical Geography*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 95-123.

Holden, J., Evans, M., Burt, T. & Horton, M. 2006, "Impact of land drainage on peatland hydrology", *Journal of environmental quality*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 1764-1778.

Hongve, D., Riise, G. & Kristiansen, J.F. 2004, "Increased colour and organic acid concentrations in Norwegian forest lakes and drinking water–a result of increased precipitation?", *Aquatic Sciences*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 231-238.

Hooijer, A., Page, S., Jauhiainen, J., Lee, W., Lu, X., Idris, A. & Anshari, G. 2012, "Subsidence and carbon loss in drained tropical peatlands", *Biogeosciences*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1053.

Hooijer, A., Page, S., Canadell, J., Silvius, M., Kwadijk, J., Wösten, H. & Jauhiainen, J. 2010, "Current and future CO2 emissions from drained peatlands in Southeast Asia", *Biogeosciences*, vol. 7, pp. 1505-1514.

Hope, D., Billett, M. & Cresser, M. 1994, "A review of the export of carbon in river water: fluxes and processes", *Environmental pollution*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 301-324.

Inspectorate, D.W. 1998, "New drinking water regulations in the UK.

International Agency for Research on Cancer "Chlorinated Drinking-water; Chlorination By-products; Some Other Halogenated Compounds; Cobalt and Cobalt Compounds Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans IARC, 1991", .

Jones, J.B. & Mulholland, P.J. 1998, "Methane input and evasion in a hardwood forest stream: effects of subsurface flow from shallow and deep pathways", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1243-1250.

Kayranli, B., Scholz, M., Mustafa, A. & Hedmark, Å. 2010, "Carbon storage and fluxes within freshwater wetlands: a critical review", *Wetlands*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 111-124.

Kelleher, B.P. & Simpson, A.J. 2006, "Humic substances in soils: are they really chemically distinct?", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 40, no. 15, pp. 4605-4611.

Kim, J., Chung, Y., Shin, D., Kim, M., Lee, Y., Lim, Y. & Lee, D. 2003, "Chlorination by-products in surface water treatment process", *Desalination*, vol. 151, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Kononova, M.M. 2013, Soil organic matter: Its nature, its role in soil formation and in soil fertility, Elsevier.

Lambert, S. & Graham, N. 1995, "Removal of non-specific dissolved organic matter from upland potable water supplies—I. Adsorption", *Water research*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 2421-2426.

Li, L., Gao, N., Deng, Y., Yao, J. & Zhang, K. 2012, "Characterization of intracellular & extracellular algae organic matters (AOM) of Microcystic aeruginosa and formation of AOM-associated disinfection byproducts and odor & taste compounds", *Water research*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 1233-1240.

Li, P., Holden, J. & Irvine, B. 2016, "Prediction of blanket peat erosion across Great Britain under environmental change", *Climatic Change*, vol. 134, no. 1-2, pp. 177-191.

Li, T., Zhu, Z., Wang, D., Yao, C. & Tang, H. 2006, "Characterization of floc size, strength and structure under various coagulation mechanisms", *Powder Technology*, vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 104-110.

Liang, L. & Singer, P.C. 2003, "Factors influencing the formation and relative distribution of haloacetic acids and trihalomethanes in drinking water", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 37, no. 13, pp. 2920-2928.

Manny, B. & Wetzel, R. 1973, "Diurnal changes in dissolved organic and inorganic carbon and nitrogen in a hardwater stream", *Freshwater Biology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 31-43.

Matilainen, A., Vepsäläinen, M. & Sillanpää, M. 2010, "Natural organic matter removal by coagulation during drinking water treatment: a review", *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 159, no. 2, pp. 189-197.

Marcos, C., Joseline, M., José, L., Etham B.2013"Eutrophication of Lakes" Springer Netherlands.pp 55-71 (<u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-94-007-7814-6\_5</u>)

McDonald, S., Bishop, A.G., Prenzler, P.D. & Robards, K. 2004, "Analytical chemistry of freshwater humic substances", *Analytica Chimica Acta*, vol. 527, no. 2, pp. 105-124.

Mitsch, W.J. & Gosselink, J.G. 2000, "The value of wetlands: importance of scale and landscape setting", *Ecological Economics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 25-33.

Monteith, D.T., Stoddard, J.L., Evans, C.D., De Wit, H.A., Forsius, M., Høgåsen, T., Wilander, A., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Jeffries, D.S. & Vuorenmaa, J. 2007, "Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry", *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7169, pp. 537-540.

Murray, C.A. & Parsons, S.A. 2004, "Removal of NOM from drinking water: Fenton's and photo-Fenton's processes", *Chemosphere*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1017-1023.

Nazir, M. & Khan, F.I. 2006, "Human health risk modeling for various exposure routes of trihalomethanes (THMs) in potable water supply", *Environmental Modelling & Software*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1416-1429.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J., Toledano, M.B., Eaton, N.E., Fawell, J. & Elliott, P. 2000, "Chlorination disinfection byproducts in water and their association with adverse reproductive outcomes: a review", *Occupational and environmental medicine*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 73-85.

Nixon, S.W. 1995, "Coastal marine eutrophication: a definition, social causes, and future concerns", *Ophelia*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 199-219.

Oliver, B.G. & Shindler, D.B. 1980, "Trihalomethanes from the chlorination of aquatic algae", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1502-1505.

Palacios, M., Pampillón, J.F. & Rodríguez, M. 2000, "Organohalogenated compounds levels in chlorinated drinking waters and current compliance with quality standards throughout the European Union", *Water research*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 1002-1016.

Parry, L.E., Holden, J. & Chapman, P.J. 2014, "Restoration of blanket peatlands", *Journal of environmental management*, vol. 133, pp. 193-205.

Peters, C.J., Young, R.J. & Perry, R. 1980, "Factors influencing the formation of haloforms in the chlorination of humic materials", *Environ.Sci.Technol.;(United States)*, vol. 14, no. 11.

Peterson, H.G., Milos, J.P., Spink, D.R., Hrudey, S.E. & Sketchell, J. 1993, "Trihalomethanes in finished drinking water in relation to dissolved organic carbon and treatment process for Alberta surface waters", *Environmental technology*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 877-884.

Pierson-Wickmann, A., Gruau, G., Jardé, E., Gaury, N., Brient, L., Lengronne, M., Crocq, A., Helle, D. & Lambert, T. 2011, "Development of a combined isotopic and mass-balance approach to determine dissolved organic carbon sources in eutrophic reservoirs", *Chemosphere*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 356-366.

Pope, P.G., Martin-Doole, M., SPEITEL, G.E. & Collins, M.R. 2007, "Relative significance of factors influencing DXAA formation during chloramination", *Journal (American Water Works Association)*, vol. 99, no. 9, pp. 144-156.

Pourmoghaddas, H. & Stevens, A.A. 1995, "Relationship between trihalomethanes and haloacetic acids with total organic halogen during chlorination", *Water research*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 2059-2062.

Pregitzer, K.S., Zak, D.R., Burton, A.J., Ashby, J.A. & MacDonald, N.W. 2004, "Chronic nitrate additions dramatically increase the export of carbon and nitrogen from northern hardwood ecosystems", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 179-197.

Pusch, M., Fiebig, D., Brettar, I., Eisenmann, H., Ellis, B.K., Kaplan, L.A., Lock, M.A., Naegeli, M.W. & Traunspurger, W. 1998, "The role of micro-organisms in the ecological connectivity of running waters", *Freshwater Biology*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 453-495.

Ramchunder, S.J., Brown, L.E. & Holden, J. 2012, "Catchment-scale peatland restoration benefits stream ecosystem biodiversity", *Journal of Applied Ecology*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 182-191.

Ribéreau-Gayon, P. 1972, *Plant phenolics,* Oliver and Boyd Edinburgh.

Richardson, S.D. 2003, "Disinfection by-products and other emerging contaminants in drinking water", *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 666-684.

Rodrigues, P.M., Da Silva, Joaquim CG Esteves & Antunes, M.C.G. 2007, "Factorial analysis of the trihalomethanes formation in water disinfection using chlorine", *Analytica Chimica Acta*, vol. 595, no. 1, pp. 266-274.

Rook, J.J. 1974, "Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters", *Water Treat.Exam.*, vol. 23, pp. 234-243.

Rostad, C.E., Martin, B.S., Barber, L.B., Leenheer, J.A. & Daniel, S.R. 2000, "Effect of a constructed wetland on disinfection byproducts: removal processes and production of precursors", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 34, no. 13, pp. 2703-2710.

Rostad, C.E., Martin, B.S., Barber, L.B., Leenheer, J.A. & Daniel, S.R. 2000, "Effect of a constructed wetland on disinfection byproducts: removal processes and production of precursors", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 34, no. 13, pp. 2703-2710.

Royer, T.V. & David, M.B. 2005, "Export of dissolved organic carbon from agricultural streams in Illinois, USA", *Aquatic Sciences-Research Across Boundaries*, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 465-471.

Schindler, D.W. 2006, "Recent advances in the understanding and management of eutrophication", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 356-363.

Schindler, D. 1971, "A hypothesis to explain differences and similarities among lakes in the Experimental Lakes Area, northwestern Ontario", *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 295-301.

Schink, B., Philipp, B. & Müller, J. 2000, "Anaerobic degradation of phenolic compounds", *Naturwissenschaften*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 12-23.

Schnitzer, M. & Kahn, S.U. 1972, "Humic substances in the environment".

Scholz, C., Jones, T., West, M., Ehbair, A., Dunn, C. & Freeman, C. 2016, "Constructed wetlands may lower inorganic nutrient inputs but enhance DOC loadings into a drinking water reservoir in North Wales", *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 23, no. 18, pp. 18192-18199.

Scott, M., Jones, M., Woof, C. & Tipping, E. 1998, "Concentrations and fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in drainage water from an upland peat system", *Environment international*, vol. 24, no. 5-6, pp. 537-546.

Singer, P. 1999, "Humic substances as precursors for potentially harmful disinfection by-products", *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 25-30.

Singer, P.C. 2006, "DBPs in drinking water: additional scientific and policy considerations for public health protection", *American Water Works Association.Journal*, vol. 98, no. 10, pp. 73.

Sketchell, J., Peterson, H.G. & Christofi, N. 1995, "Disinfection by-product formation after biologically assisted GAC treatment of water supplies with different bromide and DOC content", *Water research*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 2635-2642.

Skjelkvåle, B., Stoddard, J., Jeffries, D., Tørseth, K., Høgåsen, T., Bowman, J., Mannio, J., Monteith, D., Mosello, R. & Rogora, M. 2005, "Regional scale evidence for improvements in surface water chemistry 1990–2001", *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 165-176.

Smart, S., Henrys, P., Scott, W., Hall, J., Evans, C., Crowe, A., Rowe, E., Dragosits, U., Page, T. & Whyatt, J. 2010, "Impacts of pollution and climate change on ombrotrophic Sphagnum species in the UK: analysis of uncertainties in two empirical niche models", *Climate Research*, vol. 45, pp. 163-176.

Smith, V.H. & Schindler, D.W. 2009, "Eutrophication science: where do we go from here?", *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 201-207.

Stoddard, J.L., Kahl, J.S., Deviney, F.A., DeWalle, D.R., Driscoll, C.T., Herlihy, A.T., Kellogg, J.H., Murdoch, P.S., Webb, J.R. & Webster, K.E. 2003, "Response of surface water chemistry to the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990", *Research Triangle Park (NC): US Environmental Protection Agency*, .

Swindles, G.T., Green, S.M., Brown, L., Holden, J., Raby, C.L., Turner, T.E., Smart, R., Peacock, M. & Baird, A.J. 2016, "Evaluating the use of dominant microbial consumers (testate amoebae) as indicators of blanket peatland restoration", *Ecological Indicators*, vol. 69, pp. 318-330.

Swindles, G.T., Green, S.M., Brown, L., Holden, J., Raby, C.L., Turner, T.E., Smart, R., Peacock, M. & Baird, A.J. 2016, "Evaluating the use of dominant microbial consumers (testate amoebae) as indicators of blanket peatland restoration", *Ecological Indicators*, vol. 69, pp. 318-330.

Swindles, G.T., Morris, P.J., Mullan, D., Watson, E.J., Turner, T.E., Roland, T.P., Amesbury, M.J., Kokfelt, U., Schoning, K., Pratte, S., Gallego-Sala, A., Charman, D.J., Sanderson, N., Garneau, M., Carrivick, J.L., Woulds, C., Holden, J., Parry, L. & Galloway, J.M. 2015, "The long-term fate of permafrost peatlands under rapid climate warming", *Scientific reports*, vol. 5, pp. 17951.

Tang, R., Clark, J.M., Bond, T., Graham, N., Hughes, D. & Freeman, C. 2013, "Assessment of potential climate change impacts on peatland dissolved organic carbon release and drinking water treatment from laboratory experiments", *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 173, pp. 270-277.

Tegen, I. & Dörr, H. 1996, "Mobilization of cesium in organic rich soils: correlation with production of dissolved organic carbon", *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 133-144.

Thurman, E.M. 2012, Organic geochemistry of natural waters, Springer Science & Business Media.

Urban, N., Bayley, S. & Eisenreich, S. 1989, "Export of dissolved organic carbon and acidity from peatlands", *Water Resources Research*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1619-1628.

Uyguner, C.S., Hellriegel, C., Otto, W. & Larive, C.K. 2004, "Characterization of humic substances: Implications for trihalomethane formation", *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, vol. 378, no. 6, pp. 1579-1586.

Villanueva, C.M., Kogevinas, M. & Grimalt, J.O. 2003, "Haloacetic acids and trihalomethanes in finished drinking waters from heterogeneous sources", *Water research*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 953-958.

Waller, K., Swan, S.H., DeLorenze, G. & Hopkins, B. 1998, "Trihalomethanes in drinking water and spontaneous abortion.", *Epidemiology*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 134-140.

Wellock, M.L., Reidy, B., Laperle, C.M., Bolger, T. & Kiely, G. 2011, "Soil organic carbon stocks of afforested peatlands in Ireland", *Forestry*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 441-451.

Westerhoff, P., Chao, P. & Mash, H. 2004, "Reactivity of natural organic matter with aqueous chlorine and bromine", *Water research*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1502-1513.

Wetzel, R. 2001, "Limnology: lake and river ecosystems3rd edition", *San Diego: Academic Press*, vol. 200, no. 1, pp. 239-288.

Williams, D.T., LeBel, G.L. & Benoit, F.M. 1997, "Disinfection by-products in Canadian drinking water", *Chemosphere*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 299-316.

World Health Organization 2004, "Uranium in drinking-water: Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality".

Worrall, F., Burt, T. & Shedden, R. 2003, "Long term records of riverine dissolved organic matter", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 165-178.

Worrall, F., Burt, T., Rowson, J., Warburton, J. & Adamson, J. 2009, "The multi-annual carbon budget of a peat-covered catchment", *Science of the total environment*, vol. 407, no. 13, pp. 4084-4094.

Worrall, F., Harriman, R., Evans, C.D., Watts, C.D., Adamson, J., Neal, C., Tipping, E., Burt, T., Grieve, I. & Monteith, D. 2004, "Trends in dissolved organic carbon in UK rivers and lakes", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 369-402.

Xu, X., Mariano, T.M., Laskin, J.D. & Weisel, C.P. 2002, "Percutaneous absorption of trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, and haloketones", *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*, vol. 184, no. 1, pp. 19-26.

Yoon, J., Choi, Y., Cho, S. & Lee, D. 2003, "Low trihalomethane formation in Korean drinking water", *Science of the total environment*, vol. 302, no. 1, pp. 157-166.

Zherebker, A.Y., Perminova, I., Konstantinov, A., Volikov, A., Kostyukevich, Y.I., Kononikhin, A. & Nikolaev, E. 2016, "Extraction of humic substances from fresh waters on solid-phase cartridges and their study by Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry", *Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 372-378.

# Chapter 2: Characteristics of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) exported from drained peat with respect to disinfection by-product formation.

# 2.1. Abstract

For the last two decades, the freshwater concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) has increased in many parts of the northern hemisphere, particularly in rivers and streams draining peat soils. This has been attributed to reduced acidic deposition and climatic and land use changes. Concentrations of DOC in freshwaters used as sources of drinking water must be reduced prior to the addition of a disinfectant to minimise the formation of potentially harmful carcinogenic compounds (disinfection by-products; DBPs); hence, the rising DOC trend poses a threat to human health as it may lead to increased DBP production. One land use change that has been linked to rising DOC, is peatland drainage undertaken in the UK extensively during the 1960s and 1970s to improve upland areas for agricultural grazing. Recent evidence has demonstrated that this can increase DOC concentration in drainage waters due to the increased decomposition of the peat matrix, however relatively few studies have examined the characteristics of this extra carbon and its likelihood to form DBPs compared to DOC supplied by natural Streams. In this study we present data demonstrating that the DOC concentration of drainage ditches is higher than a natural stream, but there are no differences in the propensity of DOC to form trihalomethanes.

#### 2.2. Introduction

Natural organic matter (NOM) is contained within all freshwater ecosystems. It is a mixture of heterogeneous compounds derived from decaying animal and plant products and the concentration and characteristics are influenced by the Earth's hydrological and carbon cycles (Khan and Schnitzer, 1972; Marray and Parsons, 2004; Thurman, 1985). NOM is usually divided into two broad categories through filtration properties; that which is retained on a 0.45  $\mu$ M filter is Particulate Organic Matter (POM) and that which passes through the filter and remains in solution is Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) (Thurman, 1985). Carbon is the key constituent of NOM, therefore NOM is often referred to as either dissolved or particulate organic carbon (DOC/POC) and the analytical techniques used to quantify and characterise NOM/DOM in freshwaters are usually based on measuring the carbon component. DOC is the dominant form of organic carbon in freshwaters (Jones and Mulholland, 1998; Palmer et al., 2015), usually comprising 90% of total organic carbon, and is considered a dynamic, intermediate stage in the cycling of carbon between the terrestrial environment and the atmosphere (Jones *et al.*, 2016). As organic carbon resides in soil it can be transferred to freshwaters during rainfall with this allochthonous source being generally the dominant origin of DOC in rivers, streams and lakes globally. It is common to observe strong correlations between a lake's DOC concentration and the proportion of peat in its catchment (Arvola et al., 2016; Palmer et al., 2015). DOC is also produced within freshwaters by algae and microorganisms; i.e., the autochthonous source. Freshwaters with a high concentration of DOC are usually coloured brown due to the presence of humic substances that strongly absorb ultraviolet and visible light (Jones et al., 2016). The contribution from each source varies on a seasonal basis; allochthonous DOC inputs are greatest during the late summer/autumn period whilst autochthonous DOC production peaks in the summer months, when temperatures and light levels are at their highest. Therefore freshwater DOC concentrations tend to peak in September-October when the contribution from both sources are high (Jones et al., 20016). Globally, allochthonous sources tend to dominate DOC inputs over autochthonous sources (Manny and Wetzel, 1973). DOC from allochthonous sources is generally a higher molecular weight, with a tendency to have more aromatic moeties and absorbs more light than the DOC from autochthonous sources (Gergel et al., 1999; Hedges et al., 1994).

Phenolic compounds are a specific group of organic chemicals common in nature (Ribéreau, 1972) and are characterised by the presence of one or more aromatic rings carrying at least one

hydroxyl group (Appel, 1993). Phenolic compounds can be a significant fraction of freshwater DOC, especially in areas draining organic soils such as peats.

The presence of DOC in freshwaters may cause issues for the production of clean, safe drinking water. The DOC must be removed to improve the taste, odour and aesthetics of the water and to minimise the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs). DBPs result from the reaction between chlorine, added as a disinfectant, and the NOM present in drinking water (Sketchell *et al.*, 1995). Although brominated DBPs such as bromoform can also be formed (Peterson *et al.*, 1993) in the presence of bromide. Halogenation of NOMs occurs either via the oxidation of carbon-carbon double bonds or by substitution, where a functional group is replaced by a halogen (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). DBPs are organo-halide compounds with trihalomethanes (THMs) representing the most common sub-group. These are simple derivatives of methane formed when three of the hydrogen atoms are replaced by a halogen (Bond *et al.*, 2009). The rate of DBP formation depends on the concentration of DOC, chlorine, water temperature and pH (Westerhoff *et al.*, 2004). The humic and fulvic acids component of DOC has been found to be the principal reaction precursor to THMs (Williams *et al.*, 1997). Higher temperatures lead to greater DBP formation, so the concentration of DBPs in summer are usually higher than in winter (Pourmoghaddas and Stevens, 1995).

A concern within the water industry is that there is significant evidence that the concentration of DOC in many freshwater environments in the northern hemisphere is increasing. It has been reported that between 1988 and 2000, DOC increased by 65% in streams and lakes in the UK (Freeman *et al.*, 2001a). There is also evidence of this increasing trend in other parts of Europe and North America (Evans *et al.*, 2006; Monteith *et al.*, 2007). This has been attributed to increasing temperature (Freeman *et al.*, 2001b) and atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations (Freeman *et al.*, 2004a), more frequent droughts (Fenner *et al.*, 2011) and reduced acid deposition (Evans *et al.*, 2012). Increased temperatures (+0.66°C between 1970-2000) may have led to greater microbial activity and decomposition in soils, thus leading to greater DOC release (Freeman *et al.*, 2001b). According to (Evans *et al.*, 2012) pH may also influence the concentration of DOC in soils and they hypothesised that the decline in sulphur deposition observed in many regions of the northern hemisphere over the last two decades is connected with the rising DOC trend. However, there are likely to be several drivers influencing this increasing trend. One that is particularly relevant in the UK is peatland drainage (Strack *et al.*, 2006).

All peatlands export DOC to freshwaters, regardless of their status, typically in the range 5-40 g DOC m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Moor *et al.,* 1997; Price, 2003). DOC export also tends to be related to the area of peatland within the catchment (Roulet *et al.,* 1992; Tahvanainen, 2011). The export of DOC from peatland areas is affected by processes that lower the water table, such as climate change and drainage (Freeman *et* 

*al.*, 2004b; Laine *et al.*, 1992; Prévost *et al.*, 1999). Drainage of peatland areas can induce significant changes to hydrology (Huotari *et al.*, 2013) with a lowering of the water table by 20–60 cm depending on distance from the ditch, reported in some studies (Prévost *et al.*, 1999; Räike *et al.*, 2012; Sarkkola *et al.*, 2009). Such changes are reportedly responsible for increased riverine and pore water DOC concentrations in a number of areas in the northern hemisphere (Aitkenhead *et al.*, 1999; Koprivnjak and Moore 1992; Moore *et al.*, 1998; Strack *et al.*, 2008). The increased loss of DOC from peatland ecosystems has important implications for their carbon budgets and will add CO<sub>2</sub> to the atmosphere was a significant proportion of freshwater DOC is completely mineralised in fluvial systems (Mattsson *et al.*, 2005). Peatland drainage is increasingly being recognised as having a negative impact on atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, and as a result ditch blocking has been a commonly used technique to restore the peatland water table and eventually reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emission (Turner *et al.*, 2013).

The aim of this study was to determine whether man-made drainage ditches are contributing a greater quantity of DOC to Llyn Conwy than natural Streams and whether this DOC has a different propensity to form THMs during chlorination. The work will help inform water companies as to whether drainage ditches within peat-dominated reservoir catchments represent a threat to water quality. We hypothesise that the ditches will have a greater DOC concentration than the natural stream and the DOC will have a higher reactivity with chlorine.

#### 2.3. Methods

# 2.3.1. Study Site

Sampling was performed at three contrasting sites in north Wales (Figure 2.1 & Table 2.1); Llyn Conwy ("lake") a natural oligotrophic drinking water reservoir, Nant-y-Brwyn ("stream") a natural Stream outside the catchment of the reservoir but analogous to other upland streams within the area (Jones, unpublished data) and four man-made drainage ditches ("ditches") within the predominately peat catchment of Llyn Conwy.



Figure 2.1. The location of Llyn Conwy in south eastern Snowdonia. White markers show locations of the six sampling sites

Site name	Site type	UK grid reference
Llyn Conwy	Lake	SH 78150 45586
Nant-y-Brwyn	Natural stream	SH 79147 45267
Ditch A	Man-made drainage ditch	SH 78367 45855
Ditch B	Man-made drainage ditch	SH 78349 45873
Ditch C	Man-made drainage ditch	SH 78354 45931
Ditch D	Man-made drainage ditch	SH 78333 45892

Table 2.1. Site identity (ID), type and grid reference location.

# 2.3.2. Sampling regime

Sampling was performed approximately twice monthly from May 2013 to May 2014 (see supplementary data Table 2.S1 for exact dates). Data is also included for the Lake, Stream and some Ditches for various months from July 2012 – Feb 2013 which was collected as part of another project (Hughes, 2013). Approximately 250 mL of water sample was collected at each site in acid washed (using 3% HCl) plastic bottles. The temperature of the water was recorded in situ. pH and conductivity were measured in the laboratory on unfiltered samples on the day of

sampling. The pH was measured using a Seven Easy pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Leicester, UK). The probe was calibrated using buffers of pH 4 and 7 at 25°C (Sigma, Dorset, UK). Conductivity was measured with a Primo 5 conductivity meter (Hanna Instruments, Bedfordshire, UK). All samples were filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m cellulose acetate filters and refrigerated at 4°C until further analysis was undertaken.

# 2.3.3. Laboratory Analyses

# 2.3.3.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

Concentrations of DOC were determined using a Thermalox TC/TN analyser (Analytical Sciences Ltd, Cambridge, UK), which is a combustion and infrared detection-based technique. For DOC, samples were acidified to pH <3 prior to analysis to remove inorganic carbon using 10 M HCl. The instrument was calibrated with potassium hydrogen phthalate standards. The injection volume was 15  $\mu$ L and oven temperature 680°C. Results were corrected if standard solutions deviated by 10% or more from the correct concentration.

# 2.3.3.2. Phenolic compounds

The phenolic component of DOC was determined using a method modified from Box (1983), adapted for 300  $\mu$ L microplate wells. A calibration curve was generated using a series of phenol standard solutions ranging in concentration from 0.5 - 10 mg/L. The assay product was detected by measuring the absorbance at 750 nm on a Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Wokingham, UK).

#### 2.3.3.3. UV/visible absorption

SUVA is used as an indicator of overall DOC quality i.e. molecular weight and aromaticity, with most freshwaters having values in the range 2-4 (Leenheer *et al.,* 2003). SUVA was calculated by dividing the absorbance value at 254 nm (measured on the Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer) by the DOC concentration (mg/L).

#### 2.3.3.4. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)

The standard trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) analysis was used to determine the concentration of trihalomethanes that can be formed per unit DOC under ideal conditions, to give an indication of the reactivity of DOC with chlorine and its propensity to form THMs. A modified version of the THMFP test detailed in Leenheer *et al.* (2000) was used. In this study samples were

diluted to 1 mg/L DOC in order to derive a standardised THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value (STHMFP<sub>7d</sub>) which provides a measure of DOC reactivity. A THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value was then calculated by multiplying STHMFP<sub>7d</sub> by DOC concentration. 97.5 mL of diluted sample was dosed with 2.0 mL of 0.5 M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> to buffer the solution to pH 6.8. Samples were then dosed with 0.5 mL of NaOCI to provide 5 mg of free Cl per mg of DOC. The solution was transferred to a 100 mL amber glass bottle and incubated in the dark at 25°C for 7 days to allow the reaction between organic carbon and chlorine to occur. After 7 days incubation, the reaction was quenched by adding 0.4 mL of 0.8 M Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> to 14.6 mL of incubated sample. This solution was then transferred to a 22 mL amber headspace vial and analysed by the following method. The concentration of THMs was measured using a solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) technique similar to that described by Sarrión et al. (2000). The technique uses a Varian GC 450, a Restek MX 1 column (diphenyl/dimethyl polysiloxane phase, 30 m length, 0.53 mm i.d.), N<sub>2</sub> carrier gas at a flow rate of 10mL/min and a <sup>63</sup>Ni Electron Capture Detector. The oven temperature was held at 35°C for 9 minutes and then increased at a rate of 10 °C /minute to 140°C and held for 2 minutes and finally increased to 180°C and held for 3 minutes. The injector temperature was 290°C and the detector temperature 300ºC.

Trihalomethane calibration solutions were made from a stock solution containing 2000  $\mu$ g/mL of each of the 4 THMs; chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), bromodichloromethane (CHBrCl<sub>2</sub>), dibromochloromethane (CHBr<sub>2</sub>Cl), and bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>) (Sigma). A series of standard solutions were then prepared ranging from 1-500  $\mu$ g/L.

# 2.3.4. Statistical Analysis

The effect of site (three levels; Lake, Stream, ditch) on each measured parameter were determined using one-way ANOVA and Tukey HSD post-hoc tests in R v3.3.1. Pearson correlation was used to test for significant relationships between all dependent variables at each factor level. Most data met the homogeneity and normality assumptions, which were tested using the Bartlett and Shapiro Wilk tests, but those that did not were log-transformed. Data points were removed if they were outliers. A p value of 0.05 was used to determine significance.

# 2.4. Results

All samples from the three sites were acidic throughout the sampling period (Figure 2.2a) and there was a significant effect of the site on pH (F=33.598, p<0.001; Figure 2.2b, Table 2.2). The lowest mean pH was measured in the ditches, at  $4.09 \pm 0.05$ . Both the stream and the lake had a significantly higher mean pH values, at  $5.20 \pm 0.76$  and  $5.26 \pm 0.41$  (both p<0.001), but the stream and the lake did not differ significantly (p>0.05). There was a large temporal variability for each site between the 3 sites, but no clear seasonal trend. For the lake, the highest pH was recorded in October 2013, at 6.8, and lowest in December 2013, at 4.4. For the stream the highest pH was recorded in July 2013 at 6.6 and lowest in January 2014 at 3.5. For the ditches the highest value was measured in March 2014 at 5.7 for ditch B and lowest in November 2013, at 3.8 for ditch C.



Figure 2.2 a) time series and b) mean pH of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles

	рН	Conductivity	Phenolics	DOC	SUVA	THMs
F value	33.5	32.580	48.977	37.462	51.158	1.180
	98					
Р	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	p>0.05
value						

Table 2.2. Results of one-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measured parameters.

The conductivity varied significantly when comparing the mean values for the lake (34.67  $\pm$  9.33  $\mu$ S/cm) and stream (39.3  $\pm$  13.2  $\mu$ S/cm) versus the ditches (66.68  $\pm$  4.81  $\mu$ S/cm) (F=32.580, p<0.001; Figure 2.3b). The lake and the stream had statistically similar mean conductivity values,

(p>0.05). The conductivity of each of the four ditch sites (A-D) varied in a very similar way over the period June 2013 – June 2014 (Figure 2.4a). There was a dramatic increase in the conductivity for the ditches from September 2013 (33  $\mu$ S/cm for ditch B) to January 2014 (115  $\mu$ S/cm for Ditch d). The lake and stream generally had much less variance in their conductivities compared to the ditches during the period June 2013 – June 2014 (min-max: lake, 21-59  $\mu$ S/cm; stream 22-82  $\mu$ S/cm).



Figure 2.3 a) time series and b) mean conductivity of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles.

		рН	Conductivity	Phenolics	DOC	SUVA	THMs
Lake	Stream	.577	.423	.000	.000	.000	.997
Lake	Ditch	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.400
Stream	Ditch	.000	.000	.403	.000	.000	.476

Table 2.3. Results of Tukey HSD post-hoc tests for each level of the Site factor.

DOC concentration varied when comparing the mean values for the lake ( $4.53 \pm 0.75 \text{ mg/L}$ ) and stream ( $12.69 \pm 7.15 \text{ mg/L}$ ) versus the ditches  $19.01 \pm 0.43 \text{ mg/L}$  (F=37.462, p<0.001; figure 2.4b). The DOC in the ditches was on average 6.32 mg/L greater than stream and the stream 8.16 mg/L greater than the lake. The ditches had a statistically significant higher DOC concentration than lake and the stream, at  $19.01 \pm 0.43 \text{ mg/L}$  (p<0.001) and the mean DOC concentration of the ditches was higher than both the stream and lake. There was little evidence of a seasonal trend in the DOC data for the lake, but both the stream and ditches exhibited large variation with the season, being highest in the summer and autumn and lowest in the winter and spring for all years recorded. For the stream the highest concentration was recorded in  $16^{\text{th}}$  of August 2012, at  $31.30 \pm 0.85 \text{ mg/L}$ , and lowest on  $19^{\text{th}}$  of February 2013, at  $3.79 \pm 0.08 \text{ mg/L}$ . For the ditches the highest value was measured in May 2014, at  $40.80 \pm 0.45 \text{ mg/L}$  for Ditch A, and lowest in January 2014 at  $6.34 \pm 0.16 \text{ mg/L}$  for Ditch D.



Figure 2.4a) time series and b) mean DOC concentration mg/L of all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles.

There was a significant difference in SUVA (F=51.158, p<0.001; Figure 2.5a) with respect to site. The lowest mean SUVA was measured for the Lake, at 3.35  $\pm$  0.41 L/mg/m. The stream had a significantly higher SUVA, at 4.06  $\pm$  0.37 L/mg/m (p<0.001), and the ditches a significantly higher than both, at 4.15  $\pm$  0.06 L/mg/m (p<0.001).

The phenolics concentration varied when comparing the mean values for the lake (0.84  $\pm$  0.42 mg/L) versus the stream (2.35  $\pm$  1.33 mg/L) and ditches (2.27  $\pm$  0.19 mg/L) (F=48.977, p<0.001; Figure 2.6b). The lowest mean phenolic concentration was measured for the lake, at 0.84  $\pm$  0.42 mg/L. Both the stream and ditches had significantly higher concentrations than the lake, at 2.35  $\pm$  1.33 mg/L and 2.27  $\pm$  0.19 mg/L respectively (p<0.001), but the mean stream and ditch concentrations did not demonstrate a significant difference (p>0.05).



Figure 2.5a) time series and b) mean SUVA L-mg/mg all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles.



Figure 2.6a) time series and b) mean phenolics concentration mg/L all study sites for the period July 2012 to May 2014. Diamond symbols are mean values, bold horizontal lines are median values, the box represents the interquartile range and whiskers the 5th and 95th percentiles.

Chloroform was the dominant trihalomethane species detected (over 90%), so we have not presented data for the brominated THM species. There was no significant effect of site on the chloroform formation potential (F=1.180, p>0.05; Figure 2.7). DOC correlated significantly with both Phenolics (r=0.77, p<0.001; Figure 2.8) and SUVA (r=0.78, p<0.001; Figure 2.9) (Table 2.4).



Figure 2.7. Mean Trihalomethane Formation Potential for the three contrasting site types for the entire study period.



Figure 2.8. DOC v Phenolics for all sampled time points for all six sampling sites.



Figure 2.9. DOC v SUVA for all sampled time points for all six sampling sites.

		Conductivity	DOC	SUVA	Phenolics	THMs
рН	Pearson Correlation	-0.603	-0.387	-0.370	-0.188	0.207
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Conductivity	Pearson Correlation		.036	0.236	-0.058	-0.413
	Sig. (2-tailed)			0.023		<0.001
DOC	Pearson Correlation			0.708	0.779	0.270
	Sig. (2-tailed)			<0.001	<0.001	.024
SUVA	Pearson Correlation				0.696	-0.152
	Sig. (2-tailed)				<0.001	
Phenolics	Pearson Correlation					.149
	Sig. (2-tailed)					

Table 2.4. Results of Pearson correlation analys	sis run on all dependent variables.
--	-------------------------------------

## 2.5. Discussion

The results shown in Figure 2.4b the higher mean concentration of DOC in the ditches relative to the lake and stream is most likely to be due to greater decomposition processes occurring in the peat soils around the drainage ditches. The soils within the catchment of Llyn Conwy are mostly peat, which is several metres deep and contains large stores of organic carbon. Streams that drain the soils in this region (such as the Nant-y-Brwyn sampled in this study) are high in DOC due to the high organic matter content of the soils. The DOC concentration is higher in the man-made drainage ditches than the natural stream because they were created only a few decades ago and are still releasing DOC due to the continued oxidation of the peat soils they are draining. They were excavated to a depth of approximately 1 metre, exposing a large proportion of the soil profile to oxygen. According to the 'enzymic latch theory' this will have released the main constraint on the enzyme phenol oxidase and enhanced the overall decomposition of the peat (Pourmoghaddas and Stevens, 1995). This in turn will have resulted in enhanced DOC release into the water draining the soil (Freeman *et al.*, 2004) explaining our observation. The natural stream sampled in this study and others in the vicinity are not draining soils that have undergone a disturbance such as this and therefore have a lower mean DOC concentration.

The significantly lower mean DOC concentration was observed for Llyn Conwy compared to those for the ditches and stream is as would be expected from earlier studies (Evans *et al.*, 2012). Lakes are generally sinks for DOC due to long residence times and processes such as photochemical oxidation breaking down organic carbon into  $CO_2$  (Evans *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, the high rainfall received in the region and the large volume of the lake compared to the size of its catchment will quickly dilute any DOC inputs to the Lake.

A consistent seasonal trend was not observed in the DOC data for Llyn Conwy, although the lowest DOC concentration was recorded in July 2013 and the highest in January 2014. This contrasts to the pattern observed for the stream and ditches, where the DOC peaked in the summer/autumn and was lowest in the winter. This is due to the effects of seasonal weather cycles on DOC cycling. During the summer growing seasonal plants take up CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere; a significant part of this carbon is transferred to the soil during the late summer/autumn period to form soil organic matter. This increases the amount of carbon able to be transferred to freshwater streams and rivers as DOC, hence DOC concentrations in these water bodies (particularly in upland environments where peat is found) are greatest at this time.

40

Results for phenolics (Figure 2.6 a and b) were similar to DOC and a strong positive relationship was recorded between DOC and the phenolic concentration across the three sample types (Table 2.3). Thus, indicating phenolic compounds are likely to be key component of DOC. The high phenolic concentrations are due to the peat soils from which the waters are draining, with phenolic structures persisting in peat due to the anaerobic conditions in the soil (Hättenschwiler and Vitousek, 2007; Peacock *et al.*, 2013). In previous studies, it has been noted that there are correlations between DOC and phenolic concentrations (Hagedorn *et al.*, 2007).

# 2.6. Conclusions

The overall finding of this study is that the drainage ditches have the potential to contribute more carbon per unit volume of water to the oligotrophic Llyn Conwy than the natural stream feeding into Llyn Conwy (equivalent to NYB).

This study measured DOC in man-made drainage ditches and discovered that the concentration was consistently higher than in a natural stream, indicating that the water draining artificially drained peat generally has a much higher DOC concentration than water draining natural peat. Drainage ditches lower the water table in the peat soil, thus exposing the peat to oxygen and increasing the decomposition of soil organic matter in the soils surrounding the ditches. Despite the elevated DOC concentrations in the drainage ditches, this study found no significant difference in the propensity to form THMs; a favourable outcome from a drinking water perspective.

Date	Lake	Stream	Ditches
			(A-D)
PART 1			
10/07/2012	•	•	B,C
26/07/2012	•	•	
16/08/2012	•	•	
29/08/2012	•	•	
12/09/2012	•	•	
26/09/2012	•	•	
16/10/2012	•	•	
30/10/2012	•	•	
11/12/2012	•	•	
09/01/2013	•	•	
24/01/2013	•	•	
30/01/2013	•	•	B,C
19/02/2013	•	•	
05/03/2013	•	•	B,C
02/04/2013	•	•	
30/04/2013	•	•	
PART 2			
22/05/2013	•	•	
18/06/2013	•	•	
03/07/2013	•	•	
16/07/2013	•	•	
30/07/2013	•	•	
13/08/2013	•	•	
22/08/2013	•	•	
04/09/2013	•	•	A-D
25/09/2013	•	•	A-D
08/10/2013	•	•	A-D

# Table 2.51 – Field sampling dates vs locations for this study – Part 1: July 2012 – Feb 2013, Part 2 -May 2013 to May 2014 (• indicate samples collected)

Date	Lake	Stream	Ditches
			(A-D)
24/10/2013	•	•	A-D
07/11/2013	•	•	A-D
22/11/2013	•	•	A-D
10/12/2013	•	•	A-D
08/01/2014	•	•	A-D
23/01/2014	•	•	A-D
20/03/2014	•	•	A-D
23/04/2014	•	•	A-D
26/05/2014	•	•	A-D

Table 2.S1 - Continued

# 2.7. References

Aitkenhead, J., Hope, D. & Billett, M. 1999, "The relationship between dissolved organic carbon in stream water and soil organic carbon pools at different spatial scales", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 1289-1302.

Appel, H.M. 1993, "Phenolics in ecological interactions: the importance of oxidation", *Journal of chemical ecology*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1521-1552.

Arvola, L., Äijälä, C. & Leppäranta, M. 2016, "CDOM concentrations of large Finnish lakes relative to their landscape properties", *Hydrobiologia*, vol. 780, no. 1, pp. 37-46.

Bond, T., Goslan, E.H., Jefferson, B., Roddick, F., Fan, L. & Parsons, S.A. 2009, "Chemical and biological oxidation of NOM surrogates and effect on HAA formation", *Water research*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2615-2622.

Box, J. 1983, "Investigation of the Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters", *Water research*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 511-525.

Brown, L.E., Holden, J., Palmer, S.M., Johnston, K., Ramchunder, S.J. & Grayson, R. 2015, "Effects of fire on the hydrology, biogeochemistry, and ecology of peatland river systems", *Freshwater Science*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1406-1425.

Evans, C.D., Jones, T.G., Burden, A., Ostle, N., Zieliński, P., Cooper, M.D., Peacock, M., Clark, J.M., Oulehle, F. & Cooper, D. 2012, "Acidity controls on dissolved organic carbon mobility in organic soils", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 3317-3331.

Evans, C.D., Chapman, P.J., Clark, J.M., Monteith, D.T. & Cresser, M.S. 2006, "Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 2044-2053.

Fenner, N. & Freeman, C. 2011, "Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands", *Nature geoscience*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 895-900.

Freeman, C., Evans, C., Monteith, D., Reynolds, B. & Fenner, N. 2001, "Export of organic carbon from peat soils", *Nature*, vol. 412, no. 6849, pp. 785-785.

Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Ostle, N., Kang, H., Dowrick, D., Reynolds, B., Lock, M., Sleep, D., Hughes, S. & Hudson, J. 2004, "Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels", *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 6996, pp. 195-198.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N., Fenner, N. & Kang, H. 2004, "A regulatory role for phenol oxidase during decomposition in peatlands", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1663-1667.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N. & Kang, H. 2001, "An enzymic'latch'on a global carbon store", *Nature*, vol. 409, no. 6817, pp. 149-149.

Hagedorn, F. & Machwitz, M. 2007, "Controls on dissolved organic matter leaching from forest litter grown under elevated atmospheric CO2", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1759-1769.

Hättenschwiler, S. & Vitousek, P.M. 2000, "The role of polyphenols in terrestrial ecosystem nutrient cycling", *Trends in ecology & evolution*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 238-243.

Huotari, J., Nykänen, H., Forsius, M. & Arvola, L. 2013, "Effect of catchment characteristics on aquatic carbon export from a boreal catchment and its importance in regional carbon cycling", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 3607-3620.

Jones, J.B. & Mulholland, P.J. 1998, "Methane input and evasion in a hardwood forest stream: effects of subsurface flow from shallow and deep pathways", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1243-1250.

Jones, T.G., Evans, C.D., Jones, D.L., Hill, P.W. & Freeman, C. 2016, "Transformations in DOC along a source to sea continuum; impacts of photo-degradation, biological processes and mixing", *Aquatic Sciences,*, pp. 1-14.

Khan, S. & Schnitzer, M. 1972, "The retention of hydrophobic organic compounds by humic acid", *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 745-754.

Koprivnjak, J. & Moore, T. 1992, "Sources, sinks, and fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in subarctic fen catchments", *Arctic and Alpine Research*, pp. 204-210.

LAINE, J. & VANHA-MAJAMAA, I. 1992, "Vegetation ecology along a trophic gradient on drained pine mires in southern Finland", *Annales Botanici Fennici*JSTOR, , pp. 213.

Manny, B. & Wetzel, R. 1973, "Diurnal changes in dissolved organic and inorganic carbon and nitrogen in a hardwater stream", *Freshwater Biology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 31-43.

Mattsson, T., Kortelainen, P. & Räike, A. 2005, "Export of DOM from boreal catchments: impacts of land use cover and climate", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 373-394.

Monteith, D.T., Stoddard, J.L., Evans, C.D., de Wit, H.A., Forsius, M., Høgåsen, T., Wilander, A., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Jeffries, D.S. & Vuorenmaa, J. 2007, "Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry", *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7169, pp. 537-540.

Moore, T. 1997, "Dissolved organic carbon: sources, sinks, and fluxes and role in the soil carbon cycle", *Soil processes and the carbon cycle*, vol. 11, pp. 281.

Murray, C.A. & Parsons, S.A. 2004, "Removal of NOM from drinking water: Fenton's and photo-Fenton's processes", *Chemosphere*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1017-1023.

Peacock, M., Burden, A., Cooper, M., Dunn, C., Evans, C.D., Fenner, N., Freeman, C., Gough, R., Hughes, D. & Hughes, S. 2013, "Quantifying dissolved organic carbon concentrations in upland catchments using phenolic proxy measurements", *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 477, pp. 251-260.

Peterson, H.G., Milos, J.P., Spink, D.R., Hrudey, S.E. & Sketchell, J. 1993, "Trihalomethanes in finished drinking water in relation to dissolved organic carbon and treatment process for Alberta surface waters", *Environmental technology*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 877-884.

Pourmoghaddas, H. & Stevens, A.A. 1995, "Relationship between trihalomethanes and haloacetic acids with total organic halogen during chlorination", *Water research*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 2059-2062.

Prévost, M., Plamondon, A.P. & Belleau, P. 1999, "Effects of drainage of a forested peatland on water quality and quantity", *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 214, no. 1, pp. 130-143.

Price, J.S. 2003, "Role and character of seasonal peat soil deformation on the hydrology of undisturbed and cutover peatlands", *Water Resources Research*, vol. 39, no. 9.

Räike, A., Kortelainen, P., Mattsson, T. & Thomas, D.N. 2012, "36year trends in dissolved organic carbon export from Finnish rivers to the Baltic Sea", *Science of the total environment*, vol. 435, pp. 188-201.

Ribéreau-Gayon, P. 1972, *Plant phenolics,* Oliver and Boyd Edinburgh.

Rodrigues, P.M.S.M., Esteves da Silva, J.C.G. & Antunes, M.C.G. 2007, "Factorial analysis of the trihalomethanes formation in water disinfection using chlorine", *Analytica Chimica Acta*, vol. 595, no. 1–2, pp. 266-274.

Roulet, N., Moore, T., Bubier, J. & Lafleur, P. 1992, "Northern fens: methane flux and climatic change", *Tellus B*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 100-105.

Sarkkola, S., Koivusalo, H., Laurén, A., Kortelainen, P., Mattsson, T., Palviainen, M., Piirainen, S., Starr, M. & Finér, L. 2009, "Trends in hydrometeorological conditions and stream water organic carbon in boreal forested catchments", *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 408, no. 1, pp. 92-101.

Sarrión, M., Santos, F. & Galceran, M. 2000, "In situ derivatization/solid-phase microextraction for the determination of haloacetic acids in water", *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 72, no. 20, pp. 4865-4873.

Sketchell, J., Peterson, H.G. & Christofi, N. 1995, "Disinfection by-product formation after biologically assisted GAC treatment of water supplies with different bromide and DOC content", *Water research*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 2635-2642.

Strack, M., Waddington, J., Bourbonniere, R., Buckton, E., Shaw, K., Whittington, P. & Price, J. 2008, "Effect of water table drawdown on peatland dissolved organic carbon export and dynamics", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 22, no. 17, pp. 3373-3385.

Strack, M., Waddington, J., Rochefort, L. & Tuittila, E. 2006, "Response of vegetation and net ecosystem carbon dioxide exchange at different peatland microforms following water table drawdown", *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, vol. 111, no. G2.

Tahvanainen, T. 2011, "Abrupt ombrotrophication of a boreal aapa mire triggered by hydrological disturbance in the catchment", *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 404-415.

Thurman, E. 1985, "Amount of organic carbon in natural waters" in *Organic geochemistry of natural waters* Springer, , pp. 7-65.

Turner, E., Worrall, F. & Burt, T. 2013, "The effect of drain blocking on the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) budget of an upland peat catchment in the UK", *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 479, pp. 169-179.

Westerhoff, P., Chao, P. & Mash, H. 2004, "Reactivity of natural organic matter with aqueous chlorine and bromine", *Water research*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1502-1513.

Williams, D.T., LeBel, G.L. & Benoit, F.M. 1997, "Disinfection by-products in Canadian drinking water", *Chemosphere*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 299-316.

# Chapter 3: Field experiment investigating effects of peatland drought on dissolved organic carbon (DOC) release and implications for trihalomethane (THM) formation

# 3.1. Abstract

Peatland ecosystems sequester vast quantities of carbon below ground due to persistent waterlogged conditions and suppressed decomposition. Anthropogenic drainage has resulted in the loss of vast quantities of carbon on a global scale and drought resulting from climate change is a serious long-term risk to the ability of a peatland to continue to act as a carbon sink. The lowering of the water table can also affect the export of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), which has implications for freshwater biota and the provision of drinking water supplies.

In this study, the effect of long-term drought on peatland DOC has been examined, observing reduced porewater concentrations and a shift in quality to lower molecular weight and less aromatic DOC. Despite this, a significant change in standardised trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) values was not observed. This indicates that DOC removal efficiency during conventional water treatment processes may change following drought, although the decreased loading of DOC to the works would significantly reduce coagulant demand.

#### **3.2. Introduction**

Peatlands are one of the planet's most important terrestrial reservoirs of organic matter, occupying approximately 6 million km<sup>2</sup> of the terrestrial surface (Bridgham *et al.*, 1996). They are found in regions with a positive net water balance, without sustained dry periods (Moore et al., 1998) and accumulate organic matter as peat (Clymo, 1984). Despite only occupying 3% of the Earth's terrestrial surface (Rydin and Jeglum, 2006), peatlands are estimated to have sequestered 480-610 Gt of carbon as peat (Page et al. 2011). The carbon sequestration ability of peatlands and their function as carbon sinks, retaining the carbon they have accrued over thousands of years, depends primarily on the position of the water table and maintenance of waterlogged conditions (Fenner and Freeman, 2011). Water saturation reduces oxygen concentrations in the peat, resulting in anoxic conditions that inhibit decomposition and allow organic matter to build up. In the UK, significant peat deposits occur in upland blanket bogs, which form under the warmest and wettest conditions (Wieder and Vitt, 2006), where the rainfall is approximately 3 times more than potential evaporation (Clark, 2010; Pearsall, 1965). Although peatlands have had a net cooling effect on the planet, they do export large quantities of carbon to freshwaters as Particulate Organic Carbon (POC) and Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC). DOC is generally the largest aquatic carbon flux from a peatland (Billett et al., 2006; Dinsmore et al., 2013) and it is important to include DOC when calculating the carbon budget of a peatland (Billett et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2008; Freeman et al., 2001a; Limpens et al., 2008). DOC is a key component of the global carbon cycle (Evans et al., 2006), as it connects the terrestrial and aquatic biogeochemical cycles. Globally, 0.25–0.45 Gt C/year of DOC is transported from rivers to the world's oceans (Cole et al., 2007; Hedges et al., 1997). The downstream export of DOC from a peatland plays a key role in the redistribution and balance of carbon (Arnosti et al., 2003). In aquatic ecosystems, the transfer of carbon from terrestrial peatlands to downstream locations has a significant influence on water quality (Lennon et al., 2013; Wallage et al., 2010). DOC influences visible and ultraviolet light penetration into freshwater systems due to colouration of the water (Evans et al., 2005), which affects the biological functioning of the water body.

The discharge of surface water from a peatland is mostly dependent on the rate of water flow, seepage through upper peat layers and hydrological properties of peat (Holden *et al.*, 2003; Worrall *et al.*, 2002). The production of DOC is greatest from decomposing vegetation at the peat surface and the majority of DOC exported from an undisturbed peatland is relatively 'young' (Billett, *et al.*, 2007; Blodau *et al.*, 2004; Schiff *et al.*, 1998). Export of DOC from a catchment depends on concentration and discharge (Hope *et al.*, 1997). High runoff results in high DOC export and vice versa (Holden *et al.*, 2005; Scott *et al.*, 1998). When a peatland experiences drought conditions, which occur naturally due

to seasonal rainfall patterns and are expected to increase in frequency due to climate change (Roulet *et al.*, 1992), decomposition of the peat matrix is stimulated to the extent that the peatland can become a net source of carbon (Freeman *et al.*, 1998). When the water table falls, the peat is exposed to oxygen, opening the enzymic latch and stimulating decomposition of the peat matrix to carbon dioxide (Freeman *et al.*, 2001b). Drought reduces surface runoff and therefore the export of DOC (Moore *et al.*, 1998), but DOC production can increase in the aerated zone due to the oxidation of the peat matrix and can be removed by leaching during a wetter period (Blodau *et al.*, 2004). With climate change, water table drawdown is expected to have a greater impact on DOC export than warming (Lou *et al.*, 2014).

In North America and Europe, long term observations show that DOC concentrations have increased in freshwaters in recent decades (Driscoll *et al.*, 2003; Hejzlar *et al.*, 2003; Monteith *et al.*, 2007; Stoddard *et al.*, 2003). Freeman *et al.* (2001a) estimated that in the United Kingdom from 1988-2000, DOC in stream and lake catchments increased by 65%. Increased DOC concentrations in rivers could be indicative of a translocation of terrestrial carbon in peat soils (Limpens *et al.*, 2008) due to climate change. In peatlands the water table has been lowered by human activities such as drainage for agriculture and the effects of global climate change (Aertsde *et al.*, 1999; Moore and Dalva *et al.*, 1993; Price, *et al.*, 2003). The lowering of the water table impairs carbon storage and ecosystem stability in peatlands (Pastor *et al.*, 2003). In the UK, climate projections for the 21<sup>st</sup> century indicate an overall increase in temperatures and change in the distribution of rainfall with wetter winters and warmer, drier summers (Hulme, 2002; Jenkins, 2009). This may affect the ability of UK peatlands to retain peat and affect the extent to which they export aquatic DOC (Hossell *et al.*, 2000).

Increasing DOC concentrations are a concern for the water industry for a number of reasons. Firstly, the cost to produce clean drinking water will increase, as DOC removal is a key component of water treatment processes; secondly, disinfection by-products, principally trihalomethanes (THMs), are produced due to reactions between chlorine and DOC (Rook *et al.*, 1974) and thirdly, the presence of extra DOC in the distribution system increases the demand for residual chlorine to protect the finished water from biological contamination (Hsu *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, understanding how peatlands may react due to drought in terms of DOC export is currently an important area of research. This study measured the effect of prolonged drought in a peatland catchment on porewater DOC concentrations and quality and the propensity of the DOC to form THMs following chlorination.

We hypothesise that the experimental field-scale peatland drought will a) lower the concentration of DOC and b) change the characteristics of DOC to make it more likely to form THMs compared to a control site with a natural water table.

## 3.3. Methods

#### 3.3.1. Study site and experimental treatment

Sampling was performed at a long-term experimental site in mid-Wales, UK, that has been the location for several studies on the impacts of drought on peatland carbon cycling (Freeman *et al.*, 1998). The site is located within the Cerrig-yr-Wyn catchment, Plynlimon (UK Nat. Grid Ref. SN 82008 86571). The characteristics of the site are a discontinuous series of peat-accumulating wetlands (length 30 m, wide 5 m) which are dominated by *Sphagnum* and *Juncus* species. In 1995, a large area of the catchment (30 m x 5 m) was droughted by diverting surface water flow elsewhere. An area roughly the same size with similar characteristics was left undisturbed to act as a control.

Ten rhizon (10 cm) porewater samplers (Rhizosphere Research Products, Wageningen, the Netherlands) were installed at both the control and droughted sites, in a 10 m transect at approximately 1 m intervals. The first samples were taken in March 2014 and sampling continued monthly until September 2014. Twenty ml of pore water was extracted using syringes, capped and transported carefully back to the laboratory.

pH and conductivity were measured in the laboratory on an unfiltered aliquot of the original sample on the day of sampling. pH was measured using a SevenEasy pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Leicester, UK). The device was calibrated using buffers of pH 4 and 7 at 25°C (Sigma). Conductivity was measured with a Primo 5 conductivity meter (Hanna Instruments, Bedfordshire, UK). All samples were then filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m cellulose acetate filters and refrigerated at 4°C until further analysis was undertaken.

# 3.3.2. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

Concentrations of DOC were determined using a Thermalox TC/TN analyser (Analytical Sciences Ltd, Cambridge, UK), which is a combustion and infrared detection based technique. For DOC, samples were acidified to pH <3 prior to analysis to remove inorganic carbon using 10 M HCl. The instrument was calibrated with potassium hydrogen phthalate standards. The injection volume was 15  $\mu$ L and oven temperature 680°C. Results were corrected if standard solutions deviated by 10% or more from the correct concentration.

### 3.3.3. Phenolic compounds

The phenolic component of DOC was determined using a method modified from Box (1983), adapted for  $300 \ \mu$ L microplate wells. A calibration curve was generated using a series of phenol

51

standard solutions ranging in concentration from 0.5 - 10 mg/L. The assay product was detected by measuring the absorbance at 750 nm on a Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Wokingham, UK).

#### 3.3.4. UV/visible absorption

SUVA is used as an indicator of overall DOC quality i.e. molecular weight and aromaticity. SUVA was calculated by dividing the absorbance value at 254 nm (measured using a 1 cm quartz cuvette on the Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer) by the DOC concentration (mg/L) (Potter, 2003). High SUVA (more than 4 L/mg/m) indicates high humic content with hydrophobic character (aromatic) and low SUVA (less than 4 L/mg/m) indicates more hydrophilic content with reduced aromatic character (Goslan *et al.*, 2002).

### 3.3.5. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)

The standard trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) analysis was used to determine the concentration of THMs that can be formed per unit DOC under ideal conditions, to give an indication of the reactivity of DOC with chlorine and its propensity to form THMs. A modified version of the THMFP test detailed in Nieuwenhuijsen et al. (2000) was used. In this study, samples were diluted to 1 mg/L DOC in order to derive a standardised THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value (STHMFP<sub>7d</sub>) which provides a measure of DOC reactivity. A THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value was then calculated by multiplying STHMFP<sub>7d</sub> by DOC concentration. 97.5 mL of diluted sample was dosed with 2.0 mL of 0.5 M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> to buffer the solution to pH 6.8. Samples were then dosed with 0.5 mL of NaOCl to provide 5 mg of free Cl per mg of DOC. The solution was transferred to a 100 mL amber glass bottle and incubated in the dark at 25°C for 7 days to allow the reaction between organic carbon and chlorine to occur. After 7 days incubation, the reaction was quenched by adding 0.4 mL of 0.8 M Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> to 14.6 mL of incubated sample. This solution was then transferred to a 22 mL amber headspace vial and analysed by the following method. The concentration of THMs was measured using a solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) technique similar to that described by Sarrión et al. (2000). The technique uses a Varian GC 450, a Restek MX 1 column (diphenyl/dimethyl polysiloxane phase, 30m length, 0.53 mm i.d.), N₂ carrier gas at a flow rate of 10 mL/min and a <sup>63</sup>Ni Electron Capture Detector. The oven temperature was held at 35°C for 9 minutes and then increased at a rate of 10°C /minute to 140°C and held for 2 minutes and finally increased to 180°C and held for 3 minutes. The injector temperature was 290°C and the detector temperature 300°C. THM calibration solutions were made from a stock solution containing 2000 µg/mL of each of the 4 THMs; chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), bromodichloromethane (CHBrCl<sub>2</sub>), dibromochloromethane
(CHBr<sub>2</sub>Cl), and bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>) (Sigma). A series of standard solutions were then prepared ranging from 1-500  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 3.3.6. Statistical analyses

The effect of one factor; Treatment (2 levels; Control and Drought) was determined on the time averaged data for each measured parameter using one-way ANOVA. If a significant effect was found for a given parameter, significant effects at each time point were tested for using t tests. Most data met the homogeneity and normality assumptions, which were tested using the Bartlett and Shapiro Wilk tests, but those that did not were log-transformed. All statistical analyses were run in R v3.3.1.

#### 3.4. Results

All data are presented as a series of graphs (Figures 3.1-3.8), with a boxplot displaying the average, median and quartile data for both treatments over the entire course of the experiment and, if a significant treatment effect was found, a line graph showing the data as a time series.



Figure 3.1. (left) – Boxplot for pH (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for pH (Error bars are presented as  $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a \* (p<0.05).



Figure 3.2. (left) – Boxplot for conductivity (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for conductivity (Error bars are presented as  $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a \* (p<0.05).



Figure 3.3. (left) – Boxplot for DOC (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for DOC (Error bars are presented as  $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a \* (p<0.05).



Figure 3.4. (left) – Boxplot for phenolics (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) –Time series graph for phenolics (Error bars are presented as  $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a \* (p<0.05).



Figure 3.5. (left) – Boxplot for SUVA (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) and (right) – Time series graph for SUVA (Error bars are presented as  $\pm$ SEM). A significant difference between the Control and Drought treatments is indicated by a \* (p<0.05).



Figure 3.6. (left) – Boxplot for CHCl<sub>3</sub> (Diamond symbols indicate mean values) Figure 3.7. (right) – Boxplot for % DOC as Phenolics (Diamond symbols indicate mean values)



Figure 3.8. Boxplot for Soil % water (Diamond symbols indicate mean values)

All samples were acidic throughout the sampling period. There was a significant main effect on pH (F=8.29, p<0.01; Figure 3.1a), with the mean pH of the control being  $5.41 \pm 0.04$  and the drought being  $5.10 \pm 0.08$ . The only individual month when the treatments differed significantly was the 3<sup>rd</sup> of July, when the drought pH was 1.1 units lower than the control (p<0.001; Figure 3.1b). pH values were generally higher in the spring period before declining in summer and autumn. There was a significant main effect on conductivity (F=8.42, p<0.01; Figure 3.2a), with the mean of the control being 26.72 ±

1.78  $\mu$ S/cm and the drought being 31.1 ± 1.19  $\mu$ S/cm. The conductivity of the drought treatment was significantly higher than the control on two sampling occasions; 3<sup>rd</sup> and 16<sup>th</sup> of July (p<0.05), and significantly lower on the 11<sup>th</sup> of September (p<0.01; Figure 3.2b). There wasn't a clear seasonal variation in the conductivity for either treatment. There was a significant main effect on DOC (F=4.93, p<0.05; Figure 3.3a), with the mean DOC concentration of the control being  $14.1 \pm 0.77$  mg/L and the drought being  $11.9 \pm 0.45$  mg/L. The DOC concentration of the control treatment was significantly higher than the drought on four sampling occasions; 19<sup>th</sup> of April, 3<sup>rd</sup> of June, 16<sup>th</sup> of July and 11<sup>th</sup> of September (p<0.05; Figure 3.3b). There wasn't a clear seasonal variation in the DOC concentration for either treatment. There was a significant main effect on phenolics (F=5.16, p<0.05; Figure 3.4a), with the mean concentration of the control being  $2.00 \pm 0.12$  mg/L and the drought being  $1.64 \pm 0.09$  mg/L. The phenolic concentration of the drought treatment was significantly lower than the control on three sampling occasions; 19<sup>th</sup> of May, 3<sup>rd</sup> of June and 16<sup>th</sup> of July (p<0.05; Figure 3.4b). Unlike DOC, there was a clear seasonal variation in phenolics; concentrations increased throughout the spring, peaked in late summer and declined again in September. There was a significant main effect on SUVA (F=4.69, p<0.05; Figure 3.5a), with the mean SUVA of the control being  $2.02 \pm 0.13$  L/mg/m and the drought being  $1.69 \pm 0.09$  L/mg/m. The SUVA of the drought treatment was significantly lower than the control on one sampling occasion; 3<sup>rd</sup> of June (p<0.05; Figure 3.5b). There wasn't a clear seasonal variation in the SUVA for either treatment.

Chloroform was the dominant THM species produced during the laboratory THMFP test, therefore we have focused on this species only. There was no significant main effect on CHCl<sub>3</sub>-FP (chloroform formation potential) (p>0.05; Figure 3.6). The control treatment averaged  $48.6 \pm 5.57 \mu g/mg$  DOC and the drought  $42.7 \pm 4.89 \mu g/mg$  DOC. There was also no significant effect on the 'percentage of DOC as phenolics' (p>0.05; Figure 3.7), with the control treatment averaging  $14.0 \pm 0.72$  % and the drought  $13.5 \pm 0.52$  %. There was a significant main effect on soil water content (F=195.65, p<0.001; Figure 3.8). The Control treatment averaged  $94.1 \pm 0.12$  % and the Drought  $85.5 \pm 0.51$  %.

### 3.5. Discussion

The location for this study was a long-term experimental site in the UK, where several studies have addressed the impact of drought conditions on peatland carbon cycling (Freeman *et al.*, 1998; Freeman *et al.*, 2004). Part of the site was droughted in the mid-1990s and the soil moisture data collected during 2014 for this study shows that the drought treatment is still functioning effectively (Figure 3.8). Soil water content averaged 94.1% for the control site and 84.1% for the drought site, a difference of exactly 10%. Such a difference would have important implications for biogeochemical and carbon cycling in the peat soil and the maintenance of drought conditions

for over twenty years enables the study of long-term drought of a peatland catchment. In this study, significant differences in porewater DOC concentration and quality were observed between the control and drought treatments.

The concentration of DOC was significantly lower in the drought compared to the control treatment. This finding agrees with the study of (Freeman et al., 2004; Clark et al., 2012), that long-term drought of a peatland decreases porewater DOC. However it is important to acknowledge that some studies have recorded increased DOC in drought (Fenner et al., 2009; Lou et al., 2014; Strack et al., 2008; Worrall et al., 2004). The decrease in DOC and phenolics due to drought in this study can be attributed to oxygenation and improved conditions for decomposition in the soil. The reduced concentration of phenolic compounds in the pore water of the droughted peat will presumably be due to an increase in the activity of phenol oxidase (Lin et al., 2012). Oxygenated conditions in the drought treatment will have resulted in the complete breakdown of soil organic matter to CO<sub>2</sub>, rather than incomplete breakdown to DOC, due to the opening of the enzymic latch (Fenner and Freeman, 2011; Freeman et al., 2001b), explaining the reduction in DOC we observed. Another reason why we observed a decrease in DOC in the drought treatment may be related to temperature. A slightly higher soil temperature (data not shown) was recorded in the drought treatment because the soil was drier. This may be allowing microbial and enzymic decomposition processes to be happening at a faster rate, leading to accelerated breakdown of DOC. However, it is also important to consider that higher temperatures can contribute to increased DOC production by increasing microbial and invertebrate activity, and therefore the rate of organic matter decomposition in soils (Cole et al. 2002; Fenner et al. 2001; Fenner, et al. 2005; Freeman et al. 2001a; Scanlon and Moor, 2000: Worrall et al., 2008). The phenolics trend demonstrated an autumn flush for both treatments. Increasing phenolics concentrations during the autumn may be due to a combination of vegetation death within the catchment and increased rainfall (Dawson et al., 2008; Scott et al., 2001). Specific Ultra Violet Absorbance (SUVA), which indicates the relative degree of aromaticity (Leenheer and Croue 2003), was used as the main indicator of DOC quality in this study.

SUVA values were significantly lower in the drought treatment. This again provides evidence that under drought conditions there is enhanced microbial breakdown of organic matter and DOC, explaining the reduced SUVA values measured in this study.

The pH of the pore water was significantly lower in the drought treatment compared to the control, particularly in the summer/autumn half of the study. This could be due to greater oxidation of sulphides, which tend to dominate waterlogged soils (Ponnamperuma *et al.*, 1972). Conductivity in the pore water was significantly higher in the drought treatment compared to the

57

control. This may be due to organic matter mineralisation under oxygenated conditions (Fierer *et al.*, 2007; Philipp and Schink 2012; Winsborough, 2010).

## 3.6. Conclusion

Long-term drought of a peatland has had a strong impact on porewater DOC, with reduced concentration and a shift in quality to lower molecular weight and aromaticity. Despite this, we did not observe a significant change in THMFP. Therefore, part a) of our hypothesis was correct but part b) was not. The observed differences are likely to be due to oxygenated conditions in the drought treatment. This will be leading to enhanced decomposition of both soil organic matter and the existing pool of DOC.

## 3.7. References

Aerts, R. & de Caluwe, H. 1999, "Nitrogen deposition effects on carbon dioxide and methane emissions from temperate peatland soils", *Oikos*, , pp. 44-54.

Arnosti, C. & Holmer, M. 2003, "Carbon cycling in a continental margin sediment: contrasts between organic matter characteristics and remineralization rates and pathways", *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 197-208.

Ausec, L., Van Elsas, J.D. & Mandic-Mulec, I. 2011, "Two-and three-domain bacterial laccase-like genes are present in drained peat soils", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 975-983.

Billett, M., Palmer, S., Hope, D., Deacon, C., Storeton-West, R., Hargreaves, K., Flechard, C. & Fowler, D. 2004, "Linking land-atmosphere-stream carbon fluxes in a lowland peatland system", *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, vol. 18, no. 1.

Billett, M.F., Deacon, C.M., Palmer, S.M., Dawson, J.J. & Hope, D. 2006, "Connecting organic carbon in stream water and soils in a peatland catchment", *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, vol. 111, no. G2.

Billett, M.F., Garnett, M.H. & Harvey, F. 2007, "UK peatland streams release old carbon dioxide to the atmosphere and young dissolved organic carbon to rivers", *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 34, no. 23.

Blodau, C., Basiliko, N. & Moore, T.R. 2004, "Carbon turnover in peatland mesocosms exposed to different water table levels", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 331-351.

Box, J. 1983, "Investigation of the Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters", *Water research*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 511-525.

Bridgham, S.D., Pastor, J., Janssens, J.A., Chapin, C. & Malterer, T.J. 1996, "Multiple limiting gradients in peatlands: a call for a new paradigm", *Wetlands*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 45-65.

Chen, H., Yao, S., Wu, N., Wang, Y., Luo, P., Tian, J., Gao, Y. & Sun, G. 2008, "Determinants influencing seasonal variations of methane emissions from alpine wetlands in Zoige Plateau and their implications", *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres,* vol. 113, no. D12.

Clark, J., Heinemeyer, A., Martin, P. & Bottrell, S. 2012, "Processes controlling DOC in pore water during simulated drought cycles in six different UK peats", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 109, no. 1-3, pp. 253-270.

Clark, J.M., Gallego-Sala, A.V., Allott, T., Chapman, S., Farewell, T., Freeman, C., House, J., Orr, H.G., Prentice, I.C. & Smith, P. 2010, "Assessing the vulnerability of blanket peat to climate change using an ensemble of statistical bioclimatic envelope models", .

Clymo, R. 1984, "The limits to peat bog growth", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 303, no. 1117, pp. 605-654.

Cole, J.J., Prairie, Y.T., Caraco, N.F., McDowell, W.H., Tranvik, L.J., Striegl, R.G., Duarte, C.M., Kortelainen, P., Downing, J.A. & Middelburg, J.J. 2007, "Plumbing the global carbon cycle: integrating inland waters into the terrestrial carbon budget", *Ecosystems*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 172-185.

Cole, L., Bardgett, R.D., Ineson, P. & Adamson, J.K. 2002, "Relationships between enchytraeid worms (Oligochaeta), climate change, and the release of dissolved organic carbon from blanket peat in northern England", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 599-607.

Dawson, J., Soulsby, C., Tetzlaff, D., Hrachowitz, M., Dunn, S. & Malcolm, I. 2008, "Influence of hydrology and seasonality on DOC exports from three contrasting upland catchments", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 93-113.

Dinsmore, K., Billett, M. & Dyson, K. 2013, "Temperature and precipitation drive temporal variability in aquatic carbon and GHG concentrations and fluxes in a peatland catchment", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 2133-2148.

Driscoll, C.T., Driscoll, K.M., Roy, K.M. & Mitchell, M.J. 2003, "Chemical response of lakes in the Adirondack region of New York to declines in acidic deposition", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 2036-2042.

Edzwald, J.K., Becker, W.C. & Wattier, K.L. 1985, "Surrogate parameters for monitoring organic matter and THM precursors", *Journal (American Water Works Association)*, pp. 122-132.

Evans, C., Monteith, D. & Cooper, D. 2005, "Long-term increases in surface water dissolved organic carbon: observations, possible causes and environmental impacts", *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 55-71.

Evans, C.D., Chapman, P.J., Clark, J.M., Monteith, D.T. & Cresser, M.S. 2006, "Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 2044-2053.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C., Hughes, S. & Reynolds, B. 2001, "Molecular weight spectra of dissolved organic carbon in a rewetted Welsh peatland and possible implications for water quality", *Soil Use and Management*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 106-112.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C. & Reynolds, B. 2005, "Observations of a seasonally shifting thermal optimum in peatland carbon-cycling processes; implications for the global carbon cycle and soil enzyme methodologies", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 1814-1821.

Fenner, N. & Freeman, C. 2011, "Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands", *Nature geoscience*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 895-900.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C. & Worrall, F. 2009, "Hydrological controls on dissolved organic carbon production and release from UK peatlands", *Carbon cycling in northern peatlands*, , pp. 237-249.

Fierer, N., Bradford, M.A. & Jackson, R.B. 2007, "Toward an ecological classification of soil bacteria", *Ecology*, vol. 88, no. 6, pp. 1354-1364.

Freeman, C., Evans, C., Monteith, D., Reynolds, B. & Fenner, N. 2001, "Export of organic carbon from peat soils", *Nature*, vol. 412, no. 6849, pp. 785-785.

Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Ostle, N., Kang, H., Dowrick, D., Reynolds, B., Lock, M., Sleep, D., Hughes, S. & Hudson, J. 2004, "Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels", *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 6996, pp. 195-198.

Freeman, C., Nevison, G., Hughes, S., Reynolds, B. & Hudson, J. 1998, "Enzymic involvement in the biogeochemical responses of a Welsh peatland to a rainfall enhancement manipulation", *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 173-178.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N. & Kang, H. 2001, "An enzymic'latch'on a global carbon store", *Nature*, vol. 409, no. 6817, pp. 149-149.

Goslan, E.H., Fearing, D.A., Banks, J., Wilson, D., Hills, P., Campbell, A.T. & Parsons, S.A. 2002, "Seasonal variations in the disinfection by-product precursor profile of a reservoir water", *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 475-482.

Hedges, J., Keil, R. & Benner, R. 1997, "What happens to terrestrial organic matter in the ocean?", *Organic Geochemistry*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 195-212.

Hejzlar, J., Dubrovský, M., Buchtele, J. & Růžička, M. 2003, "The apparent and potential effects of climate change on the inferred concentration of dissolved organic matter in a temperate stream (the Malše River, South Bohemia)", *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 310, no. 1, pp. 143-152.

Holden, J. & Burt, T. 2003, "Hydrological studies on blanket peat: the significance of the acrotelm-catotelm model", *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 86-102.

Holden, J. 2005, "Peatland hydrology and carbon release: why small-scale process matters", *Philosophical transactions.Series A, Mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences,* vol. 363, no. 1837, pp. 2891-2913.

Hope, D., Billett, M.F., Milne, R. & Brown, T.A. 1997, "Exports of organic carbon in British rivers", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 325-344.

Hossell, J., Briggs, B. & Hepburn, I. 2000, *Climate Change and UK Nature Conservation: A review of the impact of climate change on UK species and habitat conservation policy,* Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.

Hsu, C., Jeng, W., Chang, R., Chien, L. & Han, B. 2001, "Estimation of potential lifetime cancer risks for trihalomethanes from consuming chlorinated drinking water in Taiwan", *Environmental research*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 77-82.

Hughes, S., Reynolds, B., Norris, D.A., Brittain, S.A., Dere, A.L., Woods, C., Armstrong, L.K., Harman, S.A. & Wickham, H.D. 2012, "Recovery of sulfate saturated soils in the Plynlimon catchments, mid-Wales following reductions in atmospheric S inputs from the 1980s to 2011", *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 1531-1541.

Hulme, M. 2002, *Climate change scenarios for the United Kingdom: the UKCIP02 scientific report*, Tyndall Centre for Climate Mental Sciences University.

Jenkins, G.J. 2009, UK climate projections: briefing report, Met Office Hadley Centre.

Kitis, M., Karanfil, T., Wigton, A. & Kilduff, J.E. 2002, "Probing reactivity of dissolved organic matter for disinfection by-product formation using XAD-8 resin adsorption and ultrafiltration fractionation", *Water research*, vol. 36, no. 15, pp. 3834-3848.

Leenheer, J.A. & Croué, J. 2003, Peer reviewed: characterizing aquatic dissolved organic matter, .

Lennon, J.T., Hamilton, S.K., Muscarella, M.E., Grandy, A.S., Wickings, K. & Jones, S.E. 2013, "A source of terrestrial organic carbon to investigate the browning of aquatic ecosystems", *PloS one*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. e75771.

Limpens, J., Berendse, F., Blodau, C., Canadell, J., Freeman, C., Holden, J., Roulet, N., Rydin, H. & Schaepman-Strub, G. 2008, "Peatlands and the carbon cycle: from local processes to global implications–a synthesis", *Biogeosciences*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 1475-1491.

Lin, X., Green, S., Tfaily, M.M., Prakash, O., Konstantinidis, K.T., Corbett, J.E., Chanton, J.P., Cooper, W.T. & Kostka, J.E. 2012, "Microbial community structure and activity linked to contrasting biogeochemical gradients in bog and fen environments of the Glacial Lake Agassiz Peatland", *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 78, no. 19, pp. 7023-7031.

Lou, X., Zhai, S., Kang, B., Hu, Y. & Hu, L. 2014, "Rapid response of hydrological loss of DOC to water table drawdown and warming in Zoige peatland: results from a mesocosm experiment", *PloS one*, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. e109861.

Monteith, D.T., Stoddard, J.L., Evans, C.D., De Wit, H.A., Forsius, M., Høgåsen, T., Wilander, A., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Jeffries, D.S. & Vuorenmaa, J. 2007, "Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry", *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7169, pp. 537-540.

Moore, T. & Dalva, M. 1993, "The influence of temperature and water table position on carbon dioxide and methane emissions from laboratory columns of peatland soils", *Journal of Soil Science*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 651-664.

Moore, T., Roulet, N. & Waddington, J. 1998, "Uncertainty in predicting the effect of climatic change on the carbon cycling of Canadian peatlands", *Climatic Change*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 229-245.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J., Toledano, M.B., Eaton, N.E., Fawell, J. & Elliott, P. 2000, "Chlorination disinfection byproducts in water and their association with adverse reproductive outcomes: a review", *Occupational and environmental medicine*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 73-85.

Page, S.E., Rieley, J.O. & Banks, C.J. 2011, "Global and regional importance of the tropical peatland carbon pool", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 798-818.

Pastor, J., Solin, J., Bridgham, S.D., Updegraff, K., Harth, C., Weishampel, P. & Dewey, B. 2003, "Global warming and the export of dissolved organic carbon from boreal peatlands", *Oikos*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 380-386.

Pearsall, W. 1956, "Two blanket-bogs in Sutherland", *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 493-516.

Philipp, B. & Schink, B. 2012, "Different strategies in anaerobic biodegradation of aromatic compounds: nitrate reducers versus strict anaerobes", *Environmental microbiology reports*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 469-478.

Ponnamperuma, F.N. 1972, "The chemistry of submerged soils", *Advances in Agronomy*, vol. 24, pp. 29-96.

Potter, b. 2003, "Determination of Total Organic Carbon and specific UV absorbance at 254nm in source water and drinking water–Method 415-3", US Environmental Protection Agency, .

Price, J.S. 2003, "Role and character of seasonal peat soil deformation on the hydrology of undisturbed and cutover peatlands", *Water Resources Research*, vol. 39, no. 9.

Rook, J.J. 1974, "Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters", *Water Treat.Exam.*, vol. 23, pp. 234-243.

Roulet, N., Moore, T., Bubier, J. & Lafleur, P. 1992, "Northern fens: methane flux and climatic change", *Tellus B*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 100-105.

Rydin, H. & Jeglum, J. K. *The Biology of Peatlands* 230–233 (Oxford Univ. Press, 2006)

Sarrión, M., Santos, F. & Galceran, M. 2000, "In situ derivatization/solid-phase microextraction for the determination of haloacetic acids in water", *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 72, no. 20, pp. 4865-4873.

Scanlon, D. & Moore, T. 2000, "Carbon dioxide production from peatland soil profiles: the influence of temperature, oxic/anoxic conditions and substrate", *Soil Science*, vol. 165, no. 2, pp. 153-160.

Schiff, S., Aravena, R., Mewhinney, E., Elgood, R., Warner, B., Dillon, P. & Trumbore, S. 1998, "Precambrian shield wetlands: hydrologic control of the sources and export of dissolved organic matter", *Climatic Change*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 167-188.

Scott, M., Jones, M., Woof, C. & Tipping, E. 1998, "Concentrations and fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in drainage water from an upland peat system", *Environment international*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 537-546.

Scott, M., Jones, M., Woof, C., Simon, B. & Tipping, E. 2001, "The molecular properties of humic substances isolated from a UK upland peat system: a temporal investigation", *Environment international*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 449-462.

Stoddard, J.L., Kahl, J.S., Deviney, F.A., DeWalle, D.R., Driscoll, C.T., Herlihy, A.T., Kellogg, J.H., Murdoch, P.S., Webb, J.R. & Webster, K.E. 2003, "Response of surface water chemistry to the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990", *Research Triangle Park (NC): US Environmental Protection Agency*, .

Strack, M., Waddington, J., Bourbonniere, R., Buckton, E., Shaw, K., Whittington, P. & Price, J. 2008, "Effect of water table drawdown on peatland dissolved organic carbon export and dynamics", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 22, no. 17, pp. 3373-3385.

Volk, C., Wood, L., Johnson, B., Robinson, J., Zhu, H.W. & Kaplan, L. 2002, "Monitoring dissolved organic carbon in surface and drinking waters", *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 43-47.

Wallage, Z. & Holden, J. 2010, "Spatial and temporal variability in the relationship between water colour and dissolved organic carbon in blanket peat pore waters", *Science of the total environment*, vol. 408, no. 24, pp. 6235-6242.

Wieder, R.K. & Vitt, D.H. 2006, *Boreal peatland ecosystems*, Springer Science & Business Media.

Winsborough, C. & Basiliko, N. 2010, "Fungal and bacterial activity in northern peatlands", *Geomicrobiology Journal*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 315-320.

Worrall, F., Burt, T., Jaeban, R., Warburton, J. & Shedden, R. 2002, "Release of dissolved organic carbon from upland peat", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 16, no. 17, pp. 3487-3504.

Worrall, F., Burt, T. & Adamson, J. 2004, "Can climate change explain increases in DOC flux from upland peat catchments?", *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 326, no. 1–3, pp. 95-112.

Worrall, F., Burt, T. & Adamson, J. 2008, "Long-term records of dissolved organic carbon flux from peat-covered catchments: evidence for a drought effect?", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 22, no. 16, pp. 3181-3193.

# Chapter 4: Laboratory experiment investigating the effects of Peatland Drought on Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) and Trihalomethane (THM) Formation

## 4.1. Abstract

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) present in freshwaters that are used as sources of drinking water acts as a precursor to potentially harmful carcinogenic compounds following disinfection treatment. The rising DOC trend observed in many surface waters therefore poses a threat to human health as it may lead to increased disinfection by-product (DBP) production if treatment processes are not improved. Drought conditions are known to affect the ability of peatlands to retain carbon and previous studies have demonstrated that drought can affect the export of DOC from peatlands to freshwaters. In this study, we examine the effect of drought on the porewater DOC concentrations and characteristics of two contrasting types of peatland, fen and bog. We observe lower DOC concentrations in the peat cores subject to a drought treatment, but greater trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) values, indicating that the drought changes the characteristics of the DOC to make it more likely to form DBPs.

#### 4.2. Introduction

Carbon is the key constituent of natural organic matter (NOM), therefore NOM is often referred to as either dissolved or particulate organic carbon (DOC/POC). The analytical techniques used to quantify and characterise organic matter in freshwaters are usually based on measuring the carbon in NOM. DOC is the dominant form of organic carbon in freshwaters, usually comprising 90% of total organic carbon (Jones and Mulholland, 1998). It is derived from the cycling of carbon between the terrestrial environment and the atmosphere. Organic carbon present in soil can be transferred to freshwaters during rainfall and this is generally the dominant source of DOC in rivers, streams and lakes globally (allochthonous DOC). It is common to observe strong correlations between lake DOC concentrations and the size of the lake's catchment. DOC is also produced within freshwaters by algae and microorganisms (autochthonous DOC). Freshwaters with a high concentration of DOC will usually be coloured brown due to the presence of humic substances which strongly absorb ultraviolet and visible light. The contribution from each source varies on a seasonal basis; allochthonous DOC inputs are greatest during the late summer/autumn period whilst autochthonous DOC production peaks in the summer months, when temperatures and light levels are greatest. Therefore freshwater DOC concentrations tend to peak in September-October when the contribution from both sources is high. On average globally, allochthonous sources tend to dominate DOC inputs over autochthonous sources (Manny and Wetzel, 1973).

One of the most important factors controlling the DOC concentration of a freshwater stream, river or lake is the soil type within its catchment. Peatlands play a key role in influencing the DOC concentration of freshwaters, particularly in temperate regions of the northern hemisphere where most peatlands exist. Peat soils export high concentrations of DOC, because the soil is carbon rich and precipitation is high in areas where peat is located, so there is a continual flush of DOC rich waters.

There are two main types of peatland; bog and fen, which are differentiated according to the way they receive water. Bogs receive all their water from precipitation and are therefore nutrient poor and acidic. Fens receive water from precipitation and other more nutrient rich sources, such as groundwater and drainage from surrounding mineral soils and therefore have a more neutral pH (Mitsch and Gosselink, 2000).

There is significant evidence that the concentration of DOC in many freshwater environments in the northern hemisphere is increasing. Freeman et al. (2001a) reported that from 1988 to 2000 DOC increased by 65% on average in streams and lakes in the UK. There is also evidence of this increasing trend in other parts of Europe and North America (Evans et al., 2006; Monteith et al.,

66

2007). The rising DOC trend has been attributed to increasing temperature (Freeman et al., 2001b), atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations (Freeman et al., 2004) and more frequent droughts and reduced acid deposition (Fenner and Freeman, 2011). These changes can lead to peatlands changing from carbon sinks to carbon sources (Evans et al., 2012).

As peatlands export large amounts of DOC to freshwaters they have an important influence on the production of drinking water. In the UK, many catchments used to source drinking water contain peat and are therefore high in DOC. The presence of DOC is not harmful to humans, but when water containing DOC is treated with disinfectant, usually chlorine, potentially harmful disinfection by-products (DBPs) may be produced, which can lead to cancer (Sketchell et al., 1995). The most common DBP's are the trihalomethanes (THMs), which are simple derivatives of methane formed when 3 of the hydrogen atoms are replaced by a halogen (Peterson et al., 1993). Final DBP concentrations depend on concentration of DOC, chlorine concentration, water temperature and pH (Rodrigues et al., 2007).

Regulatory bodies have set limits for final water DBP concentrations because of the potential effects on human health. In the UK, the limit for the sum of the four trihalomethane compounds is 100  $\mu$ g/L due to the carcinogenic effect of these compounds.

Peatlands may be affected by climate change through the lowering of the water table (Roulet et al., 2007). A number of processes affect the export of DOC from peatlands including lowering of the water table which is known to destabilise peat and lead to increased release of DOC to freshwaters (Strack et al., 2008). However, there has been little work undertaken to investigate how a lowering of the water table changes the characteristics of DOC, and what the implications of this are for DBP production which has prompted the study described herein.

#### 4.3. Methods

#### 4.3.1. Experimental design and study sites

This experiment used mesocosms of peat to investigate the impacts of a controlled drought on DOC and how readily the DOC forms THMs. Twenty peat cores were collected from two locations in North Wales in June 2013; 10 each from Migneint bog and Cors Erddreiniog fen. The Mignent (grid ref SH7795942829) is the largest blanket bog in North Wales and Cors Erddreiniog (grid ref SH4715882581) is the largest area of fen on the island of Anglesey.

Each core was 20 cm wide and 50 cm deep. The cores were collected by inserting a cylindrical PVC drainpipe carefully into the soil to minimise disturbance of the vegetation and extracting once the

vegetation was just above the top surface of the core. The cores were kept in a controlled temperature room (9-10°C), each in separate buckets, until the experiment began. The water table was maintained at the same height as it was when the cores were collected. Holes were installed in the side of the cores for water sampling at depths 5 cm and 20 cm below the surface. 10 cm rhizon porewater samplers (Rhizosphere Research Products, Wageningen, The Netherlands) were inserted into these holes for sampling soil porewaters.

#### 4.3.2. Treatment regime

A roughting treatment was applied to half of the cores from each soil type by removing water from the external bucket to lower the water table in the cores. This was initiated on 23<sup>rd</sup> September 2013 (day 0). The water table steadily declined until it reached 20 cm below the surface on 25<sup>th</sup> of November 2013 (day 63), where it remained stable until 30th December 2013. It was then increased steadily back to the surface, reaching this position on 12<sup>th</sup> February 2014. The water table was maintained at the original height for the other half of the cores (the control treatment). There were 5 replicate cores for each of the 4 treatments. Soil pore water samples were extracted from the cores on 6 dates; 10<sup>th</sup> November 2013 and 5<sup>th</sup> December 2013 and 10<sup>th</sup> January, 21<sup>st</sup> January, 13<sup>th</sup> February and 22<sup>nd</sup> February 2014. Some of the 5 cm samples for the drought cores during the peak of the drought could not be collected as the soil was too dry.

#### 4.3.3. Analytical techniques

All samples were analysed for pH and conductivity on the same day as collection, 20 ml of sample was filtered through 0.45 µm syringe filters (Triple Red, Buckinghamshire, UK) into acid-washed 20 ml plastic vials and refrigerated at 4°C until further analysis was undertaken. Samples were analysed for DOC, phenolics and ion concentrations, UV-Vis absorbance and trihalomethanes formation potential (THMFP).

pH was measured using a Metler Toledo Seven Easy pH meter. The device calibrated using buffers of pH 4 and 7 at 25°C.

#### 4.3.4. Laboratory Analyses

#### 4.3.4.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

Concentrations of DOC were determined using a Thermalox TC/TN analyser (Analytical Sciences Ltd, Cambridge, UK), which is a combustion and infrared detection based technique. For DOC, samples were acidified to pH <3 prior to analysis to remove inorganic carbon using 10 M HCl. The instrument was calibrated with potassium hydrogen phthalate standards. The injection volume

was 15  $\mu$ L and oven temperature 680°C. Results were corrected if standard solutions deviated by 10% or more from the correct concentration.

#### 4.3.4.2. Phenolic compounds

The phenolic component of DOC was determined using a method modified from Box (1983), adapted for 300  $\mu$ L microplate wells. A calibration curve was generated using a series of phenol standard solutions ranging in concentration from 0.5 - 10 mg/L. The assay product was detected by measuring the absorbance at 750 nm on a Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Wokingham, UK).

#### 4.3.4.3. UV/visible absorption

Specific ultra violet absorbance (SUVA) is used as an indicator of overall DOC quality i.e. molecular weight and aromaticity, with most freshwaters having values in the range 2-4. SUVA was calculated by dividing the absorbance value at 254 nm (measured on the Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer) by the DOC concentration (mg/L).

#### 4.3.4.4. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)

The standard trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) analysis was used to determine the concentration of trihalomethanes that can be formed per unit DOC under ideal conditions, to give an indication of the reactivity of DOC with chlorine and its propensity to form THMs. A modified version of the THMFP test detailed in (Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2000) was used. In this study samples were diluted to 1 mg/L DOC in order to derive a standardised THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value (STHMFP<sub>7d</sub>) which provides a measure of DOC reactivity. A THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value was then calculated by multiplying STHMFP<sub>7d</sub> by DOC concentration. 97.5 mL of diluted sample was dosed with 2.0 mL of 0.5 M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> to buffer the solution to pH 6.8. Samples were then dosed with 0.5 mL of NaOCl to provide 5 mg of free Cl per mg of DOC. The solution was transferred to a 100 mL amber glass bottle and incubated in the dark at 25°C for 7 days to allow the reaction between organic carbon and chlorine to occur. After 7 days incubation, the reaction was guenched by adding 0.4 mL of 0.8 M Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> to 14.6 mL of incubated sample. This solution was then transferred to a 22 mL amber headspace vial and analysed by the following method. The concentration of THMs was measured using a solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) technique similar to that described by Sarrión et al. (2000). The technique uses a Varian GC 450, a Restek MX 1 column (diphenyl/dimethyl polysiloxane phase, 30 m length, 0.53 mm i.d.),  $N_2$  carrier gas at a flow rate of 10 mL/min and a <sup>63</sup>Ni Electron Capture Detector. The oven temperature was held at 35°C for 9 minutes and then increased at a rate of 10 °C /minute to 140°C and held for 2 minutes and finally increased to 180°C and held for 3 minutes. The injector temperature was 290°C and the detector temperature 300°C.

Trihalomethane calibration solutions were made from a stock solution containing 2000  $\mu$ g/mL of each of the 4 THMs; chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), bromodichloromethane (CHBrCl<sub>2</sub>), dibromochloromethane (CHBr<sub>2</sub>Cl), and bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>) (Sigma). A series of standard solutions were then prepared ranging from 1-500  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 4.3.4.5. Statistical analysis

Most of data met the homogeneity and normality assumptions, which were tested using the Bartlett and Shapiro Wilk tests, but those that did not were log-transformed. Data points were removed if they were outliers. A four-way ANOVA was used to test effects of the factors Soil Type (two levels; bog and fen), Treatment (two levels; Control and Drought); Depth (two levels; 5 and 20 cm), and Date (six levels for each sampling date) for each measured parameter. Following this, t tests was performed to test the effect of Treatment on each date. All tests were run in R v3.3.1. A p value of 0.05 was used to determine significance.

#### 4.4. Results

Data is presented in Figures 4.1 to 4.6 as a series of graphs showing the variation in measured parameters over time, alongside the mean water table height measured within each mesocosm throughout the experiment.



Figure 4.1. – Soil water content (%) at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001)



Figure 4.2. – Soil porewater Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) concentrations at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001).



Figure 4.3. – Soil porewater pH at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001).



Figure 4.4. – Soil porewater phenolics concentration at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001).



Figure 4.5. – Soil porewater SUVA at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001).



Figure 4.6. – Soil porewater CHCl<sub>3</sub> formation at 5 and 20 cm and water table height for a) bog and b) fen mesocosms, with the water table height either maintained at the surface (Control) or reduced and restored (Drought). Asterisks indicate significant differences between Control and Drought treatments at individual time and depths (\* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001).

Parameter	Factor	F value	P value
Water content	Soil type	15.86	< 0.001
	Treatment	20.40	< 0.001
	Depth	26.57	< 0.001
	Date	2.58	0.028
DOC	Soil type	104.59	< 0.001
	Treatment	44.89	< 0.001
	Depth		
	Date	6.13	< 0.001
рН	Soil type	512.88	< 0.001
	Treatment		
	Depth	4.51	0.035
	Date	5.22	< 0.001
Phenolics	Soil type	31.78	< 0.001
	Treatment	18.89	< 0.001
	Depth		
	Date	11.06	< 0.001
SUVA	Soil type	15.89	< 0.001
	Treatment	6.62	0.011
	Depth		
	Date	4.24	< 0.01
THMFP	Soil type	12.51	< 0.001
	Treatment	5.18	0.024
	Depth		
	Date	10.20	< 0.001

Table 4.1. Result of 4-way ANOVA to determine the effect of Soil type, Treatment, Depth and Date on several measured parameters.

The water table manipulation succesfully lowered the soil water content of the bog mesocsosms but not the fen (Figure 4.1, Table 4.1). The overall results of the four-way ANOVA showed there was a significant effect of soil type, treatment, date and depth on soil water content (Table 4.1). Overall, soil water content was higher for the bog ( $88.62 \pm 3.56 \%$ ) compared to the fen ( $87.07 \pm$ 4.43 %), for the control ( $88.74 \pm 3.52 \%$ ) over the drought ( $86.96 \pm 3.42 \%$ ) treatment and for the 5 cm ( $88.88 \pm 3.80 \%$ ) over the 20 cm ( $86.83 \pm 3.03 \%$ ) depth.

For the bog, the soil water content was relatively stable for the 5 cm control throughout the sampling period, the drought treatment was lower % water than the control for all but the final time point (day 152, restored water table). The soil water content at 5cm was significantly lower for the drought compared to the control on days 109, 120 and 143 (p<0.01), and during the phase of the experiment when the water table was beginning to recover. For the bog at 20 cm, there was no time point when the soil water content of the drought treatment was significantly lower than the control treatment.

For the Fen, the soil water content of the drought treatment was generally lower than the control treatment, but only significantly so for one time point and one depth; day 48 and 5 cm. Therefore, the water table manipulation did not induce consistent effects on soil water content for the fen.

There was a significant effect of soil type, treatment and date, but not depth, on DOC concentrations (Table 4.1). Mean DOC was higher for the bog ( $83.77 \pm 57.67 \text{ mg/L}$ ) compared to the fen ( $34.76 \pm 26.00 \text{ mg/L}$ ) and for the control ( $71.68 \pm 53.3 \text{ mg/L}$ ) over the drought ( $39.69 \pm 38.66 \text{ mg/L}$ ) treatment. For the bog at 20 cm, the control treatment was relatively stable throughout the sampling period but the drought treatment DOC decreased during the drought period and was significantly lower than the control treatment at days 109 (p<0.01) and 120 (p<0.05), when the water table was beginning to recover. The concentrations on these dates were 63-86% lower than the 20 cm control treatment. At 5 cm, DOC declined from 129.12  $\pm$  40.52 mg/L on day 48 to 50.44  $\pm$  10.16 mg/L on day 152 in the control treatment (-60.9%). For the drought, on the dates that where a sample could be collected, all drought treatment data points were lower than the control treatment, but not significantly so. The differences at days 120 and 143 (recovering water table) were similar to day 48 (declining water table).

For the fen, the 5 cm drought DOC concentrations were always lower than the control, but only significantly so at day 73 (57% lower, p<0.05). DOC concentrations at 20 cm were relatively stable for both treatments and always lower in the drought treatment but there were no significant differences at any time point.

There was a significant effect of soil type, depth and date, but not treatment, on pH (Table 4.1). Mean pH was higher for the fen  $(6.30 \pm 0.62)$  compared to the bog  $(4.41 \pm 0.66)$  mesocosms and at 5 cm  $(5.49 \pm 1.09)$  compared to 20 cm  $(5.40 \pm 1.18)$ . For the bog, the pH was relatively stable throughout the sampling period for both control and drought treatments and at both depths. Due to the stable values recorded for the first four dates, which included the greatest change in water table height, pH was not measured for the bog mesocosms on days 143 and day 153.

For the fen, the control treatment decreased from 6.75 at day 48 to 5.08 at day 153 at 5cm, and from 6.74 at day 48 to 5.97 at day 153 at 20 cm. The drought treatment displayed a similar declining trend at both depths but the pH was generally lower than the control, however the only significant treatment effect was at day 73, when the drought was lower than the control treatment by 0.53 of a pH unit (p<0.05).

There was a significant effect in mean phenolic concentrations of soil type, treatment and date, but not depth, on phenolic concentrations (Table 4.1). Mean phenolic concentrations were higher

78

for the bog (11.46  $\pm$  7.50 mg/L) compared to the fen (7.80  $\pm$  8.00 mg/L) and for the control (11.39  $\pm$  8.67 mg/L) over the drought (7.19  $\pm$  6.29 mg/L) treatment.

For the bog, the phenolics concentration of the control treatment was very similar at both depths, displaying a declining trend over time, apart from a spike at day 120. The drought treatment phenolic concentration was almost always lower than the control at both depths, especially during the period when the water table was lowest, but only significantly so at days 73 and 109 (p<0.05 and p<0.001) and for 20 cm depth. There were no time points when there was a significant treatment effect at 5 cm. For the fen, there was a similar trend for the control treatment to the bog control treatment, with a generally declining trend but a spike at day 109. However, for the fen, the phenolics concentrations at 20 cm were generally much lower than at 5 cm. As for the bog, phenolics in the drought treatment were generally lower than the control, significantly so at day 48 for both 5 cm (p<0.01) and 20 cm (p<0.05) and day 120 at 5 cm (p<0.05). The phenolics concentration of the drought treatment was higher than the control treatment at both depths on day 152, when the water table was fully recovered.

There was a significant effect of soil type, treatment and date, but not depth, on SUVA (Table 4.1). Mean SUVA was higher for the fen ( $6.06 \pm 4.19 \text{ L/mg/m}$ ) compared to the bog ( $3.68 \pm 2.10 \text{ L/mg/m}$ ) and for the drought ( $5.80 \pm 4.32 \text{ L/mg/m}$ ) over the control ( $4.32 \pm 2.73 \text{ L/mg/m}$ ) treatment.

For the bog, SUVA showed a similar trend of declining slowly at both 5 cm and 20 cm for the control treatment. The drought treatment had a higher SUVA than the control at most time points, significantly so at day 143 at 5 cm (p<0.05) and day 152 at 20 cm (p<0.01).

For the fen, there were no time points when there was a significant treatment effect, although the SUVA was generally higher for the drought compared to the control at both depths.

There was a significant effect of soil type, treatment and date, but not depth, on THMFP (Table 4.1). Mean THMFP was higher for the bog ( $61.87 \pm 26.60 \ \mu g \ CHCl_3/mg \ DOC$ ) compared to the fen ( $50.76 \pm 15.91 \ \mu g \ CHCl_3/mg \ DOC$ ) and for the drought ( $57.75 \pm 20.33 \ \mu g \ CHCl_3/mg \ DOC$ ) over the control ( $54.59 \pm 23.63 \ \mu g \ CHCl_3/mg \ DOC$ ) treatment. For the bog, the THMFP displayed a similar trend at both 5 and 20 cm, declining from day 48 to 109 but then increasing up to the final days of sampling (day 143 and 152) to finish with a value approximately 50% greater than the day 48 value. The Drought treatment had a similar trend but at 5 cm (on the dates when it was possible to collect a sample) the THMFP was higher than the control and at 20 cm the THMFP was lower than the control. The only significant difference was at 20 cm on day 152, when the water table

had fully recovered, when the drought treatment THMFP was approximately 30% lower than the control. For the fen, the control THMFP was relatively stable at both depths, but there was more variation within the drought treatment data. The drought treatment THMFP was generally higher than the control treatment THMFP but there were no significant differences at any of the six time points.

#### 4.5. Discussion

Overall, the results of this study indicate that applying a drought treatment to cores of peat dramatically reduced the concentration of DOC in the porewater. It would therefore be expected that if such conditions were recreated in the field then DOC export to freshwaters would be reduced by drought conditions in catchments where peat soils dominate. The effect was especially pronounced in the bog soil, where the DOC concentration was approximately 4 times lower during the peak of drought conditions. For the fen, the DOC concentration reduced by 30-50% during the peak of drought conditions. During the re-wet period the DOC concentrations recovered so they were comparable to pre-drought values. The trend in phenolics concentrations followed a similar pattern to the DOC, indicating that phenolics were affected by the drought treatment. The loss of DOC and phenolics due to drought can be attributed to oxygenation and improved conditions for decomposition in the soil. This will have resulted in the complete breakdown to DOC, due to the opening of the enzymic latch (Freeman *et al.*, 2001b; Fenner and Freeman, 2011).

Drought generally lowered pH and conductivity (data not presented), especially for the fen. This is because the fen receives its nutrients from groundwater so if this supply is cut off, as it was during the drought treatment, the effect on the peat will be dramatic.

Phenolic concentration in pore water was lower during drought treatments in the bog and fen due to the much larger pool of phenolic compounds in the soil itself which changes in drought, which is not that easy to observe. There is previous evidence of the decline of phenolic compound concentration, shown in the literature (e.g. Fenner and Freeman, 2011). The mean concentration of phenolic compounds in pore water was lower in the fen than in the bog; this can be due to the greater activities of phenol oxidase in the fen (Jassey et al., 2011). However, a previous study mentioned that the carbon in the bog degrades less than carbon in the fen (Tfaily et al., 2013). Moreover, bacterial genes in the fens are higher than bogs (Ausec et al., 2011), so perhaps the bog conditions are not suitable for phenolic microbes, which are responsible for the breakdown of phenolic compounds. Some previous studies show that precipitation was one of the changes in the effect on fungal communities (Toberman et al., 2008). In addition, other previous studies

80

show that fungal communities control the low pH in soils. (Rousk et al., 2010) and that the anaerobic conditions in peatlands might prevent fungal growth (Golovchenko et al., 2013).

Although the treatment differences are not significant, the THMFP values were higher for the drought treatment compared to the control during the peak of the drought and initial rise in water table back to the surface. This suggests that drought conditions lead to the release of proportionally more THM precursors from peat than if the water table was close to the surface. This is a finding that has not previously been published in scientific literature.

## 4.6. Conclusions

The main overall conclusion from this study is that artificially exposing peat cores to a drought treatment reduced DOC concentrations compared to control cores but increased THMFP values, although none of the effects were significant. From a water treatment perspective, the increase in THMFP during peatland drought suggests that for source water from reservoirs whose catchments are dominated by peat, during drought conditions, the DOC exported from the peatland to the reservoir will be proportionally more likely to form THMs, however, this effect is more than offset by the lower DOC concentrations.

#### 4.7. References

Ausec, Luka, Jan Dirk Van Elsas, and Ines Mandic-Mulec. "Two-and three-domain bacterial laccase-like genes are present in drained peat soils." *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 43.5 (2011): 975-983.

Box, J. (1983). Investigation of the folin-ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters. *Water Research*, *17*(5), 511-525.

Evans, C. D., Jones, T. G., Burden, A., Ostle, N., Zieliński, P., Cooper, M. D., Cooper, D. (2012). Acidity Controls on dissolved organic carbon mobility in organic soils. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(11), 3317-3331.

Evans, C. D., Chapman, P. J., Clark, J. M., Monteith, D. T., & Cresser, M. S. (2006). Alternative explanations for rising dissolved organic carbon export from organic soils. *Global Change Biology*, *12*(11), 2044-2053.

Fenner, N., & Freeman, C. (2011). Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands. *Nature Geoscience*, *4*(12), 895-900.

Freeman, C., Evans, C., Monteith, D., Reynolds, B., & Fenner, N. (2001). Export of organic carbon from peat soils. *Nature*, *412*(6849), 785-785.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N., Fenner, N., & Kang, H. (2004). A regulatory role for phenol oxidase during decomposition in peatlands. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *36*(10), 1663-1667.

Freeman, C., Ostle, N., & Kang, H. (2001). An enzymic'latch'on a global carbon store. *Nature*, *409*(6817), 149-149.

Golovchenko, A., Kurakov, A., Semenova, T., & Zvyagintsev, D. (2013). Abundance, diversity, viability, and factorial ecology of fungi in peatbogs. *Eurasian Soil Science*, *46*(1), 74-90.

Jassey, Vincent EJ, et al.,, "Experimental climate effect on seasonal variability of polyphenol/phenoloxidase interplay along a narrow fen–bog ecological gradient in Sphagnum fallax." *Global Change Biology* 17.9 (2011): 2945-2957.

Jones, J., & Mulholland, P. J. (1998). Methane input and evasion in a hardwood forest stream: Effects of subsurface flow from shallow and deep pathways. *Limnology and Oceanography, 43*(6), 1243-1250.

Manny, B., & Wetzel, R. (1973). Diurnal changes in dissolved organic and inorganic carbon and nitrogen in a hardwater stream. *Freshwater Biology*, *3*(1), 31-43.

Mitsch, W.Gosselink jg, 2000-wetlands.

Monteith, D. T., Stoddard, J. L., Evans, C. D., de Wit, H. A., Forsius, M., Høgåsen, T. Vuorenmaa, J. (2007). Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry. *Nature*, *450*(7169), 537-540.

M. Sarrión, F. Santos and M. Galceran, Anal. Chem., 2000, 72, 4865-4873

Peterson, H. G., Milos, J. P., Spink, D. R., Hrudey, S. E., & Sketchell, J. (1993). Trihalomethanes in finished drinking water in relation to dissolved organic carbon and treatment process for alberta surface waters. *Environmental Technology*, *14*(9), 877-884.

M. J. Nieuwenhuijsen, M. B. Toledano, N. E. Eaton, J. Fawell and P. Elliott, Occup. Environ. Med., 2000, **57**, 73-85

Roulet, N. T., Lafleur, P. M., Richard, P. J., Moore, T. R., Humphreys, E. R., & Bubier, J. (2007). Contemporary carbon balance and late holocene carbon accumulation in a northern peatland. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(2), 397-411.

Rousk, J., Bååth, E., Brookes, P. C., Lauber, C. L., Lozupone, C., Caporaso, J. G. Fierer, N. (2010). Soil bacterial and fungal communities across a pH gradient in an arable soil. *The ISME Journal, 4*(10), 1340-1351.

Rodrigues, Pedro MSM, Joaquim CG Esteves Da Silva, and Maria Cristina G. Antunes. "Factorial analysis of the trihalomethanes formation in water disinfection using chlorine." *Analytica chimica acta* 595.1 (2007): 266-274.

Sketchell, Joanne, Hans G. Peterson, and Nick Christofi. "Disinfection by-product formation after biologically assisted GAC treatment of water supplies with different bromide and DOC content." *Water research* 29.12 (1995): 2635-2642.

Strack, M., Waddington, J., Bourbonniere, R., Buckton, E., Shaw, K., Whittington, P., & Price, J. (2008). Effect of water table drawdown on peatland dissolved organic carbon export and dynamics. *Hydrological Processes, 22*(17), 3373-3385.

Tfaily, M. M., Hamdan, R., Corbett, J. E., Chanton, J. P., Glaser, P. H., & Cooper, W. T. (2013). Investigating dissolved organic matter decomposition in northern peatlands using complimentary analytical techniques. *Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta*, *112*, 116-129.

Toberman, H., Evans, C. D., Freeman, C., Fenner, N., White, M., Emmett, B. A., & Artz, R. R. (2008). Summer Drought effects upon soil and litter extracellular phenol oxidase activity and soluble carbon release in an upland calluna heathland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *40*(6), 1519-1532.

## Chapter 5: Impact of constructed wetlands on DOC characteristics and THMFP

#### 5.1. Abstract

In England and Wales, two-thirds of drinking water comes from surface water such as reservoirs, lakes and rivers, and the main problem is the potential eutrophication of those reservoirs. In lakes and reservoirs, DOC originate from both internal (allochthonous) is DOC produced within the lake and external (autochthonous) is DOC that intend to the lake from the catchment biochemical inputs. Eutrophication is one of the biggest issues for drinking water production, that characterized by excessive plant and algal growth due to the increased availability of one or more of growth factors needed for photosynthesis such as sunlight, carbon dioxide, and nutrient fertilizers. Eutrophication also increases dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations and the removal of DOC is usually the costliest stage of water treatment process that is because the reaction of DOC with chlorine during disinfection can lead to formation of carcinogenic disinfection by-products (DBPs) such as THMFP. The presence of DOC in water is not harmful however, when water containing DOC that reacts with chlorine as a disinfectant in water treatment plant, it can produce THMs that lead to cancerous diseases and the most common THMs is chloroform. Constructed wetlands are one solution to the eutrophication issue, because wetlands sequester nutrients. The objective of this study was determining whether a constructed wetland used for to remove nutrients from a stream, flowing into a eutrophic reservoir affects the quantity and quality of DOC in the stream. Inflow and outflow of the Free Water Surface was observed twice a week over a period of nine months. Physicochemical parameters (pH, conductivity), nutrients, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), Phenolics, trihalomethans (THMs) and greenhouse gases (CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O) concentration were measured.

#### 5.2. Introduction

In England and Wales, two-thirds of drinking water is derived from surface waters such as manmade reservoirs, natural lakes and rivers. Such raw water supplies can contain naturally high concentrations of natural organic matter (NOM). Aquatic NOM is a heterogeneous mixture of complex organic compounds, is derived from allochthonous and autochthonous sources and plays important roles in several biotic and abiotic processes (Wetzel, 2001). Carbon (C) is the key constituent of NOM, therefore NOM in the dissolved form is often referred to and measured as dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Allochthonous DOC originates outside of the waterbody, from within it's catchment, and is mainly derived from decaying plant material and the leaching of organic detritus from soils that is transported to the aquatic system by run off, streams and shallow groundwater flow (Thurman, 1985; Aiken and Cotsaris, 1995). Autochthonous DOC is that which is produced within the water body itself, from macrophytes and phytoplankton. The main factors controlling the DOC concentration of surface waters are catchment properties (land use/soil type), hydrological characteristics and climatic conditions (Pacheco *et al.*, 2013).

Eutrophication is the enrichment of a waterbody with nutrients that leads to rapid growth of algae (Nixon 1995; Carpenter et al. 1998). Sunlight, carbon dioxide and nutrients are the factors that increase the magnitude of the eutrophication (Schindler 2006). In addition, eutrophication can lead to blooms of algae that are direcntly harmful to human health (Smith and Schindler, 2009). Eutrophication can also increase the DOC concentration of water, which is particularly an issue for lowland reservoirs in agricultural catchments (Gough et al., 2015; Pierson-Wickmann et al., 2011). During algal growth algogenic organic matter is leached from algal cells by diffusion (extracellular organic matter) or released from dying algal cells during cell lysis (intracellular organic matter), which can lead to taste and odour problems in potable water supplies (Gough et al., 2015). Some algal species produce toxic metabolites which can pose a serious acute public health risk (Zegura et al., 2011; Ritson et al., 2014). The increase in dissolved organic carbon concentrations during eutrophication events will also increase coagulant and chlorine demand and lead to greater formation of potentially-harmful disinfection by-products (DBPs) such as trihalomethanes (THMs) (Nguyen et al., 2005; Li et al., 2012).

Allochthonous and autochthonous DOC differs in characteristics and quality. Allochthonous DOC is generally comprised of high-molecular weight, aromatic humic and fulvic acids whilst autochthonous DOC is generally much lower-molecular weight, less aromatic and comprised of much smaller compounds (Chupakov et al., 2017). The contribution from each source changes seasonally;

85

autochthonous production peaks in late spring, summer and early autumn due to greater sunlight and warmer temperatures that allow photosynthesis and primary production by algae and vegetation. The contribution from allochthonous sources generally peaks during late summer/autumn, when the weather turns cooler and wetter and the vegetation within the catchment starts to die back and decompose (Chupakov et al., 2017; Tremblay and Benner, 2006).

DOC quality is a key influence on water treatability and likelihood to form DBPs. High molecular weight, aromatic, hydrophobic allochthonous DOC, which generally has a high Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA), generally reacts more readily with chlorine to form THMs (Fang et al., 2010; Chow et al., 2005). SUVA used to determine the disinfection by-product formation potential and calculated by dividing the absorbance at 254nm by DOC concentration mg/L of a water, High SUVA indicates that there is a large portion of organics present in the water is aromatic, high SUVA due to high aromatic organics compounds that easily react with disinfectants to create DBPs, so high SUVA point to a high potential for the formation of DBP's. However, many studies shows that reducing the SUVA value by removing the NOM by coagulation (Archer and Singer, 2006).

Constructed wetlands are increasingly being used as a natural solution for cleaning freshwaters impacted by pollution and suffering from poor water quality (Vymazal, 2007), sometimes with the goal of ensuring compliance with environmental legislation standards (Gouriveau, 2009). As water flows through a constructed wetland, much of the suspended sediment will settle out, whilst nutrients in inflow waters are either taken up by plants or processed by microbes in the soil. Constructed wetlands are particularly well suited to removing nitrate and phosphate from agricultural run-off, with several biogeochemical processes within wetlands allowing for the sequestration of nutrients and pollutants. This study builds on the publication of Scholz et al. (2016), which reports findings on the success of a newly built constructed wetland for removing nitrate and phosphate from a stream flowing into a lowland eutrophic lake. The paper reported net removal of nutrients but increased the DOC concentration of the stream, which may impact negatively in the downstream water treatment works at this site. The aim of this study was to assess whether the constructed wetland remained a net sink of nutrients but a net source of DOC in the autumn and winter time and to determine whether the constructed wetland changes the characteristics of the DOC flowing into the reservoir and how readily it reacts with chlorine.

#### 5.3. Methods

#### 5.3.1. Study site

The study site was Llyn Cefni (UK Grid Ref: SH443774), a man-made eutrophic reservoir on the Island of Anglesey, north Wales, UK. The reservoir was created in 1940 by damming the Afon Cefni river to produce a lake 2.3 km in length and 0.86 km<sup>2</sup> in surface area, which is now used as a source of drinking water. There are two main water sources feeding into Llyn Cefni reservoir; the Afon Frogwy on the south-west side and Afon Erddreiniog on the north-east side, the latter originating within Cors Erddreiniog, a National Nature Reserve and Site of Special Scientific Interest that is a rich fen and contains significant deposits of peat. The DOC concentration of the water can be high, partly due to intensive farming practices within the catchment leading to excess nutrients entering the lake and fuelling algal growth (Scholz et al. 2016). Management practices have been implemented aimed at minimising the autochthonous production of DOC, such as the installation of straw bales within the lake to suppress algal growth and the construction of a treatment wetland within the catchment to reduce nutrient inputs. This study followed on from the work presented by Scholz et al. (2016) at the same site and was undertaken to a) assess the ability of the constructed wetland to sequester nutrients outside of the growing season and b) to determine the impact of the constructed wetland on DOC characteristics and therefore propensity to form DBPs following chlorination. In total, nine sampling sites were identified and were mostly similar to those monitored during the Scholz et al. (2016) study. The two main inputs were sampled and identified as Main 1 and 2 respectively. Five other smaller stream inputs were also sampled, including the inflow to the constructed wetland (labelled as Minor 1-4 and Constructed Wetland inflow). The outflow from the same constructed wetland was also sampled in addition to the reservoir at the point where the water discharges from the reservoir to a downstream river (Afon Cefni). Figure 5.1 is a map showing the reservoir, its watershed boundary and the catchments of the seven sampled inflowing rivers/streams. The constructed wetland was built in March 2014 on a stream previously identified as supplying high concentrations of nitrate and phosphate, which are the key nutrients for the algal growth. Table 5.1 presents the catchment sizes of the seven streams and reservoir as a whole, demonstrating the larger sizes of the two main inflows.



© Crown Copyright / Database right 2017. An Ordnance Survey / EDINA supplied service. Maps created by Matthew Hopes

Figure 5.1. Watershed area of sampled inflowing streams to Llyn Cefni Reservoir, and the reservoir itself. Map created using ArcGIS 10.4.1 software (Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI), California, USA).

Stream name	Catchment area (km <sup>2</sup> )	
Main 1	27.63094	
Main 1	10.27868659	
Minor 1	0.0941424	
Minor 2	0.184136973	
Minor 3	0.026807824	
Minor 4	2.993129	
Constructed Wetland Inflow	0.080882	
Reservoir	44.1606002	

Table 5.1: Catchment area (km<sup>2</sup>) of sampled streams at the Cefni Reservoir

## 5.3.2. Land use analysis

The land use of the catchment of each stream, and the reservoir as a whole, was analysed using ArcGIS 10.4.1 software (Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI), California, USA), utilising digital map data acquired from Digimap (University of Edinburgh, UK), Catchments were delineated using the 'Hydrology' function located in the 'Spatial Analyst' add-on, as described by Hopes et al (submitted for publication).
#### 5.3.3. Sampling regime

Sampling was undertaken approximately twice a month from September 2014 to March 2015 at all nine sampling sites. Three replicates were collected at each site in 100 ml amber glass bottles. pH and conductivity were measured in the laboratory on unfiltered samples on the day of sampling. The pH was measured using a Seven Easy pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Leicester, UK). The probe was calibrated using buffers of pH 4 and 7 at 25°C (Sigma, Dorset, UK). Conductivity was measured with a Primo 5 conductivity meter (Hanna Instruments, Bedfordshire, UK). All samples were filtered through 0.45 µm syringe filters (Triple Red, Buckinghamshire, UK), and refrigerated at 4°C until further analysis was undertaken.

#### 5.3.4. Laboratory Analyses

#### 5.3.4.1. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

Concentrations of DOC were determined using a Thermalox TC/TN analyser (Analytical Sciences Ltd, Cambridge, UK), which is a combustion and infrared detection based technique. For DOC, samples were acidified to pH <3 prior to analysis to remove inorganic carbon using 10 M HCl. The instrument was calibrated with potassium hydrogen phthalate standards. The injection volume was 15  $\mu$ L and oven temperature 680°C. Results were corrected if standard solutions deviated by 10% or more from the correct concentration.

#### 5.3.1.2. Phenolic compounds

The phenolic component of DOC was determined using a method modified from Box (1983) and adapted for 300  $\mu$ L microplate wells. A calibration curve was generated using a series of phenol standard solutions ranging in concentration from 0.5 - 10 mg/L. The assay product was detected by measuring the absorbance at 750 nm on a Spectramax M2*e* spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Wokingham, UK).

#### 5.3.1.3. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)

The standard trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) analysis was used to determine the concentration of trihalomethanes that can be formed per unit DOC under ideal conditions, to give an indication of the reactivity of DOC with chlorine and its propensity to form THMs. A modified version of the THMFP test detailed in Nieuwenhuijsen, *et al.* (2000) was used. THMFP analysis was performed on only five sites; Main 1, Main 2, Constructed Wetland Inflow and Outflow, and the reservoir, and at each sampling site and time point the three replicates were combined into one and the DOC concentration re-measured. All samples were then diluted to 1 mg/L DOC in order to derive

a standardised THMFP<sub>7d</sub> value (STHMFP<sub>7d</sub>) which provides a measure of DOC reactivity. To a 100 mL amber glass bottle the following solutions were added; 97.5 mL of diluted sample, 2.0 mL of 0.5 M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> buffer (to adjust the solution to pH 6.8) and 0.5 mL of NaOCI (to provide 5 mg of free Cl per mg of DOC). The bottles were incubated in the dark at 25°C for 7 days to allow the reaction between organic carbon and chlorine to occur. After 7 days, 14.6 mL of sample was transferred to a 22 ml amber headspace vial and the reaction was quenched by adding 0.4 mL of 0.8 M Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>. The samples were then analysed using a solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) technique similar to that described by Sarrión, et al., (2000). The analysis used a Varian 450 GC, a Restek MX 1 column (diphenyl/dimethyl polysiloxane phase, 30m length, 0.53 mm i.d.), N<sub>2</sub> carrier gas at a flow rate of 10mL/min and a <sup>63</sup>Ni Electron Capture Detector. The oven temperature was held at 35°C for 9 minutes and then increased at a rate of 10°C /minute to 140°C and held for 2 minutes and finally increased to 180°C and held for 3 minutes. The injector temperature was 290°C and the detector temperature 300°C. Trihalomethane calibration solutions were made from a stock solution containing 2000  $\mu$ g/mL of each of the 4 THMs; chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), bromodichloromethane (CHBrCl<sub>2</sub>), dibromochloromethane (CHBr<sub>2</sub>Cl), and bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>) (Sigma). A series of standard solutions were then prepared ranging from 1-500  $\mu$ g/L.

#### 5.3.5. Statistical analyses

The effect of Site (nine levels) and Date (15 levels) on each measured parameter were determined using two-way ANOVA and, for the Site factor only, Tukey HSD post-hoc analyses. Further statistical analysis was undertaken using pearson correlation to test for significant relationships between all dependent variables. A p value of <0.05 was used to determine significance throughout and analysis was undertaken in IBM SPSS Statistics v22.

#### 5.4. Results

#### 5.4.1. Land use

The catchment areas for the seven sampled streams and reservoir are presented in Table 5.1, showing the much larger catchment sizes of the Main 1 and Main 2 streams and the much smaller catchment sizes of streams Minor 1-4 and the Constructed Wetland inflow. The land use of each of the eight catchments is shown in Figure 5.2. All are dominated by "Improved grassland", from 61.1% for Main 2 to 99.5% for Minor 1. The next most common land use types are generally "Rough grassland" and "Arable Horticulture". The catchment of Main 2 is the most unique, with 13.7% of the land comprised of "Fen/Marsh/Swamp", a category not found in any of the other stream's catchments. The represents

a large area of deep fen peat, Cors Erddreiniog SSSI, which may have an important influence on the water quality of Llyn Cefni.

Treatments	Site	2	Date			
	F	Р	F	Р		
рН	126.72	<0.001	209.76	<0.001		
Conductivity	589.864	<0.001	411.574	<0.001		
Phenolic	216.673	<0.001	189.899	<0.001		
DOC	92.548	<0.001	92.423	<0.001		
Nitrate	2070.080	<0.001	165.395	<0.001		
Nitrite	8.803	<0.001	56.879	<0.001		
Phosphate	99.890	<0.001	207.384	<0.001		
Bromide	64.570	<0.001	16.485	<0.001		
CHCl₃	0.480	0.751	11.901	<0.001		
CHCl₂Br	3.711	0.006	16.382	<0.001		
CHClBr <sub>2</sub>	2.735	0.030	12.534	<0.001		

Table 5.2. Results of two-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measured parameters.



Figure 5.2. Shows the percent land use within the Cefni Catchment a) Main 1, b) Main 2, c) Minor 1, d) Minor 2, e) Minor 3, f) Minor 4, g) Constructed Wetland inflow, h) Reservoir

## 5.4.2. Water quality

The pH of all samples was almost always slightly alkaline (Figure 5.3a). The reservoir had the highest mean pH of all sites during the sampling period, at 7.82  $\pm$ 0.04, and Minor 3 had the lowest at 7.31  $\pm$ 0.04 (Figure 5.3b). There is evidence of some seasonal variation in pH; with the values

declining by approximately half a unit from autumn 2014 to spring 2015 across most sites. When comparing the influence of the constructed wetland, the outflow (7.41 ± 0.03) was slightly lower than the inflow (7.45 ± 0.04), but the difference was not significant (p>0.05.) Main 1 had a significantly lower pH than Main 2 and both had a significantly lower pH than the Reservoir (Table 5.3). The highest mean conductivity was recorded for Main 2, at 358 ± 9.41 µS/cm and the lowest was for Main 1, at 219 ± 7.56 µS/cm (Figure 5.4b). The conductivity was generally stable throughout the sampling period apart from some very low values on 24<sup>th</sup> October 2014 for all sites (Figure 5.4a). For the constructed wetland, the outflow was slightly lower than the inflow, at 215.7 ± 7.04 µS/cm and 219.5 ± 8.92 µS/cm respectively, a difference that was significant (p<0.01; Table 5.3). The large difference between the mean conductivity of Main 1 and Main 2 were significantly different, whilst the conductivity of the reservoir was midway between both.



Figure 5.3 a) time series for pH (±SEM) and b) mean pH (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.



Figure 5.4 a) time series for Conductivity (±SEM) and b) mean Conductivity (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015

	Main 1 v Main 2	<b>Constructed Wetland</b>	Main 1 v	Main 2 v Reservoir
		Inflow v Outflow	Reservoir	
pH	< 0.001		< 0.001	0.001
Conductivity	< 0.001	0.006	< 0.001	< 0.001
Phenolic	< 0.001		0.017	0.048
DOC		< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Nitrate	< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
Phosphate				
Bromide	0.002			
CHCl <sub>3</sub>				
CHCl <sub>2</sub> Br			0.026	
CHClBr <sub>2</sub>				

Table 5.3. Results of Tukey HSD post-hoc tests for each level of the Site factor

Minor 1 had the highest mean DOC concentration of all sites, at  $16.60 \pm 1.26 \text{ mg/L}$  and Minor 3 had the lowest, at  $5.31 \pm 0.51 \text{ mg/L}$  (Figure 5.5b). There is some evidence of a seasonal variation in DOC, with generally higher concentrations in the autumn of 2014 compared to the spring of 2015 and particularly high concentrations on  $10^{\text{th}}$  September 2014 and  $7^{\text{th}}$  January 2015 (Figure 5.5a). The constructed wetland outflow ( $12.21 \pm 0.73 \text{ mg/L}$ ) had a significantly lower DOC concentrations than the inflow ( $14.90 \pm 1.05 \text{ mg/L}$ ) (p<0.001). Main 1 and Main 2 had similar mean concentrations that were not significantly different and both were significantly lower than the Reservoir (Table 5.3).



*Figure 5.5 a)* time series for DOC (±SEM) and b) mean DOC (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.

The trend in the phenolics data was generally similar to DOC, indicating that phenolic compounds comprise a significant component of DOC (Figure 5.6a). This is confirmed by a significant positive relationship between DOC and phenolics for the data from all sites combined (R=0.75, p<0.01; Table 5.4). Minor 1 had the highest mean phenolics concentration of all sites, at  $1.13 \pm 0.07$  mg/L and Minor 3 had the lowest, at  $0.37 \pm 0.03$  mg/L (Figure 5.6b).



Figure 5.6 a) time series for phenolics (±SEM) and b) mean phenolics (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015

Correlations																		
		conductivity	DOC	phenolics	Nitrate	phosphate	Bromide	Nitrite	ImprGrass	RoughGrass	AraHor	Wood	Fen	Others	CHCL3	CHCL2Br	CHCLBr2	TTHMs
рН	Pearson Correlation	.437	.326	.408	602	552	486	.433	637	.264	.413	.542	.576	.469	845	960 <sup>°</sup>	985 <sup>°</sup>	853
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.279	.430	.316	.115	.156	.222	.284	.090	.527	.309	.165	.135	.241	.155	.040	.015	.147
conductivity	Pearson Correlation		.073	.447	.063	.116	.143	351	322	052	.036	.273	.719 <sup>*</sup>	.016	079	380	612	094
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.863	.266	.882	.785	.735	.394	.436	.903	.932	.514	.044	.971	.921	.620	.388	.906
DOC	Pearson Correlation			.868	704	.192	046	.041	.284	247	140	256	142	418	.052	.215	.013	.061
	Sig. (2-tailed)			.005	.051	.649	.915	.923	.496	.555	.740	.540	.738	.302	.948	.785	.987	.939
phenolics	Pearson Correlation				606	.248	.077	.015	.183	212	176	256	.100	277	.056	033	425	.052
	Sig. (2-tailed)				.112	.554	.856	.972	.664	.614	.677	.541	.814	.507	.944	.967	.575	.948
Nitrate	Pearson Correlation					.499	.505	571	.267	115	386	246	048	.109	.427	.124	113	.412
	Sig. (2-tailed)					.208	.202	.139	.522	.786	.345	.558	.910	.798	.573	.876	.887	.588
phosphate	Pearson Correlation						.780	731	.759 <sup>*</sup>	479	588	819 <sup>°</sup>	403	391	.533	.701	.537	.543
	Sig. (2-tailed)						.023	.039	.029	.230	.125	.013	.323	.339	.467	.299	.463	.457
Bromide	Pearson Correlation							554	.708	819	279	511	532	339	.349	.600	.833	.362
	Sig. (2-tailed)							.154	.049	.013	.504	.196	.175	.412	.651	.400	.167	.638
Nitrite	Pearson Correlation								262	.306	.132	.296	.003	.524	614	524	128	611
	Sig. (2-tailed)								.531	.460	.755	.477	.994	.183	.386	.476	.872	.389
ImprGrass	Pearson Correlation									676	685	770 <sup>°</sup>	767 <sup>°</sup>	424	.287	.569	.666	.302
	Sig. (2-tailed)									.066	.061	.025	.026	.295	.713	.431	.334	.698
RoughGrass	Pearson Correlation										.128	.197	.578	.519	029	290	255	043
	Sig. (2-tailed)										.763	.639	.133	.188	.971	.710	.745	.957
AraHor	Pearson Correlation											.638	.160	.008	229	462	371	241
	Sig. (2-tailed)											.089	.705	.986	.771	.538	.629	.759
Wood	Pearson Correlation												.580	.167	272	557	718	287
	Sig. (2-tailed)												.132	.692	.728	.443	.282	.713
Fen	Pearson Correlation													.339	121	419	642	136
	Sig. (2-tailed)													.411	.879	.581	.358	.864
Others	Pearson Correlation														898	904	654	901
	Sig. (2-tailed)														.102	.096	.346	.099

Table 5.4. Results of Pearson correlation analysis run on all dependent variables.

For the constructed wetland, the mean phenolics concentration of the outflow  $(0.69 \pm 0.06 \text{ mg/L})$  was slightly lower than the inflow  $(0.71 \pm 0.06 \text{ mg/L})$ , but the difference was not significant (p>0.05). Main 2 had a significantly higher concentration than Main 1 (Table 5.3).

Minor 3 had by far the highest nitrate concentration, averaging  $29.51 \pm 0.53$  mg/L and Minor 1 had the lowest, at  $3.01 \pm 0.28$  mg/L (Figure 5.7b). There is a clear seasonal trend in the data, with lower concentrations in autumn 2014 (when the concentration in the reservoir was below the limit of detection) and rising throughout winter and spring (Figure 5.7a). The outflow of the constructed wetland had a mean nitrate concentration of  $5.06 \pm 0.55$  mg/L, slightly lower than the inflow concentration of  $5.95 \pm 0.70$  mg/L but this was not significant (Table 5.3). Main 2 had a significantly higher nitrate concentration than Main 1 and both had a significantly higher concentration than the reservoir (Table 5.3).



Figure 5.7 a) time series for nitrate (±SEM) and b) mean nitrate (±SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.

Minor 3 also had the highest mean phosphate concentration of all sites, at  $0.83 \pm 0.29$  mg/L, with Minor 4 having the lowest at  $0.06 \pm 0.02$  mg/L (Figure 5.8b). There was no consistent seasonal variation in phosphate concentrations, with high concentrations occurring sporadically for most streams (Figure 5.8a). For the constructed wetland, the outflow (0.41 ± 0.21 mg/L) had a slightly lower concentration than the inflow (0.54 ±0.27), but the difference was not significant. There were also no significant differences between Main 1, Main 2 and the Reservoir (Table 5.3).



Figure 5.8 a) time series for phosphate ( $\pm$ SEM) and b) mean phosphate ( $\pm$ SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.

Minor 3 also had the highest mean bromide concentration, at 0.16  $\pm$  0.00 mg/L and Main 2 had the lowest, at 0.09  $\pm$  0.01 mg/L (Figure 5.9b). There was no clear seasonal variation in bromide concentration across all sites (Figure 5.9a). For the constructed wetland there was a small but significant increase in bromide concentration from 0.10  $\pm$ 0.01 mg/L in the inflow to 0.11  $\pm$  0.01 in the outflow, but this was not significant (p>0.05; Table 5.3).



Figure 5.9a) time series for bromide ( $\pm$ SEM) and b) mean bromide ( $\pm$ SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.

The THMFP analysis generated chloroform as the dominant trihalomethane species; with much lower concentrations of dichlorobromomethane and dibromochloromethane (bromoform was not detected). There were only minor differences between the five sampling sites for all three THM species and no evidence of seasonality. For chloroform, there were no significant differences between any of the sites (Figure 5.10a). For the constructed wetland, the mean chloroform concentration of the inflow was 577.2  $\pm$  37.0 µg/L and the outflow was 580.5 µg/L  $\pm$  36.8 µg/L (Figure 5.10b). For dichlorobromomethane, Main 1 had the highest mean concentration of all sites at 26.45  $\pm$  2.6 µg/L (Figure 5.11b) and the reservoir had the lowest at 19.53  $\pm$  3.0 µg/L. The constructed wetland inflow, at 19.9  $\pm$ 2.02 µg/L, was lower than the outflow, at 25.25  $\pm$  2.8, but the difference was not significant (p>0.05) (Figure 5.11a). The trend for dibromochloromethane was very similar. Main 1 had the highest mean concentration are very similar. Main 1 had the highest mean concentration of all sites at 26.45  $\pm$  2.6 µg/L (Figure 5.11a). The trend for dibromochloromethane was very similar. Main 1 had the highest mean concentration other was very similar. Main 1 had the highest mean concentration other was very similar. Main 1 had the highest mean concentration was very similar.

 $0.04 \ \mu g/L$  (Figure 5.12b). For the constructed wetland, the outflow was higher than the inflow, at  $0.29 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g/L$  and  $0.23 \pm 0.02 \ \mu g/L$  respectively, but this difference was not significant (p>0.05).



Figure 5.10a) time series for Chloroform ( $\pm$ SEM) and b) mean Chloroform ( $\pm$ SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015



Figure 5.11a) time series for dichlorobromomethane ( $\pm$ SEM) and b) mean dichlorobromomethane ( $\pm$ SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015



Figure 5.12a) time series for dibromochloromethane ( $\pm$ SEM) and b) mean dibromochloromethane ( $\pm$ SEM) of all study sites for the period September 2014 to March 2015.

#### 5.5. Discussion

The pH of all streams was relatively constant, ranging from approximately 7.3 to 7.8, and are slightly basic because the sites are lowland and influenced by groundwater. The reservoir outlet had the highest pH; this is because of the eutrophic conditions leading to extensive algae which generate alkalinity and increase the pH of water (Scholz et al., 2016). DOC concentrations in the two main inflow streams were similar but the concentration in the reservoir was higher, therefore, DOC is being produced within the lake by phytoplankton and algal growth and senescence (Wetzel 2001). Rapid autochthonous production of DOC can occur within freshwaters as a result of eutrophication (Pierson-Wickmann et al., 2011).

For the constructed wetland, in contrast to the 12% increase in DOC reported at this site by Scholz et al. (2016), DOC decreased significantly from inlet to outlet by 18%. Furthermore, nitrate and phosphate only reduced by 9% and 21% respectively. These decreases were not significant and much lower than the 72% and 53% reductions in the concentration of these two key nutrients recorded by Scholz et al. (2016). The different removal rates can be attributed to the contrasting times of year in which the two studies were undertaken. This study mainly involved sampling in the late autumn/winter/early spring period, when primary production and vegetation biomass is much lower than during the summer. Nitrate and phosphate reductions within a constructed wetland system are partly due to plant uptake and this mechanism will be much reduced outside of the growing season. Reduced activity of plants would also explain why DOC did not increase through the constructed wetland in this study, as Scholz et al. (2016) linked the increase they recorded with greater inputs from plants.

Although DOC concentration decreased, all five studied sites had very similar THMFP yields, with no significant differences recorded. This suggests that there were only minor changes in DOC quality or that any variability in DOC quality did not impact on how the DOC reacts with chlorine.

#### 5.6. Conclusion

A eutrophic reservoir used for drinking water, its inflowing streams and a constructed wetland within the catchment were monitored for parameters including DOC, nutrients and THMFP. The main conclusion from the study is that there was no difference in the THMFP of the streams and no impact on THMFP of the constructed wetland. This indicates that there were no differences in DOC characteristic between streams in terms of reactivity with chlorine. However, there were large differences in DOC concentration between the streams and the constructed wetland, which reduced DOC concentration by 18% on average. The constructed wetland was less efficient at

sequestering nutrients than in the summer, highlighting the role of plants in a constructed wetland. It can be concluded that in the wintertime the constructed wetland is having a positive impact on water quality of the reservoir because it is still sequestering some nitrate and phosphate, but also reducing the DOC concentration of the treated inflow. Reducing the amount of nutrients going to the lake will lessen the algal growth in the lake and therefore decrease the amount of DOC being formed within the lake.

## 5.7. References

Aiken, G. & Cotsaris, E. 1995, "Soil and hydrology: their effect on NOM: Natural organic matter", *Journal-American Water Works Association*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 36-45.

Archer, A.D. & Singer, P.C. 2006, "An evaluation of the relationship between SUVA and NOM coagulation using the ICR database", *Journal (American Water Works Association)*, vol. 98, no. 7, pp. 110-123.

Bachand, P.A. & Horne, A.J. 1999, "Denitrification in constructed free-water surface wetlands: II. Effects of vegetation and temperature", *Ecological Engineering*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 17-32.

Box, J. 1983, "Investigation of the Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent for the determination of polyphenolic substances in natural waters", *Water research*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 511-525.

Carpenter, S.R. 1981, "Submersed vegetation: an internal factor in lake ecosystem succession", *American Naturalist*, pp. 372-383.

Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N. & Smith, V.H. 1998, "Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen", *Ecological Applications*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 559-568.

Chow, A.T., Gao, S. & Dahlgren, R.A. 2005, "Physical and chemical fractionation of dissolved organic matter and trihalomethane precursors: A review", *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 475-507.

Chupakov, A.V., Chupakova, A.A., Moreva, O.Y., Shirokova, L.S., Zabelina, S.A., Vorobieva, T.Y., Klimov, S.I., Brovko, O.S. & Pokrovsky, O.S. 2017, "Allochthonous and autochthonous carbon in deep, organic-rich and organic-poor lakes of the European Russian subarctic", *Boreal Environment Research*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 213-230

Fang, J., Yang, X., Ma, J., Shang, C. & Zhao, Q. 2010, "Characterization of algal organic matter and formation of DBPs from chlor (am) ination", *Water research*, vol. 44, no. 20, pp. 5897-5906.

Gough, R., Holliman, P.J., Cooke, G.M. & Freeman, C. 2015, "Characterisation of algogenic organic matter during an algal bloom and its implications for trihalomethane formation", *Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology*, vol. 6, pp. 11-19.

Kadlec, R.H. 2012, "Constructed marshes for nitrate removal", *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 934-1005.

Leenheer, J.A. & Croué, J. 2003, Peer reviewed: characterizing aquatic dissolved organic matter, .

Li, L., Gao, N., Deng, Y., Yao, J. & Zhang, K. 2012, "Characterization of intracellular & extracellular algae organic matters (AOM) of Microcystic aeruginosa and formation of AOM-associated disinfection byproducts and odor & taste compounds", *Water research*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 1233-1240.

Nguyen, M., Westerhoff, P., Baker, L., Hu, Q., Esparza-Soto, M. & Sommerfeld, M. 2005, "Characteristics and reactivity of algae-produced dissolved organic carbon", *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, vol. 131, no. 11, pp. 1574-1582.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J., Toledano, M.B., Eaton, N.E., Fawell, J. & Elliott, P. 2000, "Chlorination disinfection byproducts in water and their association with adverse reproductive outcomes: a review", *Occupational and environmental medicine*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 73-85.

Nixon, S.W. 1995, "Coastal marine eutrophication: a definition, social causes, and future concerns", *Ophelia*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 199-219.

Pacheco, F.S., Roland, F. & Downing, J.A. 2013, "Eutrophication reverses whole-lake carbon budgets", *Inland Waters*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 41-48.

Pierson-Wickmann, A., Gruau, G., Jardé, E., Gaury, N., Brient, L., Lengronne, M., Crocq, A., Helle, D. & Lambert, T. 2011, "Development of a combined isotopic and mass-balance approach to determine dissolved organic carbon sources in eutrophic reservoirs", *Chemosphere*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 356-366.

Ritson, J., Graham, N., Templeton, M., Clark, J., Gough, R. & Freeman, C. 2014, "The impact of climate change on the treatability of dissolved organic matter (DOM) in upland water supplies: a UK perspective", *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 473, pp. 714-730.

Sarrión, M., Santos, F. & Galceran, M. 2000, "In situ derivatization/solid-phase microextraction for the determination of haloacetic acids in water", *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 72, no. 20, pp. 4865-4873.

Schindler, D.W. 2006, "Recent advances in the understanding and management of eutrophication", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 356-363.

Scholz, C., Jones, T., West, M., Ehbair, A., Dunn, C. & Freeman, C. 2016, "Constructed wetlands may lower inorganic nutrient inputs but enhance DOC loadings into a drinking water reservoir in North Wales", *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 23, no. 18, pp. 18192-18199.

Smith, V.H. & Schindler, D.W. 2009, "Eutrophication science: where do we go from here?", *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 201-207.

Thurman, E. 1985, "Amount of organic carbon in natural waters" in *Organic geochemistry of natural waters* Springer, , pp. 7-65.

Tranvik, L.J., Downing, J.A., Cotner, J.B., Loiselle, S.A., Striegl, R.G., Ballatore, T.J., Dillon, P., Finlay, K., Fortino, K. & Knoll, L.B. 2009, "Lakes and reservoirs as regulators of carbon cycling and climate", *Limnology and Oceanography*, vol. 54, no. 6part2, pp. 2298-2314.

Tremblay, L. & Benner, R. 2006, "Microbial contributions to N-immobilization and organic matter preservation in decaying plant detritus", *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 133-146.

Vymazal, J. 2007, "Removal of nutrients in various types of constructed wetlands", *Science of the total environment*, vol. 380, no. 1, pp. 48-65.

Wetzel, R.G. 2001, *Limnology: lake and river ecosystems*, Gulf Professional Publishing.

Žegura, B., Štraser, A. & Filipič, M. 2011, "Genotoxicity and potential carcinogenicity of cyanobacterial toxins–a review", *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, vol. 727, no. 1, pp. 16-41.

# Chapter 6: Simultaneous analysis of water quality and temperature on the stability of trihalomethanes in water samples during prolonged storage

## 6.1. Abstract

The presence of natural dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in drinking water supplies can cause a number of issues during water treatment due to its effect on aesthetics such as taste and odour and its reaction with chlorine, resulting in the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs). These compounds include and the four trihalomethanes (THMs), (HAAs) haloacetic acids trichloromethane, bromodichloromethane, dibromochloromethane and tribromomethane. THM compounds have carcinogenic properties and can potentially cause damage to the reproductive system. DBP formation is a complex process and depends on a number of factors such as DOC concentration, chlorine dose, water temperature, reaction time and pH. The two DOC reactants (humic and fulvic acid) are the principal THM precursors. In the UK DOC concentrations have increased by 91% in freshwater rivers and lakes during the last 15 years partly due to the destabilisation of peatland soils resulting from climate change. This rising trend represents a challenge for water companies who need to minimise the formation of harmful DBP compounds. This project investigated the effect of THMs storage at 4°C and room temperature on the formation of THMs for selected surface waters (Nant-y-Brwyn stream and Cefni reservoir) in north Wales. Quantitative analysis of THMs (CHCl<sub>3</sub>, CHCl<sub>2</sub>Br, CHClBr<sub>2</sub> and CHBr<sub>3</sub>) was carried out using a solid phase micro extraction (SPME) technique.

#### 6.2. Introduction

During conventional water treatment processes, a disinfectant, usually chlorine, is added to reduce microbial contamination and the occurrence of waterborne diseases. Before widespread disinfection of potable water supplies was undertaken outbreaks of diseases such as typhoid and cholera were common throughout the world (USEPA, 1998). In developed areas of the world where water treatment is undertaken at an industrial scale the occurrence of such water-borne diseases has virtually ceased (Richardson, 2003), but contaminated water is still a big issue in the developing world. In chlorinated drinking water supplies, other compounds do exist which are a threat to human health. When water containing natural organic matter (NOM) comes into contact with chlorine a suite of halogenated disinfection by-products (DBPs) are formed, some of which are known to be carcinogenic (Jimenez et al., 1993; Sketchell et al., 1995; Palacios et al., 2000). DBPs are organo-halide compounds and the most common are the trihalomethanes (THMs), which are simple derivatives of methane formed when three of the hydrogen atoms are replaced by a halogen (Peterson et al., 1993). DBP concentrations in final, treated water depend on several factors, such as the concentration and characteristics of NOM, chlorine dosing amount, water temperature and pH (Rodrigues et al., 2007). The humic and fulvic acids component of NOM is considered to be the principal type of precursor to DBP formation (Bond et al., 2009). DBPs form either by the oxidation of carbon-carbon double bonds or by substitution, where a functional group is replaced by a halogen (Westerhoff et al., 2004). Higher temperatures lead to higher DBP yields, so the concentration of DBPs formed at water treatment works in summer are usually higher than in winter (Williams et al., 1997). Derivatives of chloro-bromo DBPs are formed when the bromide ion is present e.g. bromoform (Pourmoghaddas and Stevens, 1995). The four main THM species are trichloromethane/chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), bromodichloromethane (CHCl<sub>2</sub>Br), dibromochloromethane (CHClBr<sub>2</sub>) and tribromomethane/bromoform (CHBr<sub>3</sub>), with chloroform generally being the dominant THM in most chlorinated water supplies (Sketchell et al., 1995). In addition, pH influences the species of THMs formed; at pH 4–6 CHCl<sub>3</sub> tends to dominate, but when the pH increases then relatively more brominated THMs are produced, assuming a sufficient supply of bromide (Italia and Uden, 1992). Regulatory bodies have set limits for final water THM concentrations because of the potential effects on human health. In the UK, the safe limit for total THM concentration is 100  $\mu$ g/L, whilst the Environmental Protection Agency in the United States regulates the sum of the four THMs to a limit of 80  $\mu$ g/L and also regulates another class of DBPs, haloacetic acids (HAAs) (Goslan et al., 2009). THM formation is minimised in chlorinated water supplies through water companies removing as much DOC as possible prior to disinfection, using techniques such as coagulation and filtration. DOC removal is the costliest

stage of water treatment, but it is impossible to remove all DOC, therefore some THM formation will always occur. The standard method for THM analysis is the US EPA, Method 524.2 (Measurement of purgeable organic compounds in water by capillary column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry) and states that samples for VOC analysis, including THMs, must be stored in the dark at 4°C and analyzed within 14 days of collection (Eichelberger *et al.*, 1998), although the reference does not state why. However, Pepich *et al.* (2004) found that HAAs, which are similar to THMs, will remain stable for at least 28 days. However, we are not aware of any studies that have assessed the effects of temperature and water quality on THM stability.

#### 6.3. Methods

#### 6.3.1. Study site and sampling

Water samples were taken from two contrasting sites in north Wales on 4<sup>th</sup> February 2016 (Table 6.1). They were an oligotrophic, upland stream that drains predominantly blanket bog (the Migneint-Arenig-Dduallt Special Area of Conservation); the Nant-y-Brwyn stream (UK grid ref SH 79147 45267) and the outflow of a shallow, lowland, eutrophic lake, Llyn Cefni, which receives water that drains agricultural land (UK grid ref SH 44611 77150). One litre of sample was collected in a glass amber bottle at both sites.

#### 6.3.2. Laboratory analyses

pH and conductivity were measured in the laboratory on unfiltered samples on the day of sample collection. pH was measured using a SevenEasy pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Leicester, UK), which was calibrated using buffers of pH 4 and 7 at 25°C (Sigma). Conductivity was measured with a Primo 5 conductivity meter (Hanna Instruments, Bedfordshire, UK). Both samples were then filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m cellulose acetate filters, acidified to pH 2.5 and refrigerated at 4°C until further analysis was undertaken.

#### 6.3.3. Trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP)

The samples were chlorinated using a modification of the standard THM formation potential (THMFP) test. Samples were diluted so they contained final concentrations of 1 mg/L DOC after adding the appropriate volumes of chlorine dosing solution (5 mL/L of 0.28 mM sodium hypochlorite) and buffer (0.5 M monopotassium phosphate) added to generate THMs under standard conditions. The dose of sodium hypochlorite was sufficient to provide 5 mg of free Cl per mg of DOC. The samples were then incubated at 25°C in the dark for 7 days and quenched with 0.4 mL of 0.8 M sodium

sulphite to prevent continued THM formation. Each of the 1 L samples were then divided into 66 separate aliquots by pouring 15 mL of the sample into a 22 mL amber headspace vial. Half of the samples for each site were then stored in a refrigerator at 4°C and the other half in an oven at 25°C. At time zero, three vials were removed for each site and temperature conditions (12 samples in total) and analysed for their THM concentration. This process was repeated every week for four weeks and thereafter every two weeks until 11 weeks had passed. The concentration of THMs was measured using a solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) technique similar to that described by (Sarrión et al., 2000). The technique uses a Varian GC 450, a Restek MX-1 column (diphenyl/dimethyl polysiloxane phase, 30 m length, 0.53 mm i.d.),  $N_2$  carrier gas at a flow rate of 10 mL/min and a <sup>63</sup>Ni Electron Capture Detector. The oven temperature was held at 35 °C for 9 minutes and then increased at a rate of 10 °C /minute to 140 °C and held for 2 minutes and finally increased to 180 °C and held for 3 minutes. The injector temperature was 290 °C and the detector temperature 300 °C. Trihalomethane calibration solutions were made from a stock solution containing 2000 µg/mL of each of the 4 THM species; chloroform, bromodichloromethane, dibromochloromethane and bromoform (Sigma). A series of standard solutions were then prepared ranging from 1-500  $\mu g/L$ .

#### 6.3.4. Statistical Analysis

The effect of water type (two levels; oligotrophic and eutrophic) and temperature (two levels; 4 °C and 25 °C) on each measured parameter were determined using two-way ANOVA and Tukey HSD posthoc tests in SPSS v22 (IBM Statistics). Most data met the homogeneity and normality assumptions, which tested using the Bartlett and Shapiro Wilk tests, but those that did not were log-transformed. A p value of 0.05 used to determine significance.

#### 6.4. Results

The oligotrophic water had a lower pH, conductivity and DOC concentration compared to the eutrophic water (Table 6.1). The greater SUVA value of the oligotrophic water indicates that the DOC is comprised of proportionally more recalcitrant, aromatic and higher molecular weight moeities than the eutrophic water. Mean concentrations of chloroform and dichlorobromomethane for each site and temperature following the THMFP treatment proceedure on each sample and 11 weeks of storage are presented in Table 6.2 and statistical analysis in Table 6.3.

	Oligotrophic	Eutrophic
pH	4.57	7.01
Conductivity (µS/cm)	39	253
DOC (mg/L)	4.55	19.3
SUVA (L-mg/m)	4.06	3.17

Table 6.1. Water quality of sampling sites.

Trihalomethane species	Temperature	Oligotrophic	Eutrophic		
	(°C)				
Chloroform (u.g/L)	4	467.8 ( <u>+</u> 56.93)	212.5 ( <u>+</u> 20.39)		
Chloroform (µg/L)	25	474.3 ( <u>+</u> 44.63)	204.6 ( <u>+</u> 18.63)		
Dichlorobromomethane	4	9.15 ( <u>+</u> 2.36)	7.32 ( <u>+</u> 2.35)		
(µg/L)	25	8.89 ( <u>+</u> 2.59)	6.34 ( <u>+</u> 1.64)		

Table 6.2. Average THM concentration over 11 weeks of sample storage for two contrasting water types and at two storage temperatures.

		CHCl₃	CHCl₂Br
Temperature	F value	0.009	1.82
	P value	0.925	0.180
Site	F value	1103	22.4
	P value	0.000	0.000
Temperature	F value	0.820	0.600
x Site	P value	0.368	0.441

Table 6.3. Results of one-way ANOVA analysis two test effect of sites on measured parameters

The mean concentration of chloroform for the oligotrophic site samples was more than twice as high as the eutrophic site samples, with a highly significant difference for the Site factor (F=1103.6; p<0.000) but there was no significant temperature effect (F=0.009, p>0.05) and no significant interaction effect (F=0.820, p>0.05). For dichlorobromoform, the mean concentrations were more similar between the two sites but there was still a highly significant effect of Site (F=22.4, p<0.000), with the oligotrophic site having approximately 32% higher mean dichlorobromoform formation. There was also no significant temperature effect (F=1.82, p>0.05) or interaction effect (F=0.600, p>0.05) for this THM species.

The general trend over time for chloroform for the oligotrophic water was for concentrations to increase during the first thee weeks of sample storage but to then decrease to week 0 levels (not statistically different) for the next few sample weeks (Figure 6.1). For the eutrophic water, concentrations showed much less variation over the 11 weeks of storage.

For the oligotrophic water samples at 4°C, the chloroform concentration was 436.4  $\pm$  17.37 µg/L at week 0 and 419.6  $\pm$  31.74 µg/L after 11 weeks of storage, a difference of just 16.8 µg/L that was not significantly different (p>0.05). The chloroform concentration was significantly higher than the week 0 concentration on three occasions; week 1 (504.7  $\pm$  29.45 µg/L; p<0.05), week 2 (548.9  $\pm$  8.9 µg/L; p<0.001) and week 3 (532.3  $\pm$  29.74 µg/L; p<0.01). Differences between weeks 5, 7 and 9 compared

to week 0 were not significant (p>0.05). The trend for the 25 °C treatment was very similar to the 4 °C treatment, but only the week 2 and week 3 samples were significantly different to week 0 (445.9  $\pm$  35.8 µg/L for week 0 vs. 522.31  $\pm$  7.17 µg/L for week 2 and 533.6  $\pm$  20.8 µg/L for week 3; both p<0.05). The week 11 CHCL<sub>3</sub> concentration was 439.5  $\pm$  18.8 µg/L, a difference of just 6.4 µg/L from week 0.

For the eutrophic water treated samples, there was minimal variation of chloroform concentration over the 11 weeks of storage for either temperature. At 4°C, the week 0 chloroform concentration was  $192.9 \pm 7.5 \mu g/L$  and at week 11 was  $207.7 \pm 17.5 \mu g/L$ , a difference of just 14.8  $\mu g/L$ , which was not significant (p<0.05). There were no significant differences between week 0 and any of the time points beyond week 0 for the 4 °C treatment. For the 25°C treatment, there were three occasions when the chloroform concentration was significantly higher than the week 0 concentration of 173.2  $\pm$  15.6  $\mu g/L$ ; p<0.05; week 2 (213.1  $\pm$  10.7  $\mu g/L$ ; p<0.05), week 3 (220.4  $\pm$  11.1  $\mu g/L$ ; p<0.01) and week 7 (222.2  $\pm$  19.8  $\mu g/L$ ; p<0.01). At week 11 the concentration was 199.1  $\pm$  8.5  $\mu g/L$ , a difference of just 25.9  $\mu g/L$  which is not significant (p>0.05).

For dichlorobromomethane, concentrations generally increased over the 11 week storage period for all four site/temperature combinations, especially over the initial 7 weeks. For the oligotrophic water at 4°C, the concentration was  $6.02 \pm 0.97 \mu g/L$  at week 0 and  $10.07 \pm 2.89 \mu g/L$  after 11 weeks of storage, a difference of  $4.05 \mu g/L$ , but this was not significantly different (p>0.05). The dichlorobromomethane concentration was significantly higher than the week 0 concentration on two occasions; week 7 ( $12.67\pm0.62 \mu g/L$ ; p<0.001), and week 9 ( $10.96\pm2.89 \mu g/L$ ; p<0.05). The trend for the 25°C treatment was reasonably similar to the 4 °C treatment, but only the week 7 samples were significantly different to week 0 ( $5.99\pm1.54 \mu g/L$  for week 0 vs.  $13.0\pm3.47 \mu g/L$  for week 7; p<0.01). The week 11 dichlorobromomethane concentration was  $8.07\pm1.73 \mu g/L$ , a difference of just 2.08  $\mu g/L$  from week 0, which was not significant (p>0.05).

For the eutrophic water at 4°C, there were three occasions when the dichlorobromomethane concentration was significantly higher than the week 0 concentration of  $5.00 \pm 0.39 \ \mu g/L$ ; week 7  $(10.17 \pm 1.03 \ \mu g/L; p<0.01)$ , week 9  $(8.67 \pm 1.24 \ \mu g/L; p<0.05)$  and week 11  $(10.7 \pm 1.79 \ \mu g/L; p<0.001)$ . For the 25°C treatment, there were two occasions when the dichlorobromomethane concentration was significantly higher than the week 0 concentration of  $4.33 \pm 0.56 \ \mu g/L$ ; week 7  $(9.23 \pm 2.08 \ \mu g/L; p<0.001)$  and week 9  $(7.14 + 0.44 \ \mu g/L; p<0.05)$ . At week 11 the concentration was  $6.98 \pm 0.95 \ \mu g/L$ , a difference of 5.8  $\mu g/L$  from week 0, but this was not significant (p>0.05).

#### 6.5. Discussion

The current study was designed to assess long term stability of THM compounds in water samples and to test for differences in storage temperature (4°C vs. 25°C) and water type (nutrient poor (oligotrophic) vs. nutrient rich (eutrophic)). The preservation of organic compounds in water samples is a complex issue due to the potential for microbiological degradation. For THMs, if samples cannot be analysed for some time following the 7 day incubation period it is important to quench samples to inhibit further THM development and because THMs are reasonably volatile it is important to consider how the samples are stored.

#### 6.5.1. Storage effects

Over an 11 week period the majority of the weekly measurements of the concentrations of key DBPs showed no statistical differences from the week 0 values, regardless of water source types or storage temperatures (Figures 6.1 & 6.2). However, there are statistically significant higher concentrations of both chloroform and dichlorobromomethane for some weeks prior to week 11, especially weeks 1, 2 and 3 for chloroform for the oligotrophic site. This suggests that there are aspects of the chemistry of these samples post quenching that is not well understood. From an analytical perspective these results suggest that to get reliable data either perform the concentration analysis immediately following the standard 7 day incubation period and quenching or store them for between 4 - 11 weeks.



Figure 6.1. Chloroform concentrations following THMFP procedure during sample storage for two contrasting water types stored at two different temperatures for a total period of 11 weeks.



Figure 6.2. Dichlorobromomethane concentrations following THMFP procedure during sample storage for two contrasting water types stored at two different temperatures for a total period of 11 weeks.

#### 6.5.2. Oligotrophic v Eutrophic THMFP

The formation of chloroform and dichlorobromomethane was significantly greater for the oligotrophic water compared to the eutrophic water. This result was also reported by Scholz *et al.* (2016). The catchment of the sampled oligotrophic river is dominated by blanket bog peat, which is rich in organic carbon. Freshwaters that drain these areas tend to be high in DOC and the DOC relatively high molecular weight and high in aromatics. The eutrophic site is high in nutrients due to intensive farming practises within the catchment, occasionally leading to algal blooms within the reservoir and the generation of low molecular weight DOC. The differences in SUVA (an indication of DOC molecular weight/aromaticity) between the two sites can at least partly explain their differences in terms of THMFP. Related studies show that generally SUVA was lower for the eutrophic water ( $4.06 \pm 0.37$ ) (Chapter 2). The oligotrophic DOC would have a higher proportion of humic compounds, which have a higher surface charge, compared to the more fulvic rich eutrophic water DOC (Sharp *et al.*, 2006). However, studies demonstrate that THMs are also formed by non-aromatic molecular structures (Weishaar *et al.*, 2003; Qunsham *et al.*, 2008; Fram *et al.*, 1999).

High SUVA (more than 4 L/mg/m) indicates the presence of humic matter due to the aromatic and hydrophobic compounds leading to high THMFP, while SUVA between 2 to 4 L/mg/m indicates the presence of a mixture of humic and non-humic matter and a mixture of hydrophobic and hydrophilic material, leading to relatively lower THMFP. By contrast, SUVA less than 2 indicates the presence of a high fraction of non-humic matter of hydrophilic character with low UVA, leading to the lowest THMFP (PEA 2012).

There have been a number of studies that have examined the correlation between SUVA and formation of different types of DBP (Goslan *et al.*, 2002). When studying samples from the same water type there is generally quite a strong correlation between SUVA and the various DBP types (Hua *et al.*, 2015). However a number of studies have provided evidence that this is not the case when a variety of water sample are tested. Different species of DBPs have been found to exhibit different relationships with SUVA (Hua *et al.*, 2015). For instance, a strong positive relationship between SUVA and trihaloacetic acids ( $R^2 = 0.80$ ) was found, and between SUVA and total organic halogens ( $R^2 = 0.75$ ). However, weaker correlations ( $R^2 = 0.50$ ) were found between SUVA and trihalomethanes, and between SUVA and dihaloacetic acid ( $R^2 = 0.19$ ), during chlorination. This work shows that, overall, SUVA is a good indicator for unknown total organic halogens, however, an overall average of 56% for unknown total organic halogens, di- and tri- halo acetic acids and trihalomethanes together is classed as a weak correlation (Hua *et al.*, 2015).

#### 6.6. Conclusions

The hypothesis of his study was that the trihalomethanes concentrations will not be stable after two weeks of storage and the change in concentration will be greater at 25°C compared to 4°C and for the nutrient-rich water compared to the nutrient-poor water. The data we have analysed indicates this hypothesis is true for all of the chloroform samples regardless of site/temperature apart from the eutrophic water samples stored post treatment at 4°C. However, for the dichlorobromomethane there is no significant difference in concentration of the samples from any site/temperature combination for up to 6 weeks.

## 6.7. References

Bond, T., Goslan, E.H., Jefferson, B., Roddick, F., Fan, L. & Parsons, S.A. 2009, "Chemical and biological oxidation of NOM surrogates and effect on HAA formation", *Water research*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2615-2622.

Eichelberger, J., Budde-Revision, W., Munch, J. & Bellar-Revision, T. 1989, "Method 524.2 Measurement of Purgeable Organic Compounds in Water by Capillary Column Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry", *Environmental monitoring systems laboratory office of research and development, US EPA, Cincinnati, Ohio,* vol. 45268.

Fram, M.S., Fujii, R., Weishaar, J.L., Bergamaschi, B.A. & Aiken, G.R. 1999, "How DOC composition may explain the poor correlation between specific trihalomethane formation potential and specific UV absorbance", *Water Resources Investigations Report: WRI*, , pp. 99-4018.

Goslan, E.H., Fearing, D.A., Banks, J., Wilson, D., Hills, P., Campbell, A.T. & Parsons, S.A. 2002, "Seasonal variations in the disinfection by-product precursor profile of a reservoir water", *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 475-482.

Goslan, E.H., Krasner, S.W., Bower, M., Rocks, S.A., Holmes, P., Levy, L.S. & Parsons, S.A. 2009, "A comparison of disinfection by-products found in chlorinated and chloraminated drinking waters in Scotland", *Water research*, vol. 43, no. 18, pp. 4698-4706.

Hua, G., Reckhow, D.A. & Abusallout, I. 2015, "Correlation between SUVA and DBP formation during chlorination and chloramination of NOM fractions from different sources", *Chemosphere*, vol. 130, pp. 82-89.

Inspectorate, Chief Inspector Drinking Water 1998, "Drinking water 1997", London: The Stationery Office.

Italia, M. & Uden, P. 1992, "Gas chromatography—electron-capture detection investigation of trihalomethanes produced by chlorination of humic acid in the presence of bromide", *Journal of Chromatography A*, vol. 605, no. 1, pp. 81-86.

Jimenez, M.S., Dominguez, A.P. & Silverio, J.C. 1993, "Reaction kinetics of humic acid with sodium hypochlorite", *Water research*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 815-820.

113

Knocke, W.R., West, S. & Hoehn, R.C. 1986, "Effects of low temperature on the removal of trihalomethane precursors by coagulation", *Journal (American Water Works Association)*, pp. 189-195.

Palacios, M., Pampillón, J.F. & Rodríguez, M. 2000, "Organohalogenated compounds levels in chlorinated drinking waters and current compliance with quality standards throughout the European Union", *Water research*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 1002-1016.

Pepich, B.V., Domino, M.M., Dattilio, T.A., Fair, P.S. & Munch, D.J. 2004, "Validating sample preservation techniques and holding times for the approved compliance monitoring methods for haloacetic acids under the US EPA's stage 1 D/DBP rule", *Water research*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 895-902.

Richardson, S.D. 2003, "Disinfection by-products and other emerging contaminants in drinking water", *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 666-684.

Ridgman, W. 1991, "Soils of the British Isles, by BW Avery. xi 463 pp. Wallingford: CAB International (1990).£ 67.50 or US \$118.00 (Americas only)(hard covers). ISBN 0 85198 649 8.", *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, vol. 116, no. 02, pp. 327-327.

Sarrión, M., Santos, F. & Galceran, M. 2000, "In situ derivatization/solid-phase microextraction for the determination of haloacetic acids in water", *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 72, no. 20, pp. 4865-4873.

Scholz, C., Jones, T., West, M., Ehbair, A., Dunn, C. & Freeman, C. 2016, "Constructed wetlands may lower inorganic nutrient inputs but enhance DOC loadings into a drinking water reservoir in North Wales", *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 23, no. 18, pp. 18192-18199.

Sharp, E., Jarvis, P., Parsons, S. & Jefferson, B. 2006, "Impact of fractional character on the coagulation of NOM", *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects,* vol. 286, no. 1, pp. 104-111.

USEPA (1998) National Primary Drinking Water Regulations: Disinfection and Disinfection Byproducts; Final Rule. Federal Register, 63: 69390-69476.

Wei, Q., Wang, D., Wei, Q., Qiao, C., Shi, B. & Tang, H. 2008, "Size and resin fractionations of dissolved organic matter and trihalomethane precursors from four typical source waters in China", *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, vol. 141, no. 1, pp. 347-357.

114

Weishaar, J.L., Aiken, G.R., Bergamaschi, B.A., Fram, M.S., Fujii, R. & Mopper, K. 2003, "Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 37, no. 20, pp. 4702-4708.

Westerhoff, P., Chao, P. & Mash, H. 2004, "Reactivity of natural organic matter with aqueous chlorine and bromine", *Water research*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1502-1513.

Williams, D.T., LeBel, G.L. & Benoit, F.M. 1997, "Disinfection by-products in Canadian drinking water", *Chemosphere*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 299-316.

## **Chapter 7: Final Discussion**

## 7.1. Effect of drought conditions on DOC

Chapters 2, 3 and 4 examined the impact of drought conditions on peatland and freshwater dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations, quality and propensity to form trihalomethanes (THMs) following experimental chlorination. Chapter 2 assessed the differences in water quality and DOC between a series of man-made drainage ditches and a natural stream in the peat-dominated Upper Conwy catchment over a 12-month period. Chapter 3 focused on the Plynlimon study site in Mid-Wales, where soil porewater was sampled for 6 months from a control area and an area subject to long-term drought and assessed for DOC concentration and quality. Chapter 4 involved the collection of peat cores from two sites (fen from Cors Eddreniog, Anglesey, and bog from Migneint, Conwy, both UK) and application of a drought and re-wet treatment, again with DOC as the main focus. These studies have addressed the impact of drained/drought conditions on peatland carbon (Freeman *et al.*, 1998; Freeman *et al.*, 2004). This section synthesises some of the key results from these chapters.



## 7.1.1. General water chemistry

Figure 7.1. mean pH of all drought/drainage experimental sites.

The mean pH value of all the sites, shown in Figure 1, demonstrate that all sites were acidic, ranging from  $6.39 \pm 0.16$ , in the fen drought conditions to  $4.07 \pm 0.15$  in Conwy ditches. The data suggests that the fen has the highest pH, due to the fact that fens mainly receive water from nutrient-rich

groundwater (Leonard *et al.* 2013). Conwy ditches demonstrated the lowest average pH, due to the site deriving it's water from nutrient-poor precipitation and due to organic acids leaching from the drained peat soils.



Figure 7.2. Mean specific conductivity of all drought/drainage experimental sites

For conductivity, the greatest mean value of all sites was 594.0  $\pm$  87.3  $\mu$ S/cm for the fen drought conditions and the lowest was for the Plynlimon control, at 26.7  $\pm$  1.88  $\mu$ s/cm. This again reflects the different sources of water for the different sites.

## 7.1.2. Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) concentrations



Figure 7.3. Mean DOC concentrations of all drought/drainage experimental sites

The highest mean concentration of DOC of all sampling sites was measured in the bog cores under control conditions (97.6  $\pm$  25.0 mg/l) and the lowest mean concentration was recorded in Plynlimon under drought conditions (11.89  $\pm$  0.45 mg/l). Peatlands represent a major terrestrial store of carbon (Limpens *et al.* 2008), that has formed due to the incomplete decay of plant material in waterlogged conditions (Billett *et al.*, 2010). Climate change is expected to lead to an increase in the frequency of drought and this will not only affect the ability of peatlands to continue to sequester carbon, but will also lead to the release of significant amounts of stored carbon to freshwaters (as DOC) and the atmosphere (as CO<sub>2</sub>) (Bates, 2008; Clark et al., 2010; Evans and Warburton, 2010; Fenner and Freeman, 2011; Gallego-Sala and Prentice, 2013).

Mean DOC concentrations across the control sites over the entire period of sampling (from June 2013 – June 2016) were as follows: Bog > Fen > Plynlimon control > Conwy Stream. The drivers of the observed differences between the sites could be attributed to the topography, soil type and extent of anthropogenic influences within the catchments, and as well as external influences such as rainfall and temperature (Fenner *et al.*, 2005; Worrall *et al.* 2003; Wetzel *et al.* 1992). There were seasonal variations in DOC concentration of the sites, most noticeably increasing during the autumn months (Figure 2.4a, Chapter 2). This effect is largely driven by vegetation dieback and senescence within the catchments and the subsequent release of degradation products and DOC during the increasing autumn rainfall (Scott, 2001; Dawson *et al.*, 2008). During drought conditions (for example, at Plynlimon) reduced rainfall and water table drawdown occurs, leads to an increasing influx of oxygen into the upper peat layers. However, rising temperatures throughout spring and summer can lead to increased microbial activity, which can lead to a further increase in degradation products (Freeman *et al.*, 2004). For the peat core experiment, DOC concentrations were higher in the bog than in the fen and higher in the control than in the drought, as was previously found by Lin *et al.* (2012) and Tfaily *et al.* (2013).

We observed slightly greater losses of DOC for the fen cores compared to the bog cores when subject to experimental drought conditions. There was a 39.4% reduction in DOC for the bog and a 44.8% reduction for the fen. This suggests organic matter and DOC from bogs is more resistant to degradation than in fens. This agrees with the findings from Corbett *et al.* (2013), and the reason for this could be due to the difference in the vegetation and therefore substrate quality. *Sphagnum* moss, much more prevalent in bogs than fens, is resistant to decomposition and bogs generally have higher concentrations of phenolic compounds (Lang *et al.*, 2009). In addition, higher porewater sulphate concentrations in the droughted fen peat (due to higher sulphur availability from ground water) may have lowered pH and reduced DOC solubility (Clark *et al.*, 2012), therefore

118

resulting in lower DOC concentrations. The decline in the concentration of DOC during drought (see Figure 4.2, Chapter 4 and Figure 5.3, Chapter 5), has been reported previously; Freeman *et al*. (2004), Ellis *et al*. (2009), Fenner and Freeman (2011) and Clark *et al*. (2012). However, some other studies have reported an increase in DOC during drought (Fenner *et al*., 2009; Lou *et al*., 2014; Strack *et al*., 2008; Worrall *et al*., 2004). This could be due to acidification which leads to a decrease in the solubility of DOC.



Figure 7.4. Mean phenolic concentrations of all drought/drainage experimental sites

The highest mean phenolic compound concentration of all sites was the bog under control conditions  $(13.3 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg/l})$  and the lowest was Conwy ditches  $(1.32 \pm 0.17 \text{ mg/l})$ .

Generally, the concentration of phenolic compounds mirrored that of DOC, indicating that phenolic compounds are a significant fraction of total DOC at these study sites. For all three experiments, the phenolic concentration was lower in the drought/drained treatment than the control. This finding agrees with the study of Fenner and Freeman (2011) who state that under conditions of lowered water table in peat, oxygen ingress results in the degradation of phenolic compounds and the pool of phenolic DOC can take a long time to recover after rewetting. The data from the peat core experiment (chapter 4) shows that the concentration of phenolic compounds in porewater was higher in the bog than the fen. This could be due to the greater activities of phenol oxidase in the fen (Jassey *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, bacterial activity in fens have been reported to be higher than in bogs (Ausec *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that the bog conditions are less suitable for phenolic-degrading microbes.

Additionally, Figure 5.4 in chapter 5, demonstrates that there was a higher phenolic concentration in control conditions as opposed to drought conditions, presumably due to the increase in the activity of phenol oxidase (e.g. Fenner and Freeman, 2011), although some previous studies have demonstrated a weak relationship between phenol oxidase activity and phenolic concentration (Romanowicz *et al.*, 2015). It is suspected that oxygenated conditions in the drought treatment will have resulted in the complete breakdown of soil organic matter to CO<sub>2</sub>, rather than incomplete breakdown to DOC, due to the opening of the enzymic latch (Fenner and Freeman, 2011; Freeman *et al.*, 2001).

Figure 2.6 (a and b) in Chapter 2 shows a higher phenolic concentration in the stream and ditches than Llyn Conwy. This could be due to the peat soils from which the waters are draining providing a higher phenolic concentration, however, it would be reasonable to assume that all water in Llyn Conwy would have been derived from this peat rich catchment, and therefore the phenolic concentration should also be high. The low phenolics concentration is likely a dilution effect taking place here, due to the site's high rainfall and the large volume of the lake, and a larger surface area of the lake compared to the stream would result in a greater exposure to UV radiation from sunlight, which has been shown to degrade phenolic compounds (Jones et al. 2016). Figure 2.8 (Chapter 2) shows that the strong positive relationship between DOC and phenolic concentrations applies for the ditch and stream samples but less so for the lake, therefore indicating that the DOC within the lake contains proportionally less phenolics.



#### 7.1.3. Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) quality



The characteristics of DOC of all sites were analysed by measuring specific UV absorbance (SUVA). The highest mean SUVA value was in the Fen under control condition ( $6.63 \pm 2.25 \text{ L/mg-m}$ ) and lowest SUVA value was in Plynlimon under drought conditions ( $1.69 \pm 0.09 \text{ L/mg-m}$ ).

SUVA is an important measurement in drinking water treatment because it indicates higher molecular weight, aromatic compounds which some previous studies have shown have a higher propensity to form some of the regulated DBPs upon chlorination, such as THMs (Bond *et al.*, 2011; Volk *et al.*, 2002; Kitis *et al.*, 2002). The SUVA value is used to describe the aromaticity of DOC (Weishaar *et al.*, 2003) and it is an important predictor for DOC removal during coagulation, and DBP formation in water treatment plants (Matilainen *et al.*, 2011). Ritson *et al.* (2017) shows that high SUVA values were observed in peat soil. In chapter 4, SUVA was higher for the fen compared to the bog and for the control compared to the drought (see Figure 4.5, Chapter 4). SUVA for the drought treatment was significantly lower than the control for the Plynlimon experiment (Figure 5.5, Chapter 5). This could be due to the fact that drought conditions enhance the microbial breakdown of organic matter and DOC.

The data from Chapter 2 figure 2.9 shows that there is a good relationship between DOC and SUVA<sub>254</sub> ( $R^2$ =0.50) and this finding agrees with Chow *et al.*, (1999), Bell-Ajy *et al.*, (2000) and Singer and Bilyk, (2002) ( $R^2$ =0.88).



## 7.1.4. Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP)

Figure 7.6. Mean total THM formation potential concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) of all sites. Error bars represent variance between data.

The highest mean THMFP value was observed in the Conwy Stream, at 128.51  $\pm$  76.55 µg/L and lowest was in the Fen Control at 48.8  $\pm$  4.77 µg/L.

The THMFP for Conwy was higher in the natural stream than the man-made drainage ditches, although the difference was not significant (Chapter 2, figure 2.7). The trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) in the porewater was generally lower during drought conditions (42.7  $\pm$  4.89 CHCl<sub>3</sub> µg/mg DOC) than control (48.6  $\pm$  5.57 CHCl<sub>3</sub> µg/mg DOC), but the effect was not significant (see chapter 3, Figure 3.6). The mean THMFP in Figure 4.6 (Chapter 4) was higher for the drought (57.75  $\pm$  20.33  $\mu$ g CHCl<sub>3</sub>/mg DOC) over the control (54.59 ± 23.63 µg CHCl<sub>3</sub>/mg DOC) treatment, but this effect was not significant. There are no previous studies examining drought effects on THMFP and the lack of significant drainage/drought treatment effects on THMFP was surprising, given the significant changes in DOC quality that were observed in chapters 2, 3 and 4. Our hypotheses all stated that any changes in DOC quality should affect THMFP yields. Our data shows no relationship between SUVA and THMFP for any chapter, a finding only found in one other paper; Weishaar, et al. (2003) (R<sup>2</sup>= 0.4153). Others studies show significant relationships between the two parameters, including Ma *et al.* (2013), who reported a strong relationship between SUVA<sub>254</sub> and THMFP ( $R^2$ = 0.993). High SUVA should indicate high THMFP because highly hydrophobic and aromatic compounds absorb ultraviolet radiation most strongly and also react readily with chlorine (Ma et al., 2013: Zhao et al., 2006).



#### 7.2. Effect of nutrient status on DOC

Figure 7.7. mean pH of all Conwy stream and Cefni site.

The mean pH value of all the sites in chapters 2-4 (Figure 7.1) were acidic. By contrast, the eutrophic Cefni was basic with a mean pH of 7.49  $\pm$  0.048, much higher than the oligotrophic Conwy stream, which was acidic (5.2  $\pm$  0.138). The higher pH in the Cefni is due to the greater influence of groundwater and because algae generate alkalinity (Leonard *et al.* 2013).



Figure 7.8. Mean specific conductivity for Conwy stream and Cefni site.

The mean conductivity was greater at all Cefni sites (252.98  $\mu$ s/cm ± 8.230) than in the Conwy stream (39.03  $\mu$ s/cm ± 2.416). Again, this is likely to be due to the influence of groundwater.



Figure 7.9. Mean phenolics concentrations of stream and Cefni experimental sites.

The highest mean concentration of phenolics was in Conwy stream 2.34 mg/L  $\pm$  0.24 and the lowest was in Cefni 0.67 mg/L  $\pm$ 0.05. This is likely to be due to the leaching of phenolic compounds from the peat substrate in the Conwy catchment.



Figure 7.10. Mean DOC concentrations of stream and Cefni experimental sites.

The highest mean concentration of DOC was in Conwy stream 12.69 mg/L  $\pm$  1.209 and the lowest was in the Cefni 11.09 mg/L  $\pm$  0.79. Despite this, the Cefni had the highest THMFP per mg DOC (Figure 7.12), reflecting its higher reactivity.



Figure 7.11. Mean total THM formation potential concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) of stream site compared to Cefni site. Error bars represent variance between data.
Previous studies show that Llyn Cefni has consistently high DOC concentrations year round, resulting in higher THM formation, and published works show that compliance for THMs at this site has been historically poor (Balch, 2005). Our data suggest that the relationship between THMFP ( $\mu$ g/mg DOC) and DOC concentration appears to be random.

## 7.3. Impact of thesis findings

Environmental issues, most importantly climate change, are not the only concern relating to the issue of rising DOC in freshwaters. It can also lead to higher treatment costs in water treatment plants, and/or higher potential disinfection by-product formation. It is important to control or reduce the concentration of THMs in finished water. This can be achieved most effectively by removing DOC prior to chlorination. 80-100% DOC removal can be achieved using membranes (Fu *et al.*, 1994; Lin *et al.*, 1999). Other studies have shown that coagulation by aluminium sulphate can remove 10-40% of DOC (Volk *et al.*, 2000), 40-60% by ferric chloride (Dennett *et al.*, 1995) and ozonation (Goel *et al.*, 1995).

## 7.4. Suggestions for future work

It would be useful to investigate the cause of the difference in THMFP between bog and fen Cefni, control and drought samples. To achieve this it would be necessary to further analyse the characteristics of the DOC. Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and Mass Spectroscopy could be used to identify specific functional groups. Another important variable is the relative importance of allochthonous and autochthonous sources of DOC. In the Cefni reservoir, algae is known to be an important source of THMFP. However, the amount of DOC produced by algae is not known. Quantification of different DOC sources could help to explain variations in THMFP between different sites. In this case, if the majority of the DOC in the reservoir is algae-derived, then the water companies can help the local farmers surrounding the reservoir to reduce the levels of nutrients entering the reservoir from the catchment which stimulates algal growth. However, if the DOC is largely formed outside the reservoir (allochthonous) then the water companies should invest in the management of Cors Erddreiniog fen in the Cefni catchment.

## 7.5. Final conclusion

- Eutrophic reservoir and its inflowing streams were monitored for parameters including DOC, nutrients and THMFP.
- Higher DOC concentrations in the lake than the 2 dominant inflowing streams, demonstrate that there is significant production of DOC from algae within the lake.
- There was no difference in the THMFP between the streams and reservoir indicating no differences in DOC characteristic in terms of reactivity with chlorine.
- The constructed wetland reduced DOC concentration by 18% on average representing an additional benefit.
- The constructed wetland sequestered nutrients, removing 9 and 21% of nitrate and phosphate, which was presumably taken up by algae and plants within the constructed wetland, but the extent of sequestration was much lower than during the winter
- The constructed wetland is benefiting the water quality of Llyn Cefni reservoir by reducing the nutrients going to the lake, and thereby reducing the amount of algae and DOC building up in the lake.
- The DOC concentration in the different streams was highly variable, reflecting different process happening within each stream and its catchment.
- The most important graph of this study shows the amount of THMs you would expect to form per mg of DOC and there is no difference between the main inflows and the outflow, so there is no impact of the constructed wetland in this respect.
- The pH of all streams were relatively constant and ranged from 7.3 to approximately 7.8 because the site is lowland and is influenced by groundwater.
- The reservoir showed the highest pH because algae generate alkalinity.
- Drought generally lowered pH, especially for the fen peat. This is because the fen receives its nutrients from groundwater, so cutting off the nutrient supply will reduce pH
- Drought lowered concentrations of DOC and phenolics for both peat types. This will have resulted in the complete breakdown of soil organic matter to CO<sub>2</sub>, rather than incomplete breakdown to DOC, due to the opening of the enzymic latch.
- The loss of DOC and phenolics due to drought can be attributed to oxygenation and improved conditions for decomposition in the soil.
- Evidence of greater THMFP in the drought treatment shows that peatland drought changes the characteristics of the DOC to make it more likely to form THMs. However, this is more than offset by the much lower DOC concentrations.

- The DOC concentration of Llyn Conwy changed little throughout the study period, despite the DOC concentration of the streams and ditches varying throughout the year, because Llyn Conwy lake is a large lake and has a high volume.
- The higher SUVA of the Ditches is most likely to be due to the release of more complex, humified DOC from the deep soil layers.
- Long-term experimental drought in peatlands has a strong impact on porewater DOC concentration but no significant effect on THMFP.

## 7.6. References

Aiken, M. 1985, Humic Substances In Soil, Sediment And Water. New York.

Ausec, L., Van Elsas, J.D. & Mandic-Mulec, I. 2011, "Two-and three-domain bacterial laccase-like genes are present in drained peat soils", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 975-983.

Bates, B., Kundzewicz, Z.W., Wu, S. & Palutikof, J. 2008, *climate change and Water: technical Paper vi*, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Bell-Ajy, K., Abbaszadegan, M., Ibrahim, E., Verges, D. & LeChevallier, M. 2000, "Conventional and optimized coagulation for NOM removal", *American Water Works Association.Journal*, vol. 92, no. 10, pp. 44.

Billett, M., Charman, D., Clark, J., Evans, C., Evans, M., Ostle, N., Worrall, F., Burden, A., Dinsmore, K. & Jones, T. 2010, "Carbon balance of UK peatlands: current state of knowledge and future research challenges", *Climate Research*, vol. 45, pp. 13-29.

Bond, T., Goslan, E., Parsons, S. & Jefferson, B. 2011, "Treatment of disinfection by-product precursors", *Environmental technology*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 1-25.

Chow, C., Van Leeuwen, J., Drikas, M., Fabris, R., Spark, K. & Page, D. 1999, "The impact of the character of natural organic matter in conventional treatment with alum", *Water science and technology*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 97-104.

Clark, J., Billett, M., Coyle, M., Croft, S., Daniels, S., Evans, C., Evans, M., Freeman, C., Gallego-Sala, A.V. & Heinemeyer, A. 2010, "Model inter-comparison between statistical and dynamic model assessments of the long-term stability of blanket peat in Great Britain (1940-2099)", .

Clark, J., Heinemeyer, A., Martin, P. & Bottrell, S. 2012, "Processes controlling DOC in pore water during simulated drought cycles in six different UK peats", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 109, no. 1-3, pp. 253-270.

Clark, J.M., Chapman, P.J., Heathwaite, A.L. & Adamson, J.K. 2006, "Suppression of dissolved organic carbon by sulfate induced acidification during simulated droughts", *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1776-1783.

Crozes, G., White, P. & Marshall, M. 1995, "Enhanced coagulation: its effects on NOM removal and chemical costs: Natural organic matter", *Journal-American Water Works Association*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 78-89.

Dawson, J., Soulsby, C., Tetzlaff, D., Hrachowitz, M., Dunn, S. & Malcolm, I. 2008, "Influence of hydrology and seasonality on DOC exports from three contrasting upland catchments", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 93-113.

Dennett, K., Amirtharajah, A., Studstill, A., Moran, T.F. & Gould, J. 1995, "Humic substance removal and minimization of trihalomethanes by ferric chloride coagulation" in *Humic substance removal and minimization of trihalomethanes by ferric chloride coagulation* AWWAR, pp. 129-136.

Dennett, K., Amirtharajah, A., Studstill, A., Moran, T.F. & Gould, J. 1995, "Humic substance removal and minimization of trihalomethanes by ferric chloride coagulation" in *Humic substance removal and minimization of trihalomethanes by ferric chloride coagulation* AWWAR, pp. 129-136.

Elizabeth Corbett, J., Burdige, D.J., Tfaily, M.M., Dial, A.R., Cooper, W.T., Glaser, P.H. & Chanton, J.P. 2013, "Surface production fuels deep heterotrophic respiration in northern peatlands", *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 1163-1174.

Ellis, T., Hill, P., Fenner, N., Williams, G., Godbold, D. & Freeman, C. 2009, "The interactive effects of elevated carbon dioxide and water table draw-down on carbon cycling in a Welsh ombrotrophic bog", *Ecological Engineering*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 978-986.

Evans, M.G. & Warburton, J. 2010, "Peatland geomorphology and carbon cycling", *Geography Compass*, vol. 4, no. 10, pp. 1513-1531.

Fenner, N. & Freeman, C. 2011, "Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands", *Nature geoscience*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 895-900.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C. & Worrall, F. 2009, "Hydrological controls on dissolved organic carbon production and release from UK peatlands", *Carbon cycling in northern peatlands*, , pp. 237-249.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C. & Reynolds, B. 2005, "Hydrological effects on the diversity of phenolic degrading bacteria in a peatland: implications for carbon cycling", *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 1277-1287.

Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Ostle, N., Kang, H., Dowrick, D., Reynolds, B., Lock, M., Sleep, D., Hughes, S. & Hudson, J. 2004, "Export of dissolved organic carbon from peatlands under elevated carbon dioxide levels", *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 6996, pp. 195-198.

Freeman, C., Nevison, G., Hughes, S., Reynolds, B. & Hudson, J. 1998, "Enzymic involvement in the biogeochemical responses of a Welsh peatland to a rainfall enhancement manipulation", *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 173-178.

Fu, P., Ruiz, H., Thompson, K. & Spangenberg, C. 1994, "Selecting membranes for removing NOM and DBP precursors", *Journal-American Water Works Association*, vol. 86, no. 12, pp. 55-72.

Gallego-Sala, A.V. & Prentice, I.C. 2013, "Blanket peat biome endangered by climate change", *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 152-155.

Goel, S., Hozalski, R.M. & Bouwer, E.J. 1995, "Biodegradation of NOM", *J Am Water Works Assoc,* vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 90-105.

Jassey, V.E., Chiapusio, G., Gilbert, D., Buttler, A., TOUSSAINT, M. & Binet, P. 2011, "Experimental climate effect on seasonal variability of polyphenol/phenoloxidase interplay along a narrow fen-bog ecological gradient in Sphagnum fallax", *Global Change Biology*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 2945-2957.

Jones, T.G., Freeman, C., Lloyd, A. & Mills, G. 2009, "Impacts of elevated atmospheric ozone on peatland below-ground DOC characteristics", *Ecological Engineering*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 971-977.

Kitis, M., Karanfil, T., Wigton, A. & Kilduff, J.E. 2002, "Probing reactivity of dissolved organic matter for disinfection by-product formation using XAD-8 resin adsorption and ultrafiltration fractionation", *Water research*, vol. 36, no. 15, pp. 3834-3848.

Lang, S.I., Cornelissen, J.H., Klahn, T., Van Logtestijn, R.S., Broekman, R., Schweikert, W. & Aerts, R. 2009, "An experimental comparison of chemical traits and litter decomposition rates in a diverse range of subarctic bryophyte, lichen and vascular plant species", *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 886-900.

Limpens, J., Berendse, F., Blodau, C., Canadell, J., Freeman, C., Holden, J., Roulet, N., Rydin, H. & Schaepman-Strub, G. 2008, "Peatlands and the carbon cycle: from local processes to global implications—a synthesis", *Biogeosciences*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 1475-1491.

Lin, C., Huang, Y. & Hao, O.J. 1999, "Ultrafiltration processes for removing humic substances: effect of molecular weight fractions and PAC treatment", *Water research*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 1252-1264.

Lin, C., Huang, Y. & Hao, O.J. 1999, "Ultrafiltration processes for removing humic substances: effect of molecular weight fractions and PAC treatment", *Water research*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 1252-1264.

Lin, X., Green, S., Tfaily, M.M., Prakash, O., Konstantinidis, K.T., Corbett, J.E., Chanton, J.P., Cooper, W.T. & Kostka, J.E. 2012, "Microbial community structure and activity linked to contrasting biogeochemical gradients in bog and fen environments of the Glacial Lake Agassiz Peatland", *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 78, no. 19, pp. 7023-7031.

Lou, X., Zhai, S., Kang, B., Hu, Y. & Hu, L. 2014, "Rapid response of hydrological loss of DOC to water table drawdown and warming in Zoige peatland: results from a mesocosm experiment", *PloS one*, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. e109861.

Ma, D., Gao, B., Sun, S., Wang, Y., Yue, Q. & Li, Q. 2013, "Effects of dissolved organic matter size fractions on trihalomethanes formation in MBR effluents during chlorine disinfection", *Bioresource technology*, vol. 136, pp. 535-541.

Matilainen, A., Gjessing, E.T., Lahtinen, T., Hed, L., Bhatnagar, A. & Sillanpää, M. 2011, "An overview of the methods used in the characterisation of natural organic matter (NOM) in relation to drinking water treatment", *Chemosphere*, vol. 83, no. 11, pp. 1431-1442.

Ritson, J.P., Brazier, R.E., Graham, N.J., Freeman, C., Templeton, M.R. & Clark, J. 2017, "The effect of drought on dissolved organic carbon (DOC) release from peatland soil and vegetation sources", *Biogeosciences Discussions*, .

Romanowicz, K.J., Kane, E.S., Potvin, L.R., Daniels, A.L., Kolka, R.K. & Lilleskov, E.A. 2015, "Understanding drivers of peatland extracellular enzyme activity in the PEATcosm experiment: mixed evidence for enzymic latch hypothesis", *Plant and Soil*, vol. 397, no. 1-2, pp. 371-386.

Scott, M., Jones, M., Woof, C., Simon, B. & Tipping, E. 2001, "The molecular properties of humic substances isolated from a UK upland peat system: a temporal investigation", *Environment international*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 449-462.

Singer, P. 1999, "Humic substances as precursors for potentially harmful disinfection byproducts", *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 25-30.

131

Singer, P.C. & Bilyk, K. 2002, "Enhanced coagulation using a magnetic ion exchange resin", *Water research*, vol. 36, no. 16, pp. 4009-4022.

Strack, M., Waddington, J., Bourbonniere, R., Buckton, E., Shaw, K., Whittington, P. & Price, J. 2008, "Effect of water table drawdown on peatland dissolved organic carbon export and dynamics", *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 22, no. 17, pp. 3373-3385.

Tfaily, M.M., Hamdan, R., Corbett, J.E., Chanton, J.P., Glaser, P.H. & Cooper, W.T. 2013, "Investigating dissolved organic matter decomposition in northern peatlands using complimentary analytical techniques", *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 112, pp. 116-129.

Volk, C., Bell, K., Ibrahim, E., Verges, D., Amy, G. & LeChevallier, M. 2000, "Impact of enhanced and optimized coagulation on removal of organic matter and its biodegradable fraction in drinking water", *Water research*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 3247-3257.

Volk, C., Bell, K., Ibrahim, E., Verges, D., Amy, G. & LeChevallier, M. 2000, "Impact of enhanced and optimized coagulation on removal of organic matter and its biodegradable fraction in drinking water", *Water research*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 3247-3257.

Volk, C., Wood, L., Johnson, B., Robinson, J., Zhu, H.W. & Kaplan, L. 2002, "Monitoring dissolved organic carbon in surface and drinking waters", *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 43-47.

Weishaar, J.L., Aiken, G.R., Bergamaschi, B.A., Fram, M.S., Fujii, R. & Mopper, K. 2003, "Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon", *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 37, no. 20, pp. 4702-4708.

Wetzel, R.G. 1992, "Gradient-dominated ecosystems: sources and regulatory functions of dissolved organic matter in freshwater ecosystems", *Hydrobiologia*, vol. 229, no. 1, pp. 181-198.

Worrall, F., Burt, T. & Adamson, J. 2004, "Can climate change explain increases in DOC flux from upland peat catchments?", *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 326, no. 1, pp. 95-112.

Worrall, F., Burt, T. & Shedden, R. 2003, "Long term records of riverine dissolved organic matter", *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 165-178.

Zaccone, C., Said-Pullicino, D., Gigliotti, G. & Miano, T. 2008, "Diagenetic trends in the phenolic constituents of Sphagnum-dominated peat and its corresponding humic acid fraction", *Organic Geochemistry*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 830-838.

Zhao, Z., Gu, J., Fan, X. & Li, H. 2006, "Molecular size distribution of dissolved organic matter in water of the Pearl River and trihalomethane formation characteristics with chlorine and chlorine dioxide treatments", *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol. 134, no. 1, pp. 60-66.